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Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is a leading
international intimate apparel manufacturer listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 333). The
Company and its principal subsidiaries (collectively “Top Form” or
the “Group”) employs over 7,000 employees across China, Thailand
and Cambodia, with our headquarters in Hong Kong. We provide
end-to-end service, from material sourcing to finished garments,
and our product category ranges from intimate apparel to functional
sports bras.

VISION

ABOUT TOP FORM
FAREE

EBTREBERAR(ARRDZ2—FXKRES
BARSMERAFER ETHEBEALRAK
EER (BRMHARSE 333) c ARE REMBAF
([EEFI[AEE]) WBRIAZRES  £E
EERTE ZELKRBE - ETTEILHBEG
70008 c AEBRHE -G E2ERSE  BHE
REBELNEHREE ERRIEBZEAKRUAE
hee i ESME -

=2
=

To be a leading international apparel partner, from ideation to
delivery, driven by innovation and insights, and built upon sustainable
forward-thinking operations.
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We strive to make a lasting positive impact through our choices and
actions, our relationships and the quality work we do.
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Curious & Creative
Care & Respect
Collaborative
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

The financial figures are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Revenue
Gross profit
Gross profit margin (%)

Profit for the year
Adjusted Profit/(Loss) for the year
(notea)

Earnings per share (HK cents)

IS FIAB TR °

for the year ended 30 June
BERNA=+HLFE

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—F
(audited) (audited) Change
(BEZ) (K FEz) )
$'000 $'000 $'000
F7 FT FIT
I e S S A
WA 1,481,592 1,428,532 53,060
E5 273,928 237,979 35,949
E (%) 18.5% 16.7% 1.8 percentage
points
1818 & 7 2h
F X% A 11,488 7,145 4,343
FREAERHN,
(E518) (M ita) 13,822 (30,907) 44,729
GRREF (B
—HK 1.2 1.1

— Basic

Total equity
Total debt (note b)
Cash and cash equivalents

Gearing ratio (%) (note ¢)

Net asset per share (HK dollars) (note d)

At 30 June
RARBA=+H
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
(audited) (audited) Change
(BERZ) (&Ez) 28
$'000 $'000 $'000
Frx Tt T
I B R N
Gy R 507,328 510,523 (3,195)
BETE (M 7b) 115,404 87,980 27424
Re kRS EHEIAE 136,487 92,217 44,270
BEBBLE%® 22.8% 17.2% 5.6 percentage
(Bt atc) points
5.61E & 52
SREEFEET)
(Ht7td) 1.69 1.70
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Notes:

a.

b.

These are not measure of performance under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS"), but are widely used by management for monitoring business
performance of a company from operational perspective. It may not be comparable
to similar measures presented by other companies. Adjusted profit/(loss) for the
year is defined as the profit/(loss) for the year adjusted by adding back or excluding
share based compensation, gain/(loss) on disposal of property, one off subsidies from
Hong Kong Government's Employment Support Scheme, derecognition of derivative
financial instrument and gain/(loss) from revaluation of investment properties, if any.

Total debt represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total
equity.

Net assets per share represents total equity divided by the total number of shares in
issue as at the end of year.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEMERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7 7T 51 7R )

RESULTS E§
/" 7 ] 7 [ |
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—B--F T ZFZTF ZTNF ZF)N\F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Tt T T T
7 /" 7@ ] 7 [ |
Year ended 30 June BEZEANA=1+H
IHEE
Revenue A 1,481,592 1,428,532 1,236,659 1,225,402 1,281,021
Profit/(loss) before taxation & %4 Bl i Fll,/~
(B#E) 19,216 11,951 (79,306) (59,409) 15,082
Income tax (expense)/credit FT 188 (FX)
Eavee) (7,728) (4,306) 1,780 (3382) (2,735)
Profit/(loss) for the year  FREFI,/ (EE) 11,488 7,145 (77,526) (62,791) 12,347
Attributable to: THIATFEA -
- Equity shareholders — ARRARERRE
of the Company 3,550 2,797 (77,235) (61,224) 12,869
- Non-controlling interests  — FE 75 f% # 7% 7,938 4,348 (291) (1,567) (522)
11,488 7,145 (77,526) (62,791) 12,347
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
/" 7 ] 7 [ |
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-= —F=— —ETF ZT-NEF ZT-N\F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr FIT FT Fr Fr
7 /" 7@ ] 7 [ |
At 30 June RAB=1+H
Total assets BEE 898,425 936,483 844,062 819,468 715,058
Total liabilities BB E (391,097) (425,960) (395,392) (296,286) (162,596)
507,328 510,523 448,670 523,182 552,462
Equity attributable to: THIAT eI e -
- Equity shareholders o YNGR £ 3
of the Company 466,863 475,540 425,747 515,532 543,017
— Non-controlling interests — 3F 22 & 4 25 40,465 34,983 22,923 7,650 9,445
507,328 510,523 448,670 523,182 552,462
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®WE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Though COVID-19 is no longer the critical crisis that it was after its
onset in 2020, resurgences in different parts of the world continue
throughout the year under review as Top Form adapted well in
managing the virus' prolonged impact during these uncertain times.

During the fiscal year, whilst the Group recalibrated all of our
operations to service the rebounding markets we were severely
impacted, to a varying degree, by the challenges brought by
restrictions implemented by all of the manufacturing locations we
operate in, shortages and shipment delay of raw materials, and the
prohibitively long lead time and high logistics costs resulting from
the global supply chain disruptions.

Despite the many challenges, Top Form achieved an annual sales
of $1.48 billion in the fiscal year, the highest in our Group's history.
The proactive steps we have taken well before the global pandemic
to transform Top Form, include building strategic manufacturing
footprints and verticality in South East Asia, strengthening
relationships with our partner customers through best in class
service and innovative designs, setting clear Sustainability goals and
targets, and most importantly, investing and grooming our people,
have enabled Top Form to weather and strengthen through these
years of major global crisis and volatility.

While fiscal year 2022 was an exceptional year for Top Form, since
spring this year, storm clouds have been gathering in the global
economy and will no doubt have an effect in the consumer markets
of the United States and Europe over the coming months. At the
time of writing, consumer demands in the United States and EU,
have already began weakening, and with expected further interest
rate hikes by central banks in major economies over the coming
months business activities are expected to further soften around
the world. During the near term, it is anticipated these factors will
temper the growth momentum Top Form has been building over
the past two years. Yet, | am confident, with the groundwork and
direction we have already laid down for healthy and sustainable
growth over the long term, we are well equipped to manage
through the peaks and troughs of regular business cycles.

HBUKRER :

MABKKESE T _TFBEBURES
ERENKZCBEE  EROEFE  2HERT
R @R BEDARIK - BEWL - EEATIREE
HAAREER R rRERBRROREZE -

RAFREE HARNEEEFABMBES
ARFERNRENTS  EEEBLENIE
TRARELNEEZENIE  BEMBLE
WEE MRS R ERMBEEEE AR
EHRHEEPHETNBRIEREAMS HE
B o

BEUBEE BEENNAVENHEERRS
148BTL RAKRBEELURESEHE - HR
BREZA  NEE SR E SIS SR
TRMER BERXREEEYREELEN
MEEEA BB EE RS MEIH R
BERFPHBHAERE S TR FE
BREGNESR EEENERENEEATL
FEEHMENEEBEHFRERNENTCH
MBYE -

AT - _MEFEHEBHAFIR T FALN—
FEEBSFEFEFUNR  2HREE-BEXBEE
B ERBERKELBASZANBMNNBEE
MSELAFE -EREZR  XENBRENEE
ERKCOHIEKS  BRARARBATELAR
MR RBITHE-FTNE  2RAXEDHE
—HRE - BHME  AMELEARSEMER
R BEMEREIAIERIBE - A - KAAEE
BREBARANRBBREMAISEERMEE
B ERE AT - AR BB KR R R
PRELRENSEMES -
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As we close another fiscal year in the middle of a calendar year, we
are vividly reminded of irreversible damages brought on by climate
change, from the record heat waves to flooding and droughts, and
wild fires around the world occurring throughout the summer.
The threat to the sustainability to our planet is imminent and the
global climate emergency requires the leadership, engagement,
actions and responsibility from all businesses, communities, and
governments around the world. Being in business for nearly six
decades, Top Form has always taken the lead in responsible and
sustainable business practices. Given the urgency of the climate
emergency, this year, Top Form will update our commitment
to pursue more ambitious targets to reduce higher level of our
aggregate greenhouse gas emission by 2030, and to pledge longer
term strategy to decarbonize and to achieve carbon neutrality, all to
be unveiled in our Sustainability Report 2022.

As part of succession planning and to maintain a board of directors
(the "Board”) with a diversity of directors, the Board proposed
to appoint Ms. Lien Van de Velde as a non-executive director of
the Company (the “Director”) to fill up the vacancy opened from
the retirement of Mr. Lucas AM. Laureys who will retire as a non-
executive Director at the annual general meeting to be held on
18 November 2022. Additionally, Mr. Fung Wai Yiu has retired as a
non-executive Director on 16 September 2022. Mr. Fung and Mr.
Laureys has been serving the Board for more than 24 years and 20
years respectively, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to Mr. Fung and Mr.
Laureys for their valuable contributions to the Group during their
tenure of office and to extend a warm welcome to Ms. Lien Van de
Velde for joining the Board.

Finally, I would like to thank my Board for their support and
advice, and express my deepest appreciation to our very capable
management team and associates for their exceptional performance
in the face of adversity throughout the year. Having watched how
our people managed through the past years of crisis and volatility
through their ability, dedication and strength of character, | am
confident they will continue to power Top Form to further new
heights for years to come.

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman

16 September 2022
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,

I begin this inaugural CEO Message reflecting on the remarkable
journey Top Form has taken over the past four tumultuous years,
and the immense sense of pride | have for our organization and our
team in managing through extraordinary circumstances, from trade
wars, to pandemic, to supply chain upheaval, to war and geopolitical
tensions, while delivering on improving results throughout this period
culminating to this fiscal year's record revenue.

When | assumed the role of CEO in August of 2018, Top Form had
been a trusted partner supplying intimate apparels to iconic brands
and retailers for over fifty years, with diversified footprints in Hong
Kong, China and South East Asia, and a mature and highly skilled
workforce. To remain successful and vibrant we recognized early on
the tremendous opportunities we had to accelerate changes and
investments, and we made it a priority to bring clarity to our strategy
as we transitioned to becoming a stronger and more competitive
company for the business ahead.

In the CEO Message, without repeating the annual business analysis
provided by the Management Discussion and Analysis, | will detail
what we prioritized as business imperatives and our rationale behind
those decisions when we started the journey in fiscal year 2019, the
important principles we have in running our company through the
recent years, and our view for business ahead and our position in the
market.

EBETRBRERAR —ZT-__—FFR
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Deepening our best in class service with our
customers from ideation through to delivery

Having serviced the best brands and retailers around the
world for many years we have a deep understanding in the
development of our markets and Top Form’s position in a
fast-changing world. Well before the onset of Covid-19, global
apparel sourcing had been evolving with value-added services
such as design and development, innovation, merchandising
services, and supply chain management making up a fast
growing proportion of the value of apparel shipments.

In spite of the pandemic and supply chain chaos, Top Form
remained steadfast in upgrading our services and developing
our people and capabilities to serve our customers, even during

the greatest disruptions our trade has witnessed. We took
significant steps to enhance all of our front line capabilities by
investing in people and technology with the aim of enhancing
and deepening Top Form’s services to our customers making us
an ever more strategic partner to brands and retailers. Here are
some key initiatives:

CEO MESSAGE
BHRERITE WS

BLREDBREIRNHME MRS
REFRBE-RWHEELTR
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CEO MESSAGE
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Design and Product Development Services — The design
and development of intimate apparel, specifically bras, is a
highly technical process that involves many steps, trials, and
tests. To gain speed and responsiveness, we overhauled our
design and development process and looked for opportunities
to create a more integrated and streamlined model with our
customers to prevent duplicated work within our common
process, and to enhance productivity and efficiency leading to
improved speed-to-market of our products. Since the pandemic,
we have also taken on an increasing number of projects that
are developed and delivered using 3D technology, from
sampling to presentations and approvals for our fashion leaning
customers. The highly technical nature of our product has made
adoption of 3D technology in intimate apparel design more
complicated than other apparel products. Yet, we are investing
in this field because we believe it will provide the flexibility and
speed required for design services in the years ahead.

ERBRTMERERE - AKX FrERE -
HEFAMAEMARESERMME &5
FREZESE FFMAR - BRFAER
BEFEENRE  RME2EE/RMNK
REFAEMAETMAZARE BRETS
HRAAE —EfLE2ENAEER  #
MmE THF - RAEEDMBE - Nk E
mEETISEHRE - BEBUR  HME
iﬁ{iﬁﬁsD&?ﬁﬁﬂﬁéTﬁylﬁﬁ BIEER
HEFRUERN  BRUARE HEF - &
HEMmREERMAL  AXERNS I
LSHRMERT P HEAIDRIMTEE G - A
m - BMEERMEREL BERES
HmEE  AARMEEI0DEMESARKE
STEAEFEMERE -
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Operations, Merchandising and Supply Chain
Management — As an important part of our development,
Top Form has made assuming more supply chain, operational,
and merchandising activities a value creating imperative for
ourselves, our customers and our supply chain partners. The
pandemic underscored the importance of Top Form's supply
chain efforts when we led the coordination and alignment up
and down the supply chain stream to enable improved lead
time, better risks assessments, and quicker decision making in
the face of uncertainty.

Similar to product design and development, Top Form took
proactive steps to integrate ourselves into operational and
merchandising activities of our customers to help streamline
communications flow between parties, leverage our proximity
to material source, and our expertise at location for materials
and goods. We helped our customers analyze performance and
flow data, provided regular dashboards and coordinated regular
meetings to provide the transparency and the insight needed
for joint problem solving and decision making.

To enable these initiatives, Top Form invested in software and
systems, digitized processes together with our customers, hired
associates, and expended an incredible amount of time in
training and development. While in the short term, developing
these capabilities and growing our business will cost money,
these unprecedented times of challenge and change have
underlined how the enhanced services help us support our
customers and mutually grow our businesses, create better
value for both parties, and enable Top Form to develop longer
and more sustainable partnerships. We believe over time, these
deepened relationships will continue to underpin Top Form as
the leading supply partner of choice for top brands and retailers.

EBETRBRERAR —ZT-__—FFR
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Elevating product innovation and ideation to the
heart of sustainable long term partnership with our
customers

Top Form made product innovation and great product solutions
a key driver of our strategy and growth. While Top Form has
always offered new ideas, research, and technical support to
our customers, over the past years we made conscious efforts
to help our customers build strong product franchises, a line
of products with strong consumer benefits in the intimates
market that sells over long period of time, through the use of
our proprietary innovation and ideas. We take on this position
because we believe, in a mature intimate apparel market with
sophisticated consumers, building a strong, extendable and
sustainable product franchise through innovations that provide
long lasting comfort and fit, superior quality, with high service
level, can be very rewarding for all players through the value
chain, from innovator through to the end retailer. The success
of this strategy is underlined by the fact that Top Form has been
the maker of the top selling bras in many markets and channels
we operate in over the past years.

While Top Form has a strong innovation pipe that will support
this endeavor over the coming years, success is not guaranteed.
Building this capability requires continual innovation, strong
technical and commercial acumen, investment and enormous
amount of discipline. I am grateful that we have the right leaders
and a talented team that have those qualities in spades, and I'm
excited for the brilliant ideas that we will generate for the years
ahead.

2.

ERAFNBEAREEAEFRHES
EBRENEFZE

—EHNAK EEIRATPIREME A
MEBEmMBIRNTRARBEMEBERD
TEHRS ) EEERNAREPRERHUFER
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AHAXRTS AT EBEMAFTER
EMA - FE 88 SmENAKER
B ERHSKFRS TS EMRT
ESRSNAER -ESRNHEEMS -
EmAFENRHERS2EEETERS
RIEEMEBHRTAARRNEZ TR -BES
TR BEHMBERMMEENTHMER
BRERGHNONE EERBAERMNK
A& A Zh B AR -

EEEEBNBEAEFSNERAINER X
RARRBBERESBOBIHB S ERD
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Positioning the Group’s manufacturing network
to be strategic and resilient to serve our markets
effectively

Throughout our history, Top Form has always maintained a
balanced manufacturing network in China and South East Asia,
helping our customers diversify country specific risks, seasonality
and trade restrictions. By the time the US-China trade tension
culminated to US-China Trade War in the second half of 2018,
Top Form was ready to accelerate our shift in capacity and
capability offshore to our South East Asia factories in Thailand
and Cambodia. We were quick to expand capacity and to
add proprietary innovative product technology and technical
expertise to our South East Asia factories which allowed us to
seamlessly ship key product launches for our customers through
the early days of the trade war when material supply chain was
already being stretched.

In 2019, Top Form took further steps to diversify our
manufacturing footprint when we took a minority stake in an
Indonesian underwear and apparel factory to begin a contract
manufacturing partnership. The partnership has enabled Top
Form to establish a presence in what is being recognized as an
important and strategic manufacturing hub in Asia, and we have
plans of expanding our presence in the country with further
investments.

Through the 2020 pandemic and the ensuing supply
chain disruptions, our manufacturing network once again
demonstrated our resilience by maintaining shipments through
different locations and minimized impact from different
government initiated movement restrictions and lockdowns
around Asia. While we incurred large freight costs (as everyone
in the supply chain did during the period), the strategic and
resilient network Top Form built during the preceding years
supported us to maintain a high level of visibility and service to
our customers.

With the crisis from the pandemic passing, we are now seeing
heightened geopolitical tension that is expected to bring a new
level of uncertainty we have not seen for a long time. Having
established our diversified and multi-country manufacturing
strategy, with balanced capabilities across our network, we are
well equipped to navigate what is expected to be an era of
volatility.
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Reinforcing our strategic footprint and our
proprietary product technology through what we
call “Strategic Verticality”

Coupled with building up our strategic manufacturing network
we also initiated the upgrade and expansion of Top Form'’s
component businesses, namely our business of polyethylene
foam cups, and knitted seamless tubes, as an important part of
our strategic development.

The rationale is simple, for intimate apparel, where fit and
comfort are paramount to the long-term success of the
product, components directly contributing to these qualities are
essential from design through to production. Improving on the
capabilities of these component businesses is essential for our
team to create the most innovative and highest quality solutions
and products for our customers while controlling for the quality

and lead time through the production process.

Offering these key components together with our garment as
one package further enhance our strategy to sell our services
and products more deeply into our customers’ portfolio of
products, to achieve a more symbiotic relationship with our
customers over time.

Over these years, Top Form has upgraded our teams, operations,
and plant and equipment for our foam cup business, and in
2019, we also began our seamless knitting factory in Thailand.
We see the long-term development of both of these component
businesses essential for us not only from a design and
development standpoint, but also as we put efforts to minimize
supply chain disruptions for the Group and our customers.
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Emphasize on our responsible corporate practices
and a clear Sustainability Strategy and targets

As a business that has successfully managed major geopolitical
changes, economic crises and market disruptions for over half a
century, Top Form naturally takes a long-term perspective about
our business and the role we play in our communities. While
we are very clear about the periodical financial performance we
are charged to deliver, ingrained in our philosophy is also the
belief that in order for us to continue to succeed as a strong and
vibrant organization over the long term, we must also contribute
positively to solving the major global challenges of our time.

In our earlier ESG reports, Top Form has already published a
clear Sustainability Strategy that provided the details of our
commitment and target. Our Sustainability Strategy is not a
list of good deeds and enhanced philanthropy, it is a clear set
of goals that are intertwined with our business objectives, and
when done well, will enhance our value to all our stakeholders,
including our shareholders. In the short term, implementing
many of the initiatives and hitting our targets will require
immense collective efforts and likely some investments. Yet,
as we witnessed the unprecedented climate emergency this
summer, and the social impact the pandemic has had on the
most vulnerable groups of our society, there is an undeniable
urgency that businesses, governments and communities must
act immediately to minimize further damage to our planet and
to support our communities. This year, Top Form will revisit
our GHG emission target with the aim of planning for more

ambitious goals for 2030, and towards carbon neutrality. The
details of this development can be found in our fiscal year 2022
Sustainability Report.
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While the near term outlook appears challenging we have
always looked at our business through a long term lens

Over the past two years, while operating environments were more
than challenging, the demand for goods in the US and European
markets was strong, and capable retailers and producers have
benefited from this surge. As | write this note, a confluence of factors
is leading our markets to register significantly high inventory while
consumer demands for apparel have retrenched from the high level
during the pandemic. It is widely expected that our sector will bear
substantial impact from this consumer downturn, and we predict this
period will accelerate changes already underway in the competitive
landscape of apparel sourcing.

In the short term, we have no reason to believe Top Form will be
spared this down-cycle of the global economy and we fully expect
this slow down to temper the momentum we have been building in
our business and impact on our financial results over the immediate
term. Yet, cyclical events like this one doesn't alter the way we look
at our business nor our confidence in the long term trajectory of
our company. The recent string of global crisis has underlined the
importance we place on constantly building and developing a
healthy and energetic company. This means that through good times
and bad ones, we maintain our discipline to innovate new products,
excel at servicing our customers, invest in new production technology
and maintenance of our plants and equipment, and most importantly,
continue training and inspiring our people. Doing these things
consistently, with a focus on our long term development, is not only
the best way to manage and succeed through regular business cycles
and even the unexpected once-in-a-generation event, but also to

build the future prospect of our company to ensure our growth and
success for the long term.
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Our strategy is simple, we are focused on
growing our company via innovating for our
customers, developing excellent supply chain
and manufacturing solutions which deepen
our relationships with our customers and
supply chain partners to mitigate growing
volatility, and maintaining the best culture
while consistently inspiring and investing in
our people.

In the coming years, not only do we intend to continue growing with
our current customers through deepening the valuable services we
offer and developing innovative products for their markets, but we
are excited to see our value proposition also resonating with other
iconic brands and large retailers for the intimate apparel category
and adjacent categories like shapewear, plus size apparel, and active
wear in a number of different markets. With the transformative steps
we have taken through the past years and the on-going initiatives
like developing materials and supply chain partnerships to improve
speed and resilience for our customers, we are optimistic that we will
capitalize on these opportunities and grow our business profitably
over time.

Any successes we will achieve ultimately emanate from the incredible
team of people at Top Form. They are the ones who develop our
strategic plans, create the products, serve our customers, protect
our networks and systems, run our factories, and manufacture and
ship our goods. Inspiring a great group of people to collectively
take on ambitious goals entails Top Form be an open and respectful
environment with leadership that is fair and competent, and with a
deep sense of humility.

The past years of unprecedented volatility have shown we have
exceptional people led by a dedicated group of leaders who step
up every day to deliver excellence while managing through very
challenging circumstances. I'm humbled and honored to be a part of
this team, and | am proud of our achievements thus far. | feel strongly
about the power of our organization and | believe with the strength of
our character Top Form will achieve greater things in the years ahead.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
Chief Executive Officer

16 September 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, COVID-19 evolved from Delta to Omicron and
continued to pose significant challenges to the Group. On one
hand, our operation was significantly disrupted due to the surge in
COVID-19 infections across different part of Asia, which resulted in
intermittent closure of factories and offices, increased absenteeism
of employees due to quarantine requirement, additional costs in
regular testing, isolation and containment as required by local
authority, delay in material supplies as a result of extensive lockdowns
of major cities in China. On the other hand, the U.S. and Europe had
opened up and removed most of the pandemic prevention measures,
demand for our products from traditional cut-and-sewn, bonding
and seamless technology products continued to surge and back
to the pre-pandemic level, which added strains to the already tight
supply chain as a result of COVID-19 disruptions. Nevertheless, with
the diversified manufacturing network across China and South East
Asia and the strategic investment made in the last three years, Top
Form has emerged from such challenging environment and recorded
historical high revenue.

In addition to the never ending COVID-19 disruptions, the world is
also facing multi-decades record high inflationary pressure which
stemmed from the turmoil caused by COVID-19 and exacerbated
by the Russia aggression in Ukraine. A surge in global commodity
prices have resulted in industry-wide increase in raw material costs,
sky high transportation costs and increasing pressure to raise wages.
Top Form has diligently managed these challenges through selling
price increases, proactively managing supplier shipments and factory
loading to ensure on-time delivery, rigorous cost management and
ongoing improvement in operation efficiency. As a result Top Form
has recorded a 61% year over year increase in net profit.

During the year, in monetary terms, 67% of our sales were to the
U.S. market whilst the sales to the EU represented 18% and the rest
of the world accounted for 15%. From the supply side, the overseas
manufacturing facilities in South East Asia accounted for 63% of the
global production output whilst China accounted for the remaining
37% during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the revenue of the Group increased
by 4% to HKS$1,482 million from HK$1,429 million for the year ended
30 June 2021. This increase in revenue was mainly driven by the
strong recovery of sales to European customers, price increase
negotiated with customers beginning in second half, and ramp up
sales to new customers on boarded last year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased from HK$238.0 million to HK$273.9 million
during the year with gross profit margin increased from 16.7% to
18.5%. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to higher sales and
improved customer and product mix.

Other Net Income

Other net income decreased from HK$56.6 million to HK$17.8
million during the year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
absence of approximately HK$28.0 million one-off sales proceeds
from the disposal of property in Hong Kong in previous financial year;
and approximately HK$1.8 million wage subsidies received by the
Company’s subsidiaries through Hong Kong Government's Employer
Support Scheme as compared to HKS6.7 million wage subsidies
received in previous financial year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily comprised of freight and
transportation costs, employee benefits of sales and sales support
personnel, and customer sample costs. The Group's selling and
distribution expenses amounted to HK$37.6 million for the year
ended 30 June 2022, against HK$60.1 million for the year ended 30
June 2021. The decrease in selling & distribution expenses was mainly
driven by a significant reduction in air freight costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$231.1 million for the year ended 30 June 2022, against HK$219.3
million for the year ended 30 June 2021. The increase in general and
administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the absence of
one-off cost reduction measures undertaken in the first quarter of last
financial year and higher sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on
borrowings, account receivables factoring costs and lease liabilities.
The finance costs increased from HK$6.8 million for the year ended
30 June 2021 to HK$7.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2022. The
increase in finance costs was primarily driven by the higher sales and
increasing interest rate.

Profit for the year

The Group recorded a profit after tax of HK$11.5 million for the year
ended 30 June 2022 as compared with the profit after tax of HKS7.1
million for the year ended 30 June 2021.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group's bank balances and cash was HK$136.5 million as at
30 June 2022 (at 30 June 2021: HK$92.2 million) whilst total bank
borrowings was HK$115.4 million (at 30 June 2021: HK$88 million)
and gearing ratio was 22.8% (at 30 June 2021: 17.2%), which was
calculated as total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total
equity. As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group did not have
assets pledged for bank borrowings.

The Group strives to improve the working capital management and
focus on the overall cash conversion cycle days which are calculated
by adding the inventory turnover days and receivables turnover days
and subtracting the payables turnover days. For the year ended 30
June 2022, the cash conversion cycle days were 16 days as compared
to 24 days in previous year.
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The cash conversion cycle days decreased from 24 days to 16 days
mainly driven by the improvement in inventory days and the increase
in payable days which was due to timing difference of actual payment
at the end of the period.

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to HK$24.5 million of
which the majority was for the capacity expansion in South East Asia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates of Euro,
HK dollars, RMB, US dollars and Thai Baht. Majority of the sales revenue
are denominated in U.S. dollars, the foreign exchange exposure in
respect of U.S. dollars against HK dollars is considered minimal as
HK dollars pegged with U.S. dollars. The Group manages its foreign
exchange exposure by performing regular review and by taking
prudent measures to minimize the currency translation risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had employed approximately 7,239
employees (30 June 2021: approximately 7,681 employees).

The remuneration policy and package of the Group's employees are
structured with reference to the prevailing market conditions and
statutory requirements as appropriate. The Group also provides other
staff benefits such as medical insurance, mandatory provident fund
contributions and a share option scheme to its employees.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

The Company completed the rights issue on 19 February 2021,
pursuant to which the Company allotted and issued 86,015,050 new
ordinary shares of the Company to the shareholders of the Company
(the "Shareholders”) on the basis of two rights shares for every five
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) in issue at the subscription price
of HKS$0.50 per rights share (the "Rights Issue”). The net proceeds from
the Rights Issue after deducting the expenses were approximately
HKS$40.4 million. The number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 301,052,675 shares upon completion of the Rights
Issue on 19 February 2021.

Further details of the Rights Issue were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 4 November 2020, 21 December 2020, 12
January 2021, 10 February 2021 and 18 February 2021, the circular
of the Company dated 9 December 2020 and the prospectus of the
Company dated 25 January 2021 (the "Prospectus”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE MO

The intended use of the net proceeds, actual use of the net proceeds RIS IE ) FEBMTAL BAE T - —F <A
and the remaining balance of unutilised net proceeds as at 30 June =+ HBFAGHEFEEERERERERMSE
2022 are summarised as follows: FRIEFRE 2 BREET

Remaining
Actual use of balance of
net proceeds unutilised net
Intended use of asat proceeds as at
net proceeds 30 June 2022 30 June 2022
BE
BZE —E=-=
-2 ~A=+H
ANA=+H il R A
i8R FBRE FBMEZ
Use of net proceeds FEREFREAR BRERZ ERAZR EREE
HKSmillion HKSmillion HKSmillion
BEAET BEAET BEBT
I | S S N
Purchase of santoni machines in BERRZERZ
Thailand santonit 23 186 93 93
Increase of investment in BN ENE A E A5
an Indonesian company AKRANRIZEE 129 5.4 7.5
Construction of the Myanmar BEMEmERE
factory facilities 6.4 6.4 -
General working capital —REEES 2.5 2.5 -
Total & 404 236 16.8

The remaining balance of unutilised net proceeds of approximately WRZ-ZZ - —F XA =+ H &K EAREHIEF
HK$16.8 million as at 30 June 2022 is expected to be utilised before 2BV BAZEX168E BB T B PR T ==&
end of December 2023 according to the intentions previously + = AEABIEMIRSEHME 2B TEREEH -
disclosed in the Prospectus.

LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE REERTHE QA
As at 30 June 2022, the loans to an associate amounted to HK$213 R-E - —F# XA=+0 ' 1I8HF—BHBHL D

million (30 June 2021: HK$19.3 million), which did not exceed the T E R A213ABB T (ZE - —F A=+
maximum principal amount of loans of US$3.0 million (equivalentto  H : 193BE B T) T2 R BREBEREBEXHE
HK$23.3 million) that can be drawn pursuant to the respective loans A2 H S E X AL30E EE T (FHEM233
agreements. The loans to an associate are unsecured, interest bearing B EE L) « BEF—RHBH L A TN EZ 5K
at a rate of 3% to 5% per annum and are repayable within two years i IR F F| K3 Z2suzt EF B - WER S E @

from the respective drawn down dates. RE A AT MEREE -

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD HEHERER

The Group has no significant events after the reporting period and up ~ AE B A REHEL EARES A PU|EEME LR
to the date of this report. £IF o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

As the inflation continue to climb in the U.S. and reached a
multi-decade high in recent months, the consumer confidence
subsided as a result of declining disposal income as an increasing
portion of theirincome was spent on food and gasoline. This together
with the arriving of delayed shipments that the retailers ordered to fill
the shelf in late 2021 amidst the logistic chaos caused by COVID-19,
has significantly pushed up the inventory level of most of retailers
in the U.S. As a result, most of the retailers in the U.S. in their recent
quarterly results announcement had called for aggressive price
reduction in order to clean up the excess inventory.

With the challenging macro environment, we expect the demand
from customers will be softening in first half of fiscal 2023.
Nevertheless, we are focused on executing on our long term
strategy, increasing penetration and market share through our
service, innovation and speed, driving operation efficiency across the
entire organizations, increasing operating cash flow, and continue
strengthening our balance sheet. With the foundations Top Form
has set over the years, we have confidence we will emerge from this
volatile environment in a position that is even more competitive to
better serve our customers in the years ahead.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREBAEBZERFHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (E#AJ8), aged 76, has been the Chairman
and an Executive Director since 31 October 2014 and 19 November
1991 respectively. He is also the authorized representative and was
a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company until 31
October 2018. Mr. Wong is the co-founder of the Group and has
taken over the role as Chairman of the Company since 31 October
2014. He is responsible for managing the Board issue and supervising
the management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. He attains extensive experience and is
very knowledgeable in the brassiere manufacturing industry. He has
over 56 years of experience in the brassiere trade. He is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong is the father of
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, both are
Executive Directors of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (E&H8), aged 46, has been an
Executive Director since 1 March 2011, and was the Vice Chairman
of the Company from 22 May 2015 to 23 August 2018. He was
appointed as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer on 24 August 2018
and is responsible for creating and directing the Group's strategy,
managing overall performance, organization and operations. He has
extensive experience in business development, operations, supply
chain, finance and corporate development. He is the authorized
representative of the Company. Mr. Kevin Wong is an alternate
Nomination Committee member to Mr. Kenneth Wong since 19
February 2016. Mr. Kevin Wong joined the Group in 2001 and is a
director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, a principal wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and various subsidiaries of the
Company. He began his career at Deutsche Bank Securities, in New
York City. Mr. Kevin Wong graduated from Colby College, the United
States of America majoring in Economics and International Studies
in 1998. He was awarded a Master of Business Administration degree
issued jointly by the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
University and the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 2016. He is the holder of the Chartered Financial Analyst
designation. Mr. Kevin Wong is the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong
and the younger brother of Mr. Kenneth Wong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEZNSREEABZEEFS

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (ZRf{ %), aged 48, has been an
Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company since
1 March 2011 and 22 May 2015 respectively. Mr. Kenneth Wong has
been appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company since 19 February 2016. He joined the Group in 1997 and
is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, and various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kenneth Wong is responsible for
the Group'’s business development and marketing functions. He is
the Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’
Association since 1 December 2016. He is also a panel member of the
Textile and Clothing Research Projects Assessment under Innovation
and Technology Fund since 1 January 2017. He was the Vice Chairman
of Multi-Textiles and Fashion Accessories Council for Federation
of Hong Kong Industries since 2017 and was re-designated as the
Chairman in July 2021. He holds a Bachelor degree in Marketing
and Operations Management from School of Management, Boston
University in the United States of America and a Master degree in
International Business from Asian Institute of Technology in Thailand.
He has been awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
2015 by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Kenneth Wong is
the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong and the elder brother of Mr. Wong
Kai Chung, Kevin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys, aged 77, has been a Non-executive Director
of the Company since September 2002. He has been re-designated
as a non-executive director of Van de Velde N. V. since 1 January
2016, the shares of which are listed on the NYSE Euronext Brussels
stock exchange. Mr. Laureys has over 50 years of experience in the
brassiere trade and specialises in marketing. Mr. Laureys holds a
degree in Economics from the University of Ghent, a Master Degree
in Marketing from the University of Leuven and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the University of Ghent Vlerick Business
School. He was formerly a board member of Delta Lloyd Bank N. V. and
the Chairman of the Board of Omega Pharma (a company previously
listed on Euronext). Mr. Laureys has informed the Board that he
would retire as a Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 18
November 2022 as he would like to devote more time to his family.

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, aged 68, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2002. He also serves as
a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman
of the board of Van de Velde N. V. since 1 January 2016 and remains
a non-executive director of Van de Velde N. V., the shares of which
are listed on the NYSE Euronext Brussels stock exchange. He is also
an independent director of Alsico, a Belgian garment company and
Brabantia, a Dutch family owned company. He also holds several
mandates in non-profit organisations. Mr. Van de Velde joined the
brassiere industry in 1981 and is well versed in operating the brassiere
business in Europe.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (R4 #8), aged 57, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
September 2008. Prior to this, she had been an Executive Director
of the Company since February 1998 and re-designated as a
Non-executive Director in April 1999. She also serves as a member
of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung is a seasoned
investment banker with 30 years of corporate finance experience in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan. Ms. Leung is currently an
executive director of Altus Holdings Limited (stock code: 8149), a
company listed on GEM of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (%), aged 75, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2006.
He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee, and a member of the Compensation Committee.
Mr. Leung was the Chief Executive Officer of a leading construction
materials company. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Leung was the Past Chairman of the Hong
Kong Cement Traders and Producers Association and the Past
Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Materials Association.

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy ((fRE i), GBS, MBE, JP, FCILT, aged 62, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 2006. Mr. Lin also serves as the chairman of the Compensation
Committee of the Company and a member of both Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of
Science degree from Babson College in the United States of America
and is the Managing Director of Milo’s Knitwear (International)
Limited. Mr. Lin was the Chairman of Hong Kong Productivity Council
until 5 August 2022 and he is currently the Chairman of The Hong
Kong Shippers’ Council and Honorary Chairman of Textile Council
of Hong Kong, a member of the HKSAR's Logistics Development
Council, Maritime and Port Board, Trade and Industry Advisory Board,
an Ex-officio member of Committee on Innovation, Technology and
Re-industrialisation, a Committee Member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Committee of Jieyang, Guangdong, Honorary
Trade Advisor of Ministry of Commerce of Thailand and Honorary
Consul of the Slovak Republic in Hong Kong and Macao.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pun Chi Wa (B& ), aged 50, was appointed Chief Financial
Officer of the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company in
June 2018. He is responsible for managing the Company'’s finances
and assisting on all of the Group's strategic developments and tactical
matters in the formulation of future Group direction. He has over
28 years of financial and operational management experience and
held senior positions in various companies before joining the Group.
Mr. Pun holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the
University of Hong Kong and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Anna Maria Swierkosz, aged 56, joined the Group in January
2019 as the Chief Product Officer of the Group. She leads the
development of product strategy and manages product design,
innovation and creation capabilities to support business strategy
of the Group. She possesses more than 30 years of experience in
intimate design and product development. She holds a degree of
Associate in Applied Science from Fashion Institute of Technology.

Ms. Tse Ting Ting (F151F), aged 54, is the Chief People Officer of
the Group. She oversees all aspects of human resources management
for the Group and assists in developing the Group's strategy in
relation to human capital. She joined the Group in September 2018
and has over 30 years of experience in human resources roles with
more than 10 years in regional management roles at multinational
corporations and business with large workforce. She holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration from the University of Hull.

Mr. Michael Allen Lurer, aged 47, is Top Form’s Group Director of
Manufacturing. He is responsible for all production operations of the
Group, including facilities development, operations, administration
and compliance. He joined the Group in 1997 as a graduate trainee
and has been stationed in various locations of the Group in China and
South East Asia. He has over 20 years of experience in intimate apparel
manufacturing. He holds a Bachelor degree in International Trade and
Foreign Business from Dalian University.

Mr. Ng Chi Keong (R &38), aged 60, joined the Group in May 2021
as Group Technology Director. He is responsible for the Group's
Information Technology function. He leads the technology teams
across the Group to manage the Group's technology needs and
execution of technology initiatives. Mr. Ng has 30 years of experience
in Information Technology in Asia Pacific and the United States.
He has worked across a mix of businesses ranging from apparel
manufacturing, retailers and supply chain software companies. He
holds an MBA degree in Information and Decision Systems from San
Diego State University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Eduardo Bertrand Portabella, aged 50, is the Group Technical
Director and the Executive Director of Grand Gain Industrial Limited
(“Grand Gain"), a subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in
June 2016 and was appointed Group Technical Director in April 2020.
He is responsible for leading the Group's technical and industrial
design, and business development and product innovation for
Grand Gain, the polyurethane foam cup subsidiary of the Group.
Mr. Portabella has extensive experience in business development,
manufacturing and supply chain operations, project management,
and engineering. He holds a Doctoral degree in Electrical Engineering
from Technical University of Braunschweig.

Mr. So Kwok Leong Jeffrey (8B 52), aged 47, is the Vice President -
Sales Operations of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is
responsible for Customer Service, Demand Planning and Material
Forecasting. He joined the Group in 2007 as the leader of the sales
and marketing function for the wholesale and retail business of the
Group. He has since led sales teams for major US and EU accounts, and
led various strategic projects for different functions of the Group. He
assumed his current position in 2019. Mr. So holds a Master degree in
Business Administration from the University of Manchester.

Mr. Wong Chor Wai (E& &), aged 54, is the Planning Director of
Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is responsible for Top Form'’s
Planning and Supply Chain functions including Master Planning,
Material Requirement Planning, and Logistics. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in 1989 and through his career in Top Form he has taken
leadership positions in Sales, Customer Service, Material Control,
and Administration. He is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited. He holds a Bachelor degree in Science from the University of
Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

The Board present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's future business development and uncertainties and
an analysis of the performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 8 to 9,
the CEO Message on pages 11 to 22 and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report. The principal
risks facing the Group are set out in the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 25 to 30 and the financial risk management
objective and policies detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page 79 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (for the year ended 30 June 2021: nil).

No interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December 2021 has
been paid to the Shareholders during the year ended 30 June 2022
(for the six months ended 31 December 2020: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS
Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 15 November 2022 to Friday, 18 November
2022 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting on 18 November 2022 (“AGM”"). During that
period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 14 November 2022.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 6.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of a robust environmental,
social and governance (ESG) performance in meeting the
expectations of various stakeholders. We are committed to complying
with the relevant environmental laws, standards and policies
prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions in which the Group
principally operates. The details of the Group’s ESG policies and
performance will be covered in the Sustainability Report which will be
published no later than 30 November 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEWME

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Company. The Group
is committed to continuously grow and cultivate its pool of talent to
build sustainable business. The Group provides resources for training
and development opportunities for the employees. The Group also
offers competitive remuneration package to its employees. Staff
performance is measured on a regular and structured basis to provide
employees with appropriate feedback and to ensure their alignment
with the Group’s corporate strategy.

The Group has developed long-standing and good relationships
with its customers and suppliers. The Group serves the customers
and suppliers as business partners. The Group endeavours to provide
quality service to its customers and works closely with the suppliers to
ensure their awareness on quality requirements of the materials and
quality control effectiveness.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 June 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$235,220,000 (2021: HK$236,446,000).

BANK LOANS

Details of unsecured bank loans the Group as at 30 June 2022 are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Yiu (retired on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys

Mr. Herman Van de Velde

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management”.

In accordance with bye-law 87(2) of the Company's Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and Ms. Leung
Churk Yin, Jeanny will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive Directors have not been appointed for a specific
term but will be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Fung Wai Yiu has retired as a non-executive Director on 16
September 2022 as he would like to devote more time to his family.
In addition, Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys has informed to the Board that
he would retire as a non-executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the AGM as he would like to devote more time to his
family. Both Mr. Fung and Mr. Laureys had confirmed to the Board
that they have no disagreement with the Board and that there is no
matter in relation to their retirement that needs to be brought to the
attention to the Shareholders.

The Board proposed to appoint Ms. Lien Van de Velde as a
non-executive Director to fill up the vacancy opened from the
retirement of Mr. Laureys with effect from the conclusion of the AGM,
subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM. For details of
the retirement of non-executive Directors, proposed appointment of
non-executive Director and the biographical details of Ms. Lien Van de
Velde, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated on 16
September 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 14 October
2022 in relation to the AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE ON
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The Company has
assessed their independence and concluded that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 31 to 35 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has been for the past 40 years conducting transactions
with Van de Velde N. V. ("VdV") by supplying ladies’ intimate apparel to
VdV. VdV is a connected person of the Company by virtue of it being
a substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
25.66% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mr. Lucas A.M.
Laureys and Mr. Herman Van de Velde, the non-executive director
and the Chairman of VdV respectively, are non-executive Directors
of the Company. Mr. Herman Van de Velde and the two daughters
of Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys (associates of Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) hold an indirect equity interest of 56.26% in VdV via a
jointly controlled corporation and therefore they are deemed to be
connected persons of the Company. All transactions between VdV
and the Group would constitute continuing connected transactions
(the "Continuing Connected Transactions”) pursuant to the Listing
Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Accordingly, a master
agreement dated 18 September 2005 (the “Master Agreement”) had
been entered into between VdV and the Company to govern the
Continuing Connected Transactions and to set annual caps for the
Continuing Connected Transactions in respect of the three financial
years ended 30 June 2008.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Master Agreement had been renewed by entering into (i) the
Tst renewal agreement dated 12 June 2008 between VdV and the
Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2017; (ii) the
2nd renewal agreement dated 1 April 2011 between VdV and the
Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2014; (iii) the
3rd renewal agreement dated 9 April 2014 between VdV and the
Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2017; (iv) the
4th renewal agreement dated 10 April 2017 between VdV and the
Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2020; and (v)
the 5th renewal agreement (“the 5th Renewal Agreement”) dated 7
April 2020 between VdV and the Company for a terms of three years
ending 30 June 2023.

An announcement dated 7 April 2020 and a circular dated 5 May 2020
regarding the renewal of the Continuing Connected Transactions
contemplated under the 5th Renewal Agreement and the relevant
annual caps set for the three financial years ending 30 June 2023 of
HK$160 million, HKS$170 million and HK$180 million respectively had
been published and dispatched to Shareholders and an approval had
been obtained from Independent Shareholders of the Company on
22 May 2020.

Details of the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted during
the year under review were set out below:
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the Independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have conducted an annual review and confirmed to the Board that
during the year the Continuing Connected Transactions have been
entered into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. onnormal commercial terms; and

3. inaccordance with the agreement governing such transactions
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practices Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE

As at 30 June 2022, the loans to an associate amounted to
HK$21,290,000 (30 June 2021: HK$19,308,000). The loans to an
associate are unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 3% to 5% per
annum and are repayable within two years from the respective drawn
down dates.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed
under the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, there
were no transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any one of the Directors of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, the following Directors were considered to have
interests in the following business, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys is the non-executive director of VdV whose
principal business activity is the manufacture and marketing of luxury
lingerie. The Board considers that the business of VdV may indirectly
compete with the business of the Group.

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, the Chairman of the board of VdV and
non-executive director of VdV, has an indirect interest in Van de Velde
Holding N. V. which held a direct interest of 56.26% in VdV whose
principal business activity is the manufacture and marketing of luxury
lingerie. The Board considers the business of VdV may indirectly
compete with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the year has
any interest in businesses which compete or may compete with the
business of the Group, or have or may have any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, nao rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were
any such rights exercised by them, nor was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year under review.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance, which provides cover for the Directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10 years for
the purpose to enable the Company to grant share options to
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group. The Board could grant options to eligible employees,
including directors, executives or officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries and any other persons at the discretion of the Board to
subscribe for shares in the Company (the “Shares”). The Old Share
Option Scheme expired on 2 November 2021.

As at 30 June 2022, 21,314,952 share options granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme remain outstanding and all outstanding
options will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the terms of Old Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16 November
2021 (the "New Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the New
Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre employees to strive towards long term strategy and
goals of the Group and to enable the Company to grant share options
to eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives
and rewards for their contribution to the Group. A summary of the
principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out below:

(i) Eligible Participants shall include (i) any employees, executives,
officers or directors holding salaried office or employment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any directors
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, who as considered
by the Board have contributed to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; and (i) any consultants or advisers who will or have
provided services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Subject to earlier termination by the Company’s shareholders in
general meeting or by the Board, the New Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. Share options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors in any 12-month
period in excess of 0.1% of the Company's issued share capital
and with a value in excess of HK$5 million on the date of offer
must be approved in advance by the Company’s independent
shareholders.

The option period shall be the period commencing after the
second anniversary of the date of acceptance or such period as
the Board may in its absolute discretion to determine, save that
such period shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date.

An offer of the grant of share options may be accepted within 14
days from the date of offer. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
by the grantee on acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price of a share in respect of an option
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board and shall be at least the highest of
(a)the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date; (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.

Since the date of adoption and up to 30 June 2022, no share options

were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Share
Option Scheme. The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
isaround 9 years and 4 months.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BREE

Details of movements of the share options granted underthe Old EHZEZE-_ZE-—"FXA=TAHIFE REEE
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2022 were as IR FEET 2R HBREAOE S EFHO L -

follows:

Number of share options
EREHA
Cancelled/  Outstanding
Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised lapsed asat
price asatTJuly  duringthe  duringthe  during the 30 June
Grantee Date of grant (HK$)  Exercise period 2021 year year year 2022
RoB=-% Ro2-2F
%[ tA-A Ehi®/ KAZtA
ARA R B (Bn) 114 HATE  ERARE ERfE XM HAGE
| ] | ] ] |
Directors
Bz
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin 30 September 2019 1044230 September 2022 to 24502 - - - 224522
ENHEE ZE-NENR=TR 29 September 2024
ZEIZENA=TRE
“E_MEARZTAR
24 September 2021 058 24 September 2024 to - 300,000 - - 300,000
ZE--FnAZTHA 23 September 2026
R MEAAZTEAE
“EoAFAAZTER
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 30 September 2019 1044230 September 2022 to 0452 - - - 2450
ERRLE ZE-NENAZTR 29 September 2024
“ECCEAASTEE
Z_MEARZTNA
24 September 2021 058 24 September 2024 to - 300,000 - - 300000
ZEZ-ENAZTER 23 September 2026
ZECMEAAZTIHAER
“ECRENAAZTER
Directors’ associates
01 IN
Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith® 24 September 2021 058 24September 2024 t0 - 300,000 - - 300,000
EhE s ZEZ-ENAZTER 23 September 2026
“EMEAACTIHAE
ZRIREARCZTER
Employees
&
In aggregate 30 September 2019 1044930 Septernber 2022 to 4265908 - - - 4265908
EE “E-NEAAZTH 29 September 2024
CRoCFNASTRE
ZECMEARZTAR
24 September 2021 058 24 September 2024 to - 15,700,000 - - 15,700,000
ZEZ-ENAZTER B%mmmum6
Z_RNEAAZTRAZE
74 NENAZTZH
Total 4714952 16,600,000 - - 21314952
st
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Notes:
(1) The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the share options granted

on 30 September 2019 and 24 September 2021 were HKS$1.15 and HK$0.58
respectively.

(2) Upon the completion of the Rights Issue on 19 February 2021, the exercise price
of the outstanding share options granted on 30 September 2019 was adjusted
from HK$1.172 per share to HK$1.044 per share. Details of which was set out in the
Company's announcement dated 18 February 2021.

(3) Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith, is the younger brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin and
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth.

All the above outstanding share options shall be vested on the third
anniversary of the respective date of grant.

In respect of the share options granted during the year, the fair
value of the share options granted to each of Mr. Wong Kai Chung,
Kevin, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith was
approximately HK$41,523 and the fair value of the share options
granted to the employees was approximately HK$2,173,045 in total.
In respect of the share options granted on 30 September 2019, the
fair value of share options to each class of grantees, which were the
Directors and the employees, were approximately HK$77,612 and
HKS$1,071,048 respectively.

Further details of the accounting policy for share options granted,
the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme
are set out in note 2(j)(iii) and note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during
the year ended 30 June 2022.

DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO"), which were notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they have taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS

(continued)

EEYSSRITHRAEZER @)

Long positions: HaE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company K22 E] R EE0.50/8 7.2 B #HKR
I Y B Y D
Number of Number of Percentage
issued share options of the issued
ordinary held Total share capital
shares held (note 1) Interests  of the Company
Name of Director Capacity FrEEsT HMEEREHE ERARBES
EEpg af LERYUE (M) mER REEDL
I Y B Y D
Mr. Wong Chung Chong Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse and a 89,952,724 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BINARAE controlled corporation and persons acting in concert
(note 2)
BRBERARMRBRREMEEREL
BER-BTPAL(HE)
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Interests held by a controlled corporation and persons 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
ERELE acting in concert (note 3)
AR EHEERE ERR—BTBAL (M)
Beneficial owner - 524522
ERBERA
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Persons acting in concert (note 4) 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BERMERE —BABHAL (M
Beneficial owner - 524522
ERERA
Mr.Herman Van de Velde Interests held by a controlled corporation (note 5) 77,258,590 - 77,258,590 25.66%
Herman Van de Velde’t £ B AR R 2 B ()
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse (note 6) 8,705,704 - 8,705,704 2.89%
BRELE ERBERARMRERE2ES (o)
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert Beneficial owner 112,000 - 112,000 0.04%
RRERS EREAA
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Beneficial owner 19,745 - 19,745 0.01%

RERE

BEEAA
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS

(continued)

Notes:

1. Details of the share options granted to the Directors by the Company are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. 6,474,304 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Chung Chong ("Mr. Wong")
whereas 308,000 shares were held by Ms. Chen He Lin, the spouse of Mr. Wong
and 73,245,645 shares were registered in the name of High Union Holdings Inc.
("High Union”), the shares of which were held by Mr. Wong. 8,575,731 shares were
registered in the name of Triple Gains Ventures Limited (“TGV"), 41.36% equity
interest of which was held by Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin ("Mr. Kevin Wong"), and
9,924,775 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Wong who was a party to
certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

3. 8,575,731 shares were held by TGV, 41.36% equity interest of which was held by
Mr. Kevin Wong, and 80,852,471 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kevin
Wong who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or
(b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

4. 89,428,202 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kenneth Wong who was a
party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap.
571) apply.

5. 77,258,590 shares were held by VdV. Mr. Herman Van de Velde held an indirect
equity interest in Van de Velde Holding N.V. which in turn directly held 56.26% of
the equity interest of VdV.

6. 4,618,504 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Fung Wai Yiu ("Mr. Fung”) whereas
4,087,200 shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Fung. Mr. Fung has retired as a
non-executive Director of the Company on 16 September 2022.

Certain nominee shares in the Company’s subsidiaries were held by
Mr. Wong in trust for the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor his/her associates
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2022, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and
as far as was known to the Directors of the Company, persons (other
than the Directors) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO were as follows:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS FERRZER @

(continued)

Long positions: ¥R

Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company K2 E] R EE0.50/87T.2 B #HKR

Percentage of

Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company

Name of Shareholder Capacity e ®RT GERAFBRT
BRERMEEEZB 514 EERHE REBDL

High Union Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,952,724 29.88%
concert (note 1)

BalA AN —BITEAL (D

TGV Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,952,724 29.88%
concert (note 2)

Ba A AN —BITSA LT ()

vdv Beneficial owner 77,258,590 25.66%
EnlEAA
Mr. David Michael Webb Beneficial owner and interests held by a 27,042,000 8.98%
controlled corporation (note 3)
David Michael Webb %t & ExEBEARBIEGEEFE 2
R (KHEE3)
Notes: Mtk -
1. 73,245,645 shares were beneficially owned by High Union whereas 16,707,079 1. 73,245,6450% i 1 E5High UnionE 2= # A * MHigh Union
shares were deemed to be interested by High Union which was a party to certain VERBBEN SN EEARBEENE170) )R
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply. OIE@EA 25 THaE 25 47 MR AMR16,707,0790%

Bctn o B ek

2. 8,575,731 shares were beneficially owned by TGV whereas 81,376,993 shares were 2. 8575731 ATGVE S E * MTGVIE BB B LB F

deemed to be interested by TGV which was a party to certain agreements to which STNEBHASRBAEENEN70)EQE/SD)EERZET
sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply. W 2 7] 4977 448 B 1A81,376,993 0 IR 19 P ik A e as o
3. 15,802,280 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. David Michael Webb and 3. 15,802,2800% % 1 fiDavid Michael Webb%c A E 25 E -
11,239,720 shares were held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, the shares of M11,239,7200% % 19 F Preferable Situation Assets Limited
which were held by Mr. David Michael Webb. (E & 5 FaDavid Michael Webb st £ 358 ) 754 ©
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE BE HESBERAQARLTES

COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold REBEE T -_—F A=+ HILEE XA 7
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the yearended 30 S HFMMMEBE AR HMEREE HERER AN
June 2022. AEMRIRRAD
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The respective percentages of the Group’s purchases from major
suppliers and revenue attributable to major customers for the year
ended 30 June 2022, were as follows:

- Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s 15%
largest supplier

- Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five ~ 45%
largest suppliers

- Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's 39%
largest customer
- Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's five 87%

Iargest customers

During the year, Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a Non-executive Director
of the Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which is one of the
Group's five largest customers.

All transactions between the Group and the customers concerned
were carried out on normal commercial terms.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$28,100 (2021: HK$24,000).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
as authorised by the shareholders at the general meetings, with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. Details of remuneration of Directors on an
individual basis are disclosed in this report.

The Group established a Compensation Committee in 2001 and its
functions and duties are, inter alia, to review and recommend to the
Board the overall remuneration policy of the Group as well as the
remuneration packages for executive Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEWME

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group's retirement benefit schemes is set out in
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 30
June 2022 as required under the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance principles and practices and has throughout
the year, except for the deviations stated and explained in the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 54 to 70 of this
report, complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules of Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange as its own code
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on
specific enquiry made with all Directors, the Company considers that
the Directors complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year under review.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the
Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed risk
management and internal controls systems and financial reporting
matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year ended 30 June
2022.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2022 have been audited by Messrs. KPMG who will retire and offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Messrs. KPMG as the Company’s auditors
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman
Hong Kong

16 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SHEABE

The Group continues to commit itself to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance principles and practices with an emphasis
on enhancing transparency and accountability and ensuring the
application of these principles and practices within the Group
and thereby, enhancing shareholders value and benefiting our
stakeholders at large.

The Company has, throughout the year under review, complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"), Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, except for the following deviations:

A.4.1 — Non-executive Directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term. They are, however, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings of the Company at least once every three years in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

A4.2 — The Chairman shall not, while holding such office,
be subject to retirement by rotation or taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each year. In the
opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability and growth
of the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the
Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be subject
to retirement by rotation or hold office for a limited term at the
present time.

The amendments to the existing CG Code (the “New CG Code") came
into effect on 1 January 2022 and the requirements under the New
CG Code would apply to corporate governance reports for financial
year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board will continue
to review and enhance its corporate governance practice of the
Company to ensure compliance with the New CG Code and align with
the latest developments.

The Board is pleased to present the key corporate governance
principles and practices followed by the Company during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, including three executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The list of
Directors is set out in this report under the section headed “Corporate
Information”. The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a
specific term. They are, however, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at least once every three years in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws.

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies and monitors
the performance of the Group. The Chairman, Mr. Wong Chung
Chong focuses on managing the Board issues and supervising
the management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Wong Kai
Chung, Kevin is responsible for creating and directing the Group’s
strategy, managing overall performance, organization and operations.
He has extensive experience in business development, operations,
supply chain, finance and corporate development. The Managing
Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is responsible for the Group's
business development and marketing functions. The Chairman
plays a key role in driving corporate governance development and a
leading role in the corporate governance function held by the Board.
Mr. Wong Chung Chong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is the elder
brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.

The daily management, operation and administration functions of
the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. All the significant issues are reported to the Board on a

regular basis.

There is a prescribed list of matters reserved for Board approval,
including:

long-term objectives and strategies;

ii. audited financial statements and associated materials; review
and approve interim and final results announcements and
quarterly operational updates; convening general meetings;

iii. recommendations as to dividend;

iv. appointment, removal or re-designation of Directors;

V. remuneration of non-executive Directors and changes in
terms and conditions of employment of executive Directors;

Vi, material connected transactions;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

(continued)

vii. material acquisitions, disposals or joint-venture arrangements;
vii. material raising of external finance;

iX. appointment and removal of external auditors;

X. annual capital expenditure budget;

Xi. matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial

shareholder or Director; and

Xii. create, issue, purchase, redeem or otherwise reorganize the
Company'’s share capital.

For any matters that involve a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director, such matters are considered and approved by
the full Board except those Directors who have conflict of interests in
such matters.

Directors are provided at quarterly Board meetings with
comprehensive reports on the management’s strategic plans,
updates on business, financial objectives, plans and actions.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board represents a well-balanced mixture of
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. Review of the Board composition is made regularly
by the nomination committee of the Company.

The composition of the Board by category is disclosed in all corporate
communications and the updated biographical details of the
Directors are set out in annual reports under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” and on
the website of the Company. A list of names of Directors and their
roles and functions is also published on the website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the "HKEx") and the Company's
website.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number is
not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from office. The Chairman shall not, whilst
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability and
growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the Board is
of the view that the Chairman should not be subject to retirement by
rotation or hold office for a limited term at the present time.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, newly appointed
Directors to fill casual vacancies are required to offer themselves for
re-election at the next general meeting following their appointments.

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board held four regular meetings during the year ended 30 June
2022. Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least three months in
advance to give Directors the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda and at least 14 days formal notice is given before each regular
Board meeting. The Board papers and related materials are circulated
to Directors three days prior to Board meetings and Board committee
meetings.

The Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board
minutes and minutes of Board committee meetings which are sent
to Directors within a reasonable time frame of the relevant meeting.
The signed minutes are placed on record after the same have been
reviewed and agreed amongst the Board members and are open for
inspection at any time by Directors.

The Directors participate in Board meetings with open discussions
and bring independent judgments and constructive comments
to the Board. They at all times have full and timely access to all
the information of the Group. The Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
expense of the Company for discharging their duties.
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TREBRE

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company during the year
ended 30 June 2022 were as follows:

EXe EESZEEERLRREAE
(%)

REBEE-_T-_—_F A=Z1THIEE K=
tEEsees L8 EMREREZH
ERSFEIBEI T

I
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

BRLREAY AERHEEERY

Audit Compensation  Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meetings*
ENZEE FMZEEE REZES BRRAE*

Board
-
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) BB 4 (£/E) 4/4
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BRUREAE (BEHTE) 4/4
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BERB LA (EFLLE) 4/4
(Managing Director)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu BREELE 4/4
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys 5t 4 3/4
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de VeldeZt & 4/4
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Ria /MR 3/4
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert RRESE 4/4
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy MEREE 4/4

*

An annual general meeting was held on 16 November 2021 (the "AGM") during
the year. Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys did not attend the AGM for personal reasons
and Mr. Herman Van de Velde attended the annual AGM by means of electronic
facilities.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated some of its function to the Board
committees, namely Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee. All the Committees have been
established with clear and specific terms of reference in accordance
with the requirements of the Code and the terms of reference are
available for review on the websites of the HKEx and the Company.
Each Board committees reports to the Board their respective decisions
and recommendations after the relevant meetings.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members, including
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (chairman of Audit Committee),
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny and Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

- - - /1
- - - /1
- - 1 /1
- - - 11
- - - o/1*
- 11 1 /1%
2/2 0/1 /1 /1
2/2 11 11 71
2/2 11 11 A

* RAEE BREBFASCHR-_ZT=_—F+—A+<B
(TAXERBE KRS ) £1T ° Lucas AM. Laureyssc £ B FLA
B R EEE 0 Herman Van de VeldesE £ B BE FRE
EERFRBAFAE -

ExzZEg
EFEeCREMIRBEZETESTZRES A
EREEe FHMZBESRRERZES -MAZ
EeHERBTAMBRER LW AR AE
MBESE MBEEEINETERS MBI
RARRBUEN ZSEEEBETZEEREA
AERRMESTSERIREREZ -

EREES
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee reviews the
Group's financial information and oversees the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems. The
Committee also approves the scope of work of the Internal Audit
Department and oversees the relationship with the external auditors.

Two meetings have been held during the year ended 30 June 2022.
The principal work performed by the Committee during the year
ended 30 June 2022 included:

- review of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2022 and for the six months ended 31 December 2021
and recommending such financial statements to the Board for
their approval and adoption;

- discussions with the external auditors and reporting to the
Board any significant matters arising from the interim review and
annual audit;

- review of the audit reports submitted by Internal Audit
Department regarding the systems of internal control and risk
management;

- review and approval of the audit planning;
- review of the Continuing Connected Transactions; and

- recommending the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditors of
the Company to the Board, subject to shareholders’ approval at
annual general meeting.

The Committee was satisfied as to the overall effectiveness of the
internal controls and risk management process during the year under
review.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of four members,
including the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy
(chairman of Compensation Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny
and Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert.

The Compensation Committee has the responsibility delegated by
the Board to review and make recommendations to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, the policy and structure for all directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
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TREBRE

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Compensation Committee (continued)

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation policies of
the Group on a regular basis. The compensation policy of the Group
is designed to reflect performance, complexity and responsibility
with a view to attracting, motivating and retaining high performing
individuals. The Committee ensures that no individual Director is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The details of remuneration of Directors are disclosed on an individual
basis in note 7(a) to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration paid
to the members of the senior management by band for the year
ended 30 June 2022 is set out below:

EXg EEEZESERNKRRAE
(&)

FMESES @)
FHZEEEEMRAAEEBMZHFMEEK - B
el mEMERRRALEZESR  AEERF

FMBERARBMRE  THEERBERBE - &
EemRESMESHABEREANS ZHM -

BRI FBUERNERY S REE B R
FMIFE7G) o BEAN - BIESFRIAY ST R Hl XB.15
HZE —9?— TEXNAZTHIFESREREA

BIEERE >N MHINOT

BRERE D O HH

Remuneration by bands

Number of person(s)

A¥

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% JT — 2,500,000/ 7T 3
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 JT — 3,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 JT — 4,000,000 7T 1

The Compensation Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 30 June 2022. During the year, the Compensation Committee
has reviewed the remuneration packages of executive Directors and
non-executive Directors and made recommendations to the Board for
approval; and reviewed and proposed the performance incentives to
the executive Directors and made recommendations to the Board for
approval.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members,
including the executive Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth,
the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert
(chairman of Nomination Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny
and Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy, representing a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, identifying
and nominating individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and making recommendations to the board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors. The Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
external legal or other independent professional advice where
necessary.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
30 June 2022. The principal work performed by the Committee during
the year ended 30 June 2022 included:

- to assess the independence of all independent non-executive
directors;

- toreview the structure, size and composition of the Board; and

- to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the
retirement and re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director a written confirmation of their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board diversity policy in August 2013. The main
objective of the policy is to provide a guideline to the Nomination
Committee in selecting candidates in terms of their merits and
business and professional backgrounds to the Board with reference to
the Company’s existing and future business development needs. The
Committee considers the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional and business experiences, skills, knowledge and length
of service (the “Diversity Perspectives”), in order to maintain an
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity perspectives of
the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
of seven male Directors and one female Director with different
age, ethnicity, length of service, professional expertise, business
experiences and knowledge which demonstrate diversity among the
members of the Board.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in May 2019 which set out
the criteria and procedures when considering the candidates to
be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the Company. The
Nomination Committee will consider the following factors when
proposing a candidate for nomination as a Director of the Company
or a Director for re-election:

- Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited the Diversity
Perspectives as described above;

—  The candidate or the re-elected Director is able to commit and
devote sufficient time to carry out his/her duties;
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TREBRE

NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

- The potential or actual conflicts of interest of the candidate or
the re-elected Director;

- In case of the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, compliance with the independence criteria set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

- Other relevant factors considered by Nomination Committee on
a case by case basis.

The nomination policy set out the nomination procedures for
appointing a new Director. The Nomination Committee shall
identify candidates pursuant to the criteria set out in the nomination
policy, evaluate the candidates and recommend to the Board the
appointment of Director. The Board is provided with the profiles
of candidates and shall decide the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee. Regarding the
re-election of the retiring Directors at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall review and assess if the retiring Directors
meet the criteria set out in the policy and make recommendation to
the Board in respect of the proposed re-appointment of Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group has an internal audit function. The Head of Internal
Audit Department has direct access to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The audit plan of the Internal Audit Department focuses
on those areas of the Group's activities that have impacts in achieving
the business objectives of the Group and the plan is reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee. The results of internal audit
reviews and corresponding remedial actions taken are reported to the
executive Directors and Audit Committee periodically.

The Board, with the support of Audit Committee and Internal
Audit Department, has overall responsibility for establishing and
maintaining appropriate risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group has in place the risk management and internal control
systems which are designed in light of the nature of business as
well as the organization structure. The Group has adopted a holistic
approach to identify, assess, mitigate, report and monitor the risks.
The management assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide
mitigation plans and monitor the risk management progress. Findings
and recommendations are reported regularly to the Audit Committee
and the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

The Group's internal control system includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority and is designed to further the
achievement of business objectives. The Group also formulated
a set of internal company policies to establish standards in areas
including finance, human resources, operations, health and safety
and information technology. These policies aim to safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or publication, promote efficient and
effective operations and ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives. The management adopts a hands-on approach to the
operations of the business and delegation of authority is clearly
defined.

Robust controls are in place for the recording of complete,
accurate and timely accounting and management information.
Comprehensive monthly management accounts are prepared,
reviewed with, and distributed to appropriate senior management. In
addition, monthly operational review meetings of various operating
plants are held. The Chief Executive Officer and the Managing Director
play leading roles in these meetings.

The Internal Audit Department conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports their findings to the Audit Committee.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance control in
accordance with an annual audit plan reviewed and endorsed by the
Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. The Internal
Audit Department provides independent assurance to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems for the Group during
the year under review.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed annual review
on the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and were satisfied as to the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group during the
year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the end of the
financial year and of their respective profit or loss for the year then
ended and are in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and requirements of the Companies Ordinance. The
Directors annually acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and apply them on a
consistent basis, making judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable;

state the reasons for any significant departure from accounting
standards; and

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis,
unless it is not appropriate to assume that the Company and the
Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and
other irregularities. The Directors are not aware of any matters and
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The management provides the Directors with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospect in sufficient detail to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 71 to 78 of this annual
report.
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ACCOUNTING, INTERNAL AUDIT AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING FUNCTIONS

There have been sufficient resources put in place within the Group
to perform the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The finance team, led by the Chief Financial Officer, with the support
of a group of accounting professionals, is responsible for the oversight
of the Group's finance and control functions. Adequate training is
provided to the finance team and relevant staffs. In addition to the
“On-the-job” and internal training, senior staff will regularly attend
seminars with topics of relevance to them in discharging their duties,
updating their professional knowledge as well as coaching their
subordinates.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget during the year under review and considered that the Group
has adequate of staff resources with qualifications and experience
necessary for the effective performance of the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in February 2019 pursuant to
which the Board has the discretion to determine the declaration and
payment of dividends to the Shareholders. The Board will take into
account the following factors when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends to the Shareholders:

the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

- retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of Group;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group;

- the Group's business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term
growth aspect of the business;

- contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the

Company, if any; and

- other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure sufficient awareness of
director’s duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements. The induction
package shall cover the statutory and regulatory obligations as a
director and the Group's business and operations.

During the year, all Directors have complied with the code provision
in relation to continuous professional development. The Directors’
knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed by
reading materials, webcast and guidelines on subjects relating to the
updates on Listing Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and
corporate governance practices. The Company Secretary from time
to time provided all Directors with relevant Directors’ guides for their
discharge of duties and updates on changes of relevant rules and
regulations.

The records of the Directors’ training during the year ended 30 June
2022 are as follows:

FREXRE
BEFZENESHAERIZEREREZAEN
BLERM UERMEMARES THREFELTR
AITHBE BEEMBEAREMABEER
BER -JEIENEERRFERESNEAAEMRT
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KM RERED - AT RIE 3 HE MM
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RBE-—FT-—&EAA=tAILEERN &%
ZHEEENT

Type of Training

EHIER
I .
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) ENRBEE(E/E) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer) ERBSLE (BEEHTE) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director) BB E (EFBAHE) A
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu HRELRE A
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys5E 4 A
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Veldet 4 A
Independent Non-executive Directors 55 VYHEHITES
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2N/ NR A
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert PREELLE A
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy MER KL A
A Reading Materials, Webcast and Guidelines A BIEME - B e kg

AUDITOR

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the external auditor, KPMG, received
HKS$ 1,658,000 for audit services.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITY

There is in place appropriate insurance coverage on directors’ and
officers’ liability in respect of legal action against Directors and officers
of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code for Directors’
dealings in securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiries, the Company confirmed that each
of the Directors has complied with the required standards during the
year.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code.

INTERNAL PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS FOR
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

There are internal procedures and controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Group has adopted and
implemented a Continuous Disclosure Policy since 22 February
2013. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of
the safe harbors as provided in the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcement or circulars are not false or misleading as to a material
fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in
view of presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

The Board is aware of the requirements under the Listing Rules about
timely disclosure of inside information regarding the Company and
will arrange to issue and publish such announcements as and when
the occasions arise. The Company Secretary will consult and seek
legal advice on the materiality and sensitivity of certain material and
connected transactions and advise the Board accordingly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company
Secretary reports to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
assists in the Company’s issues.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are complied with and advises the Board on corporate
governance and compliance matters.

The Directors have direct access to the Company Secretary. The
selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is
approved by the Board.

The Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year under review.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Maintaining the highest professional and ethical standards is central
to the Group’s core operating philosophy. The Group has formally
adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) addressing
guiding principles governing conduct of Directors, management and
employees. The Code is intended to establish standards of conduct
encompassing the areas in which the business operates.

In summary, executives and employees of the Group are expected to:

conduct business of the Group in full compliance with both the
letter and spirit of the Law and of the Code of Conduct;

maintain the highest possible standards in the way we operate
and the way we treat our employees in order to satisfy the
expectations of both the business and social communities;

use confidential information properly;

recognise and avoid conflicts of interest;

protect the ownership of property of the Group, including
information, products, rights and services; and

conduct outside activities in a way which does not compromise
the individual or the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BUSINESS INTEGRITY (continued)

There is a reporting system for any code violations. The Board reviews
the Code of Conduct and monitors its effective implementation
periodically. There are also systems in place for risk assessment, risk
identification and management, and timely corrective measures for
sustainability and to nourish improvement for the business of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a continuing open
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to facilitate
understanding of the group’s management, financial position,
operations, strategy and plans.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have the
prime responsibility for these activities, with the Chief Executive
Officer taking the lead in the period immediately following the interim
and final results announcements. The Company endeavours to be
responsive to the Company or business related matters.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

During the year under review, one annual general meeting was held
at which, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
Managing Director and the chairman or the members of respective
Board committees attended the said meetings and were available to
answer questions from Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has adopted a “Shareholders Communication
Policy”, which is available on the Company’s website, setting out
the Company's procedures in providing the Shareholders and the
investment community with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company, with
a view to enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and to allow the Shareholders and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company.

Under the Company’s Bye-laws and the relevant policies and
procedures of the Group, the Shareholders have, among others, the
following rights:

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM")

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company can deposit a written request to the Board at both the
principal office and registered office, for the attention of the Company
Secretary, to convene a SGM.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM”) (continued)

The written request by shareholders must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the Shareholders concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those
Shareholders.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors
to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the request has been verified as not in order,
the Shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned
at a SGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Details of
procedures are set out in the Company’s website.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact
information of the requisitionists and deposited with the Board or the
Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 7/F, Port 33, 33 Tseuk Luk Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or not less than 100 Shareholders holding shares in the
Company, can submit a written request to move a resolution at the
meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors
to include the resolution in the agenda for the meeting provided
that the Shareholders concerned have deposited a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the Shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered Shareholders. Details of procedures
are set out in the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2022. The
aforesaid constitutional document is available for public inspection at
the Company’s Website.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Form International Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Form
International Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 79 to 184, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 30 June 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

BEESEE

RERMAZEXZHE  BREASTEALSEME
RAPEGEMBHRRTFHRERZSFH - 1M
EECGEEMBRREAMENERERERR
BEHER MASRULEEREFBERER

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FHEME - BB R R E B ERE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the financial statements.
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The Key Audit Matter
REEtEE

In view of the operating loss incurred by certain manufacturing plants
of the Group during the year, management considered that indicators
of potential impairment of property, plant and equipment of these
manufacturing plants existed as at 30 June 2022.

BER SEENETREBRERAFEHLLEEE B2
BRR ZFHREMENDE BMEMRER_-_ZT-__F,A
= TRAREERERENR °

In assessing whether impairment existed at the reporting date,
management determined the recoverable amount of the smallest
cash generating unit (“CGU") to which these assets were allocated.
The recoverable amount of a CGU is the greater of its value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the related assets.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANAREFHPEETHEER

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:
BPIBLET A 2E - BB R iEH)E
BERRFEETIIEE

EETT

challenging the Group's impairment
assessment model, which included assessing
the impairment indicators identified by
management, the identification of CGUs and
the allocation of assets to each of the CGUs
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;
SLEZMGHENNER - B BE5H
HORERHERE - HBRETAEIREME
AMERETR  BRIBRESEEEMIAR
REESEERRSELEM
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

B 2B RS

HAREBFTEE W

FHEMIE - BB R R A E R E

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the financial statements.

ZIRUAFE I TEIREZ N L 11 R B FZ M e 2(0) 2 7B »

The Key Audit Matter
HARETEE

In order to determine the recoverable amount of each of the CGUs
for which indicators of impairment were identified, management
prepared a value in use calculation using a discounted cash flow
forecast.

RETZFDNAEREFRZ ZBSELABUNAIKEERE &
BEEGFAMRBEeRERAGREREETE -

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess impairment were
based on a number of assumptions which required the exercise of
significant management judgement, in particular in estimating future
revenue, cost of direct materials, staff costs and the discount rate
applied.
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We identified assessing potential impairment of property, plant and
equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential significance
of any impairment charge to the results of the Group for the year and
because forecasting future cash flows can be inherently subjective
and require significant management judgement and estimation
which increase the risk of error or potential management bias.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANAREFHPEETHEER

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in assessing the methodology applied
by management in its discounted cash flow
forecasts with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards and
whether the discount rate adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecast was comparable
with those of companies in the same industry
and external market data;
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challenging the key assumptions adopted
by management in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts by comparing
the most significant inputs in the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including future revenue,
cost of direct materials and staff costs, with the
historical performance, industry reports and
other available third party information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) BAREIEE®S®

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

AR - BB R R B R (E

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the financial statements.

BB AT A S BRFZMT L 11 R IR FZ I it 2(d) 2 BFTIE

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

REETER BANARETPERETHEER

comparing the key assumptions included in
the discounted cash flow forecast prepared
by management in the prior year with the
current year's performance to assess the
accuracy of the prior year's forecast, making
enquiries of management as to the reasons
for any significant variations identified and
whether these had been considered in the
current year discounted cash flow forecasts
and considering if there was any indication of
management bias; and
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performing a sensitivity analysis of the
discount rate, revenue, cost of direct materials
and staff costs in the discounted cash flow
forecasts and considering the resulting
impact on the impairment charge for the year
and whether there were any indicators of
management bias.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the

audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations

or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Mei Yan Hilary.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

16 September 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
LEESEKR

fortheyearended 30 June2022 HEZ —E - —F XA=t+tHItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 T T+
I I I I
Revenue KA 4 1,481,592 1,428,532
Cost of sales $HE KA (1,207,664) (1,190,553)
Gross profit EF 273,928 237,979
Other net income H A AFHEE 5 17,803 56,614
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAXZ (37,616) (60,098)
General and administrative expenses —MRITERAX (231,065) (219,326)
Profit from operations BEHER 23,050 15,169
Finance costs MBER 6(a) (7,884) (6,846)
Share of profits of a joint venture Frih —fE & &R 5la F 3,658 2,989
Share of profits of associates T (Bt & 1 7] s ) 392 639
Profit before taxation BR 4 A 3% A 19,216 11,951
Income tax expenses RSB 8 (7,728) (4,806)
Profit for the year FRER 11,488 7,145
Attributable to: BEAL -
Equity shareholders of the Company A E R R R 3,550 2,797
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 7,938 4,348
Profit for the year FABEF 11,488 7,145
Earnings per share BRER 10
Basic and diluted ERR#E HK$0.012 HK$0.011
0.012& T 17T
The notes on pages 87 to 184 form part of these financial statements. R EQ7E 1848 2 Ml 5t A2 Z B 15k &} 2 48 5 2B

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERERREMEEKER

forthe yearended 30 June2022 HZ T - —F XA=-+HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2022 2021
—E-= —=%&=
Note $’000 $’000
Bt & T T
I I I I
Profit for the year fFR@myN 11,488 7145
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 ik &=
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to ~ B E T & E#H 7 EH 2
profit or loss: BamZHE -
Gain on revaluation of properties upon transfer R & ¥ 5 52 B
of investment properties FIEENYESHKRE  11(0) 4,629 -
Deferred tax liability arising on gain on PO W) 2 8 1B R 5 M L e
revaluation of properties upon transfer FIEAMBELERIESRE 24 (1,157) =
3,472 =
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to HERpEEF 72
profit or loss: EmZIEE -
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ HE FBEINETE
operations outside Hong Kong EECEN =5
— subsidiaries — KM B A A (17,959) 4,199
— ajoint venture ——EEERAF (349) 2317
- associates VNG (885) (76)
Other comprehensive income for the year, F R H fh 2 W =
__netofincometax GngmEe) (15,721) 6440
Total comprehensive income for the year FRATEWRFEEHE (4,233) 13,585
Attributable to: FEAL -
Equity shareholders of the Company QB Em KR (9,715) 9,210
Non-controlling interests FEF2E IR 5,482 4373
Total comprehensive income fortheyear FRHEW AL (4,233) 13,585
The notes on pages 87 to 184 form part of these financial statements. R FE87E184H v M iE BZ S B &R 2 AKX 2P
6-7\ o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

E MR R R

at30June2022 R-—ZE -~ XA=1H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

Note
B 5

2022 2021
—E2-= —_EF-—

$’000 $'000

T T+

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L N 11 182,916 205,577
Investment properties "EYE 12 163,229 161,821
Interest in a joint venture R—HEE&ERA 2 Em 13 28,181 27,465
Interest in associates YRR/ o - ey 14 25,245 23,756
Other financial assets HEthemEE 15(a) 2,838 2,838
Derivative financial instrument TESRTE 15(b) - 1,402
Deferred tax assets BEIETIEE E 24 339 571
Prepayments and deposits ERFEERARS 2,725 1,797
405,473 425227
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 16 174,895 255,868
Trade and other receivables ZoRUBRER R EMEUERIR 17 181,570 163,171
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 18(a) 136,487 92,217
492,952 511,256
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables and accrued charges BZREMRZIREGTEA 19 199,553 261,720
Unsecured bank loans ERRIEITER 20 115,404 87,980
Lease liabilities MEAE 21 13,051 13,087
Current tax payable JE& < 2N BR 5 18 8,674 5,026
e i3 336,682 367,813
Net current assets RBEEFRE 156,270 143,443

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
kR AR

at30June2022 R -—Z -~ XA=+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2022 2021
—E-= —_EF-—
Note $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr Tz
I Y I I
Total assets less current liabilities magRriBe®E 0000 561,743 568,670
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 13,309 16,504
Retirement benefit obligations RIRE AR 23 4,696 4,329
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE 24 36,410 36,618
Other payables o FE T 5K - 696
N _ _ . 54415 . 28,147 _
Net assets EEFE 507,328 510,523
Capital and reserves B2 R
Share capital [N 26 147,940 147,940
Reserves ] 318,923 327,600
Equity attributable to equity AR EERREGESR
shareholders of the Company 466,863 475,540
Non-controlling interests FEERER 40,465 34,983
Total equity EREE 507,328 510,523

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16~ EERE&WR -E = —F 1 A+ BHOE RIS RETIE o
September 2022.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
ERER HRRE
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BEHTE EFRACTE

The notes on pages 87 to 184 form part of these financial statements. R EQ7E 1848 2 Ml 5F A2 Z B 15 R &R 2 48 5 20
)

o

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERREER

fortheyearended 30 June2022 HEZ —E - —F XA=t+tHItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

Attrbutable to equity shareolders of the Company

FDARERRES

Share
capltal

e

$000
T

(apita

Share  redemption
premium fesenve
RhEE EOREE
9000 §000
T i

Special
Tesenve

Rl
(Note)
(k)
§000
in

Share
option
feserve

Investment
revaluation
feserve
(non-
recycling)
e
]

ERERR (TogE)

000
A

§000
n

Asset
revaluation
TEseIVe

ik

$000
L

Trandlation
Teserve

EXGE

00
T

Retained
profts

Fal

000
i

| |
Non-
confroling
Totdl  interests Total
FAR
8 B g8
§000 5000 5000

T i

At1July 2020 R-E-2ELA-H 107519 149 33 7139 3%0 (5883 10289 5909 45047 093 448670
Exchange differences arsing on translaion of

operations outside Hong Kong (including

subsiciares, a joint venture and associates) - - - - - - - 6413 - 6413 i 6440
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - 279 09 434 1145
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - - 6413 2797 9210 4375 13585
Capialcontibution fom a non-controling FERRERAER

shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 7685 7685
Equitysetld share-based ransactions INERESIRNBERNRS - - - - 161 - - - - 162 - 161
lsuance of ights shares it 4047 - - - - - - - - 4 - 4
At 30 June 2021 R-E=-ExA=tH 147940 149 33 7139 4 (5883 102890 9172 2008 415540 3493 51053

EEHBEEREARAR

TEFFR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
I\‘/\ i&/\lmm@]%

forthe yearended 30 June2022 HZ T - —F XA=-+HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L/( 5 7|:§|J )

. J | | |
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARRERREL
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset Non-
Share Share redemption  Special option (non-  revaluation  Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  recyding)  reseve  resemve profits Total  interests Total
REEh
& Bk EE FER
Ra  BRHEE RERE GHUERE BRERE (FUEE) EHRE ENRE REEA 0 R 0 BR 4
(Note)
(Hit)

Note — §1000 §000 §1000 §000 §000 §000 $1000 §000 §000 $1000 §000 §000
e . ft i fi fi fa fa fa fn fn fn @
! ! J ! ' ' 1 | | | |

At1July 2021 RZBZ-Etf-A 490 1499 pEX I AE 5 (5883) 10280 9172 212008 475540 34983 510,523

i

Buchange diferencesarsng on renaionol ~ REFERINER (85

operatons outside Hong Kong (incluing WERE -HAERak

subsiares,ajoint venture and associates) BEND)EL7ENZE - - - - - - - (16737) - (16730 (456  (19193)
Proftfor he year Efai] - - - - - - - SIS0 30 79 11488
Gainon revaluation of properties upon ransferof MR BN L ERE HELH

investment properties NEERNE 1 - - - - - -4 - -4 ]
Deferted tax ablte aisng on gein on revluation M]%W el

of properties upon transfer FELHETLRAEE - - - - - - 18 - - 1) - (1)
Total comprehensive ncome for theyear FRRENGES - - - - - - 3412 (16731) 3550 (975) 5482 (4233)
Fquity-settled share-based transactions EREE MR BEROR S - - - - 1,038 - - - - 1,038 - 1,038
At30June 2022 HZZZZERAZTA WM 1499 B 719 1560 (5883) 10632 (1565) 21555 466863 40465 507,328

Note:  Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal amountof Mt : HAlIREHEEARAE - AN —FEEBEHETZ
the share capital issued by the Company and the aggregate of the nominal BRAEEEAEEE TS QR ZRAEERRER
amount of share capital of the companies forming the Group, pursuant to ZE®
the group reorganisation in 1991.

The notes on pages 87 to 184 form part of these financial statements. P 58872 1848 2 MY 5T /5 7% % Bf 7 # 2k 2 40 A &P
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

fortheyearended 30 June2022 HEZ —E - —F XA=t+tHItFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R )

2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—
Note $'000 $'000
B &E Fr Fr
I Y I I
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation B % Bl A 19,216 11,951
Adjustments for: FATIHE EH A :
Interest income from loans to an associate R T —fHEE AR
SRS WA 5 (862) (335)
Interest income from banks R H B WA 5 (313) (224)
Finance costs M%ER 6(a) 7,884 6,846
Depreciation charges TEEBR 6(c) 45,372 51,208
Gain on disposal of a property HE Bz K= 5 - (27,868)
Gain on disposal of other plant and equipment & E MR &R 2 W 5 - (137)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEYE « BMERREZEER 60 866 =
Revaluation loss upon transfer of property, BRYE  BEREEN
plant and equipment 2 EE 5 - 1,337
Fair value loss on derivative financial instrument TESRMIT A AT EEESR 5 - 1
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties REMENFEE
ER/ (Ka) 5 1,679 (3,686)
Share of profits of a joint venture FriE— 84 & A8 7l (3,658) (2,989)
Share of profits of associates BTG5 & A Rls F (392) (639)
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses PARE 5 4 5 AR 1D
REROZMAX 6(b) 1,037 162
Derecognition of derivative financial instrument RIEBRAITESRTA 5 1,402 -
Operating cash inflows before movements RtEEELEBAI 2
in working capital RERER 72,231 35,627
Increase in prepayments and deposits TEN I LA &L (928) =
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD /(M) 80,973 (75,479)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 RYR R R E A
& Us B8R R 5 A (18,398) (19,802)
Decrease in non-current other payables FER B H At FE A FUR A (696) -
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and B 5 N BRI FERT
accrued charges BRORD) /Em (59,168) 34,986
Increase in retirement benefit obligation IR KRR F A& D 367 1219
Cash generated from/(used in) operations REEREEL/ (BR)zHR$ 74,381 (23,449)
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid)/refunded (B BEREEEFEH (3,932) 179
Tax paid in other jurisdictions BRI EM A AR (328) (475)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEREL(ER) 2
operating activities e RE 70,121 (23,745)

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\/\ Eﬁi/}lbﬁ%

forthe yearended 30 June2022 HZ T - —F XA=-+HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2022 2021
—E-C& —E-—F
Note $'000 $'000
P & Fr Fr

I Y I I
Investing activities REXK
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAYE  BEREH (27,536) (32,539)
Interest received EUF S 1,175 559
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENME  BERSZHEL

plant and equipment P15 3R 277 28,732
Dividend received from joint venture WEIE & AR HAR S 2,593 =
New loans to an associate RMHT—FABEARNNER (1,982) (19,308)
Net cash used in investing activities REXBEACEESFE (25,473) (22,556)
Financing activities MEER
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHE 2 BRI 18(b) (14,793) (15,579)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHERE 2 FEHH 18(b) (1,966) (1,308)
Interest paid EFE 18(b) (1,659) (1,068)
Other bank charges HiR1TE A (4,259) (4,470)
Proceed from new bank loans REMERITERNEHRE  18(0) 498,138 376,857
Repayment of bank loans EERITER 18(b) (470,714) (386,319)
Net proceeds from issue of rights shares R B BITHRARND HPTFRIE

A 26 - 40,421

Proceed from capital contribution from a REFZERBRFEABERH

non-controlling shareholder FT{S 308 - 7,685
Net cash generated from financing activites BEXBEL REF®H 4747 16219,
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRASEHEEEZ

cash equivalents #in,/ (Rd) B 49,395 (30,082)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RENZAESRAEEHEER

beginning of the year 92,217 122,903
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes Exgnso e (5,125) (604)
Cash and cash equivalents at the REAZRERAEEHEER

end of the year 136,487 92,217
Analysis of the balances of cash and BeRBESEHEERLRIN

cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 136,487 92,217

The notes on pages 87 to 184 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section of
corporate information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKS"), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, being United States dollars (“USD").
As the Company is a public company with shares listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and most of its investors are located
in Hong Kong, the directors consider that HKS is preferable in
presenting the operating results and financial position of the
Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in associates
and a joint venture.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

SENMBEBRERAR —E-__FFRK
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that

are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(a) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for a derivative financial
instrument, other financial assets and certain properties that are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs

that have significant effect on the financial statements and

major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

ERNTFERARAQR

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issue a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group.

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group's results and financial position for current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no

gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture (see note 2(c)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(0)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee's identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group's share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group's
long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or the joint

venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant influence
or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(0)):

- leasehold land and buildings held for own use;
- right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold

or leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Freehold land is not depreciated.
- Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated

over their estimated useful life, being no more than
50 years after the date of completion.
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- Leasehold land and
buildings

—  Other properties leased
for own use

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease, or
2% - 6.5%

Over the unexpired term
of leases

—  Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the
term of the lease, or
20%

= Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 33%

equipment

- Motor vehicles 20% - 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using
the weighted average method and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an

expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,

a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use

of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits

from that use.

(i)

ERHERERAT

As alessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(d) and 2(0)), except
for right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(e).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in ‘other
property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease
liabilities separately in the statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 wREBEEHERFTESTEHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE (&)

(ii) Asalessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified

as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(u)(ii).

(h) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

(1))

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used.

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate). On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans, including the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme is accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

ERHERERAT

Long service payments

The Group's net obligations in respect of long service
payments are the amounts of future benefits that
employees have earned in return for their services
in the current and prior periods, calculated in
accordance with the relevant laws.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the Black-Scholes Option Pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 REEERFESTBER @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Termination benefits (k) BEEFER
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of BERERN DR AEB NS REZER
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of Mzt EBREAKEN LRI
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs BEB RS (AR EHE BE) R -

involving the payment of termination benefits.

(I) Taxation (ny #H\
Income tax for the year comprises current tax payable and FRN PSR EHEEN ANH T B N RIE
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. EHBEERABESD -
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable REAMIBRBTETHFEAERTTILA 2
income for the year. Taxable income differs from “profit JEM IR - BT WA B RIRERE 1B
before taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement mEMMHIBHEA RN - REEER
of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or BHMBRATBIEEMEE 2 BRI A]
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and HB2WASKFELZIER MK
it further excludes items that are permanently non-taxable RBARBMIADAMB2IBE - A&
or non-deductible. The Group's liability for current tax Bz ARHHEAGE NEBREPRRAD
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or FlEXEE LESITEZHEREBE
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, FERENHEIBEEEMAARTE -
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences BEMBEREAMBRRAZEER
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities BEREEEBEFTERRBBAZ
in the consolidated financial statements and the HMEMEMyERE=EER  —RKE
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable AT EERN TR =R REERIE
income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised BE o MR ARKIR A 7] G H IR 7] 3% LA
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets FRAANMENEERRSARBEE
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary BRBHEE R EREEF - B —&
differences and unusual tax losses and tax credits to AN NREREZ N AHER
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will BERE MG IEEERIELERIEEE -
be available against which those deductible temporary MERXRGHFREENEREMEERE
differences and unusual tax losses and tax credits can be EMmal M ERFEZREM I ERERT
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the BT T EeEN - AT 8RR
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition EHAEERBE-

of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at REFIEEE 2 REABERS®EHR
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the RE > WHIRZETBEERH CERR
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable EAHESAEEREERAL -

profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to

be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

ERHERERAT

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered. The
Group has rebutted the presumption for all its investment
properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 REEERFESTBER @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(I) Taxation (continued) () BE@®E
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and AREAFR AR MIRIEFI A& R A R &
movements therein, are presented separately from each FHXEBWULEY BT TIHEE - K
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset NAISE B R A KER I BITREF
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets NABHIBEEEREARRIBEE -
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group B & THBEIMET - BIRNERFIIRE
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets EEEAHANBEAER MELEHIEE
against current tax liabilities and the following additional EREHREHERE

conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the - MAHFEBEEEREGEmME A
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a RINEERIRFHEEELE o
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability FIREREENENARE 3
simultaneously; or
— inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they - MEEHREEERBEMS @ M
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation WEER —FHEEBEI AT ER
authority on either: — IR TS A
- the same taxable entity; or — RA—ERTESR: X
- different taxable entities, which, in each future — TRAERMERL ZZEB
period in which significant amounts of deferred HE P T HA 45 15F 5k U B 3 AE AR
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled HEBEREEZEARSRZ
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax BRI EAR - B IR ANHI L IE
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a BE ML FEEAELE N ARE
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously. MEAGE AESEHEEE

MENEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 MBEERIESHEE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Investments in equity securities

(m) EBEFHRE

The Group's policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 25(c). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the investment
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Derivative financial instrument

Derivative financial assets are recognised initially at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs") on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents

and trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
derivative financial assets and other financial assets,

are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that

the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of

discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at

initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

ERNFEREAERA

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL

model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at

the reporting date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any
changes recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Except for trade receivables that are measured at
FVOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For trade receivables that are measured at
FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in FVOCI reserve without reducing the
carrying amount of the receivables. Such amount
represents the changes in the FVOCI reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

ERNTFERARAQR

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument'’s external or internal

credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery

OCcurs.

On derecognition of trade receivables at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVOCI reserve is classified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are

reviewed at the end of each reporting period to

identify indications that the following assets may

be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an

impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than property carried
at revalued amounts); and

investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable

amount is estimated.

ERNTFERARAQR

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)
- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year (see note
2(0)).

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Trade and other receivables

(i)

(ii)

ERHERERAT

Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit

losses (see note 2(0)(i)).

Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling)

Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are stated at fair
value. Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for trade receivables classified as at FVOCI (recycling)
as a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. All
other changes in the carrying amount of these trade
receivables are recognised in other comprehensive
income (“OCl") and accumulated under the heading
of FVOCI reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to OCl without reducing the carrying
amounts of these trade receivables. When these trade
receivables are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in OCl are reclassified to

profit or loss.

TEFFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

2 EREERFESHEHER®

(p) B ZEUWIRA K E MBI AR

() LAEH ARG E A E 5N
R A JEW IR K
EAKEEEEGRFEIKES
BAE SEREBUKE--HE
KRB EAGRER
- B WCER A B BRI 2 AR A -
i 35 7 AN 5 1B R B R R R MR B AR
EOEMA D BERKA - RIBEREE
RBEINBENEE °

FEWREZREBAER AR AFHE
B 5 Pk AN R 1= B AR B E I (B
(R MEFE200)()) ©

(i) UARFEEFEARZEEEA
A2 H WKz (7] 2 8) 8B 5
JEW IR
URAFEEFEAEZEHFTALR
f 2w (R 818) W E 5 R
ERARFEEINR AERE
RAE R ENNBMAMER
DHER/NAFEEFELRED
AR EE KD (A8 WE
FRMERNERESBANKES
BIANRSMNEW S KB RERSD
R ZFEHRUERER S
BHOMARMESHAEEME2EI
# (R 2mkas]) R I
EARFEEFERBEZHA
Hit 2 E WS HEE—HRE B
BEREERSTER  LAHER
BHEMEEWKE MRS ZE
BESRUERNRE TR - &%
FEHEPRRR LR - &
Al £ E Ath 22 T Uz R RE SR A R EH
WaBEeED FERR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 RREERFESTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Interest-bearing borrowings (q) FFEMER
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at SAEERVBRAFEBERERFE
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial BatE VR EREZ st EEFEE
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at BRI =L A SR AR I ME - F B 5
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest YREAEEEHEEREANZR
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group's FHER (R M sE20))

accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(i)).

(r) Cash and cash equivalents r RERBESEEIER

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on Be R eSBEEERREETRTE
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial B MNBETREMEBEEE 2 EE
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments ERAREHSREERE  BIEIL
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash ESNBABEEE ZER T A AR
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes RERADMHABRS AKRBERR=
in value, having been within three months of maturity at BARNBBAZERE REEGFEES
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand mExRms BRekReFHEEE
and form an integral part of the Group's cash management HEEREERERKAERESEIE
are also included as a component of cash and cash AR DEEKE D 2 RITELZ 3]
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow & MRS FRIEE REWFE20)0AFT
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL B BCR T A TE R E AEL -

in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(0)(i).

(s) Trade and other payables (s) ESENEBRRREMENER
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair B 5 e BR 3 N B A R A BR SRV R IR
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless ANTFEEER BFEMNEREEM
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which FETBR N E B IR B S AR AN BB - B JE
case they are stated at cost. WHENZEIK BT HiZ

BB (E o

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities (t) BERSAERE
Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company MAEBERKARNREAREEEZEH
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of AELAEHETET BBTTEWE
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic B BUEE Az S R 72 B AYE AT
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a S2EEE ARRAEE - HEE Y
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of KEEEEAN  ARBITREEMA
money is material, provisions are stated at the present EY 2R ERTREE -

value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic i N ARRIBE BB E R =AM - SR
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be A BB BEELRE 2 (G Ble
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a HZEERBERIAEE  BLEEFN
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of zx SN 2 ] B M AR K BI BR A1 o {14 BT B8
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose GFEEFEARTERAZRTARARKEH
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or EABRE R ERLFRE  TeiR
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also BARABE EBELEMNZIINRZA
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of BEMEARAE BIBR AN ©

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Revenue and other income

REEERFITESHEBE &)

(u) WAREMBYA

ERHERERAT

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of ladies’ intimate
apparel is recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed, which is taken to be the point
in time when the customer has accepted the goods
and obtained the control of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable.

(iii) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

TEFFR
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ERmmEHREBRERPE A%
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BRAAR B WA K& H i WA R R R
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RNEmRBREAE ER (EHR
REPEEXEMEESEMDN
2R ) BERR o WA BRI E
8 B th 85 & B - I 2 0 BR E A
B e
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HRENHBNEES LR
HPER MR E—BHIAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Revenue and other income (continued)

(iv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.

(v) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is

a member).

(iiiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

2

RREERFTESHEE &)
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(iv) KT8
BB fE e A B R F U E
BB - A AEE S m T
B BT BT 168 14 B5 #7048 72 B S AR R 3R
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WA o

(v) BEAL

(a)

i H 3R T SIS

Az B ATk

HIOBRREKE RERNEEBR

[

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

HAREEB BRI AR E
il

HAKBABEATEN X

AARBRAKEGATE
SERENE -

MHRTIER AERERR

EAKEARE:
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(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2 RREERFESTHR@®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Related parties (continued) (v) BEALT®H)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the b)) HMHEETIEBEL AIEEEEA

following conditions applies: (continued) EAREBEGHE: (B)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy " RERBRE=-"FEELE
and the other entity is an associate of the third BRI RS —REBAEF=
entity. FTEBZBERT -

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for V) ZEEAAEEINIEARNE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or EREER ZEBRAM
an entity related to the Group. ®2EEREEAEE

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a vi) ZEBXQ@EM#N AL
person identified in (a). Pl ok HE R o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) R@OEBAHNZALTHE
influence over the entity or is a member of the =] Ej{ Z- S
key management personnel of the entity (or of a (REBEBZEBRAR) XEER
parent of the entity). BX 8 °

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which (vii) BN EREAEBETMAK
it is a part, provides key management personnel BRAIAER —HHAAEHE .
services to the Group or to the Group's parent. SASE 2 AREMEE

B ABRE -
Close members of the family of a person are those family BEATZEBRREKE ATEHEE
members who may be expected to influence, or be BIXINBTEZATIAXZALY
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. BIZERKKE -

EEBHBERARAT —T-_FFER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group performs annual impairment assessment on the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment when
indication of impairment is identified to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. The recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. The management determines the recoverable
amount of the relevant cash generating unit (“CGU") based on
the basis of the value in use calculation. Where the future cash
flows are less or more than expected, or there are changes
in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of the
estimated future cash flows, or fair values of the properties are
below their respective carrying amounts, impairment loss or
reversal of impairment loss may arise.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the sale value of goods and is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The
Group manages its business as a single unit and, accordingly,
the manufacturing and sale of ladies’ intimate apparel is the
only reportable segment and virtually all of the revenue and
operating profits is derived from this business segment. The
consolidated financial statements are already presented in
a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resources allocation and operating performance review.

The chief operating decision maker regularly assesses available
production capacity on a plant by plant basis, however, no
discrete financial information is available for each plant for the
purpose of resources allocation and operating performance
review. The chief operating decision maker reviews financial
information on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, no separate

business segment information is disclosed.

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the
financial information reviewed by the executive directors are
the same as those adopted in preparing the Group's financial
statements. Segment revenue is the consolidated revenue of the
Group. Segment profit or loss is the consolidated profit or loss
after taxation.

All the Group's segment assets and liabilities are under the only
reportable segment as at 30 June 2022 and 2021.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be
recognised in the future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date to its revenue from sales of
goods as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

EBWBERBRAR T _FFRH

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(a) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, interest in associates
and a joint venture and prepayments and deposits
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location
of customers is based on the location to which the goods

are delivered.

4 WARDEEHR @)

(a) HEEHR
TREFIZHIBUESE DB HENAEE
REHINEERP 2 WA KA & E
ZE - -BEREZE REWE R
fENA R —HEE AR SRR
ENREERERS ((FEERBEE])
ZER - BPZMBMNENIREM 2
B M mE D e

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REHIMEIEEF ZWA BEFRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E=-= —E=— —E—-C —E-—4F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Frx Tz
I S S B S S
Hong Kong BB 1,090 18,417 23,770 22,741
USA = 992,376 1,072,602 - =
Belgium LE F) B 121,447 97,200 - =
The People’s Republic ~ ##E A R £ F1E
of China (“PRC") (T E) 55,818 25,899 221,160 227,978
The Netherlands 177 B8 52,649 30,647 - =
Sri Lanka BB 44,382 42,547 3,955 4,448
Spain I 13,796 30,150 - -
Canada mex 37,946 14,747 - =
Germany = 36,060 21,251 - =
France po 29,957 21,379 - =
Italy BAA 7,857 8434 - =
Mexico iy 15,685 11,838 - =
Thailand Zx - - 98,593 128,441
Cambodia R - - 17,185 3,234
Myanmar i) - - 12,898 14,266
Indonesia EIfe - = 24,735 19,308
Others Hth 72,529 33,421 - =
1,481,592 1,428,532 402,296 420,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Information about major customers

(BREEHRAEIN

4 WARDSEBEEHR

(b) EEFEFZEHN

B LA TR

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REGAEBEHEEETEIWALEZERP
total sales of the Group are as follows: ZWAT
1 | |
2022 2021
—E-—F —_EF-—
$’000 $'000
T Tt
. ! 1 ! |
Customer A EPA 583,452 678,315
Customer B =B 406,013 356,556
OTHER NET INCOME 5 Hthw A FHE

2022
—E=-=

$'000

Frx

2021
—_F_—

$'000

Tz

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

HEWE - BE K&k WS

— a property (note (i) —— AW (KT 5E0) - 27,868

- other plant and equipment —HEME k& - 137
Government grants (note (i) B8 #28 B (B (i) ) 3,143 11,857
Gross rental income from investment WEYEBHESWA

properties 12,169 8,921
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment BEMENFEE(BE) =

properties (note 12) (FfF5E12) (1,679) 3,686
Sample income B A 424 1,471
Interest income from loans to R T — L QA HE A

an associate F B U A 862 335
Interest income from banks RITH B A 313 224
Fair value loss on derivative financial MEEMIEZ A FEEEE

instrument - (1)
Derecognition of derivative financial HIEERTE2 T A (H:E150))

instrument (note 15(b)) (1,402) -
Revaluation loss upon transfer of HEYE  WERREHEMERE

property, plant and equipment - (1,337)
Others H A, 3,973 3,453

17,803 56,614

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

5 OTHER NET INCOME (continued)

Note:

(0]

(i)

During the year ended 30 June 2022, no disposal of a self-owned
property (2021: the Group disposed of a self-owned property with net
book value of $Nil to an independent third party at a consideration
of $28,000,000 resulting in a net gain on disposal of $27,868,000 after
netting of the related transaction costs).

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group received government
grants of $3,143,000 (2021: $11,857,000) from the Mainland China
and Hong Kong Government, of which $1,784,000 (2021: $6,661,000)
represents funding support from the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Hong Kong Government.

For government subsidies from the Mainland China government, there
were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to
the receipts of these government subsidies. There is no assurance that
the Group will continue to receive such government subsidies in the
future.

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

5 HAFE®

B

i) REBEE-Z-_—_FXA=1tBLFER &
SETENEAEME (CTE=Z—F : A&H
LA X f828,000,0007C [Al — B B E = F HE R
EFEATSTHNEEDE MKREBRSK
K& - HEF U E A27,868,0007T) ©

iy REBEZZE-_—_FA=THLFE &A&H
U B R B K RE K S BT O R T 4 B3,143,000
TT(=—Z = —% :11,857,00070) * E 1,784,000
TT(—ZF = —4F :6,661,00070) B & B BT &
VB RENEES THREEIFENES
PR

B BR8P BKBE B B DR T R BG - 3f E E
U B 3% 55 KA 4 B A B8 ) R e O MR 1 e B
3 E B - BT RE AR BN R IKA A&
WERZ E BT BE -

6 FRBAImA
MBATEFE IR GEA) AT S :

2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—F
$’000 $'000
Fr T

I . I

(a) Finance costs (a) MBEAR

Interest expense on bank borrowings RITBEZFERX 1,659 1,068
Interest on lease liabilities HESBEWNE 1,966 1,308
Other bank charges HmmiRITE A 4,259 4470
7,884 6,846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

6

(BREEHRAEIN

BR Bt AT A ()

BE AN, GEA) L& IE ¢

B LA TR

2022 2021
— == —E-—fF
$’000 $'000
Frx Tt
I . Y
(b) Staff costs (b) & T RXA
Staff costs, including directors’ BIXA(BEESHE)
emoluments (note) (B 3E) 487,926 481,853
Equity-settled share-based payment AR = A B AR (D
expenses REMHNIT R 1,037 162
Provision for retirement benefits RRENEBRE
obligations (note 23) (FfF3E23) 367 1,219
Reversal of over-provision for severance EABRBEREGRLD
payments - (953)
489,330 482,281
(c) Otheritems () HfbEH
Auditors’ remuneration 1Z 2L RN B & 1,790 1,983
Depreciation charges TEEA
— owned property, plant and —BENYE
equipment 5 K 28,229 32,682
- right-of-use assets —[EREEE 17,143 18,526
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 R EERORE
receivables B8 o (51) (2,274)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BER
equipment B B 1R 866 -
Net allowance for obsolete inventories PREFEREFE
(included in cost of sales) (BETASEHEKA) 9,153 1,977
Cost of inventories recognised as an EERAEAX ZFERAR
expense 1,198,511 1,188,576
Net exchange loss bE 5 B 1B R 5,447 10,626
Expense relating to short-term leases EHAEHEENRAS 2,833 2,087
Expense relating to leases of low-value FHREBEEEHEENRAX
assets 167 395
Note: Mt 5

Details of directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in note 7.

Staff costs included amounts in respect of defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes contributions of $25,165,000 (2021: $26,274,000).

EEHBEEREARAR

T FFER

BTRATESINE 2 BN E7HEE -

BT ABIES @R EH—FORKEN B HRNE

%E25,165,0007T (=& = —4F : 26,274,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors

Details of emoluments paid or payable by the Group to
the Directors (including Non-executive Directors) disclosed
pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

7 EEREEMS
(a) E=
BIEEH B QD RHEHI 38318 KA 7 (#
BEEMmER) ROIE2HMHRELRE
BEfMNKENES (BEEH %)
ZEFBERT

P

1T=

2022 2021
—E—-— —E-—1fF
$’000 $'000
Frx Tz
. 1 | |
Fees to non-executive directors ERNTEE S 1,200 =
Remuneration to executive directors: HTEEME :
— Salaries and other benefits — ¥ & K E AR F 8,811 8,603
— Discretionary bonus —BETEAL 4,936 =
— Share-based payments — ARG AERE A 54 26
— Retirement benefit scheme — RORREFIET B R
contributions 54 54
Total directors’ emoluments EEMeRT 15,055 8,683

For the year ended 30 June 2022

BE-B--EXRBZTHLEE

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other Discretionary  Share-based scheme
Fees benefits bonus payments contributions Total

HER NRGA  RHKER
Name of director BESpF we | HAER 0 BETL  EBROZM FEMAR @it
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i i i i

! ! ! ! | | | |

Wong Chung Chong BilE - 3,411 - - 18 3,429
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BN - 2,700 2,468 27 18 5213
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BHE - 2,700 2,468 27 18 5213
Fung Wai Yiu BiE= 200 - - - - 200
Lucas AM. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys 200 - - - - 200
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 4654 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert R E 200 - - - - 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy MER 200 - - - - 200
1,200 8,811 4,936 54 54 15,055

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the
year ended 30 June 2022.

REBEE-_ZE-_—FA=THILEE
HMEEERETMNE -

Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEREEME @
(continued)

(a) Directors (continued) (a) EE%H)

For the year ended 30 June 2021
BE_T_—§/A=TRHL%E

Retirement
benefit
Salariesand  Discretionary  Share-based scheme
Fees  other benefits bonus payments  contributions Total
2R WBHE  RKER
Name of director BSNA ik H 7 MERL  EROSA sTEIfE @it
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000
Tr Tr T T T Tr
! ! ! ! | | | |
Wong Chung Chong MR o 3327 - - 18 3345
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin ERR - 2638 - 13 18 2,669
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BHE - 2638 - 13 18 2669
Fung Wai Yiu fiet=2 - - - - - -
Lucas AM. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys = = = = = =
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde - - - - - -
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Riz ik - - - - - -
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert R = = = = = =
Lin Sun Mo, Willy MEH = = = = = =
- 8,603 - 26 54 8,683
All the non-executive directors and independent REBEE T - —F<A=1+HIEE
non-executive directors waived their entitlements to all FrEENTESRBIYIIERNTESY
their emoluments during the year ended 30 June 2021. EHREHEZEHMEET -

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEREEME @

(continued)

(b) Employees (b) EE
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEBRUKSFALH = (=ZF
Group, three (2021: three) were Directors of the Company Z—F M) RARAES  FE
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. MEEE EXHE - HBMAU(ZF
The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: two) Z—F M) AT ZBENT

individuals were as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= =
$’000 $'000
F5 Ft
. /1 | |
Salaries and other benefits o hEAMmBET 3,950 4,255
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 2,489 600
Share-based payments VARR 19 7% ZE 5t 1 =2 1+ 257 8
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R k& A 51 & 4 7 36 36
6,732 4,899
The emoluments were within the following bands: MeEENT

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
—E-= —=E—

I I Y
$2,000,001 - $2,500,000 2,000,0017T - 2,500,0007T - 1
$2,500,001 - $3,000,000 2,500,001 7T - 3,000,0007T - 1
$3,000,001 - $3,500,000 3,000,0017T - 3,500,0007T 1 -
$3,500,001 - $4,000,000 3,500,0017T - 4,000,0007T 1 -

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

8 INCOME TAX 8 MM
I Y
2022 2021
—E=-= - —F
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
I . I
Current tax: AREABLIE ¢
Hong Kong BB 2,665 3,021
Other jurisdictions HAb R AR 5,247 471
7,912 3,492
Under/(over)-provision of BEFEXRABIE
current tax in prior years: LEBE S (BEBE)
Hong Kong B (4) 1)
Other jurisdictions H AR AR 26 M)
22 (22)
Deferred taxation (note 24) EER 8 (KfiEE24)
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ E4XREEERER
differences (206) 1336
Income tax expense P8 & 7,728 4,806

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the

—EC_FNEENGHBRRRAFE
B b St E ST R R BA165% (Z T = — &

year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first $2 million of assessable profits are
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary
was calculated at the same basis in 2021.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

ERMEBEBERAR T _FFR

165%) MR R E  HEAKE -—RHMBEQ
ARSI - EREANGHME GBS ERER -

FZKMB AR TS © B2000,0007T FE A F
M 128.25%H) B R 4N Y - T L 4 pE ST B AE
AIIZ165%M B EMB - RZT = —F - %
MEARREBFISHBE T IRERELE
BEFRCEMSHEREERMA - R
B [ /88 2 Bl 2 Tt A25% ©

B ft 7% 2 LI T AR AR D RDA
ZRATBEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

8 INCOME TAX (continued) 8 FBHw@®
The tax expense for the year is reconciled to the profit before FEHERYBGEERER ZBRT AR F
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as EERINT ¢
follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
I . I
Profit before taxation B Bt A& A 19,216 11,951
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rates &2 &8 M{SH L K518 2 F 18 2,024 1,683
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MR mE el RS E 2
for tax purposes B 2,864 1,790
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ FLFLHS M 5 BB R BAZ
puUrposes Wy (682) (7,504)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RERHISE B Z HBZE 4,428 10,074
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B A SRl %ﬁﬁm %S EE 2
previously not recognised Mgz 2 (1,682) (1,583)
Tax effect of temporary differences not  RIER LR EZRE I HIBETE
recognised 546 174
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFELEBE(BEEH) 22 (22)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FA E fth BIARE R AL & 2
operating in other jurisdictions MERRMENR 2 208 194
Income tax expense for the year FAMREHAX 7,728 4,806
9 DIVIDENDS 9 KRE
The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the EESIRFRTIHBE ST -_—_EFEK—
year ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. E_—FRNAZ+THLEFEEMRZERS
AR o

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE 10 SREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to equity R B 2 IR FE L B I E AN & R T AR IR
shareholders of the Company is based on the following data: T EREHE -

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
$’000 $'000

Frx Tt

Profit attributable to equity shareholders FRAGTE SRR EAREF| 2
of the Company for the purpose of N AR R R PR A i
computing basic earnings per share 3,550 2,797

I
Number of shares
RHEE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
I . I

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FALAGTESREAREF 2
shares for the purpose of computing LA N 19 2

basic earnings per share 301,052,675 257,375,668
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2022 and REE—_ZE-—_—F~A=+tHE_-_ZT—
30 June 2021 are same as the basic earnings per share as the == Jr HIFEER BiRESEEFHE
share options outstanding during the respective years had an FREARBANER  BERANZEHBEE
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share. NETEIINNERESERERNZNEL

TREBIER -

SESERERAT —To—FER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 YE -BERRKE
I I I T D I D D
Ownership
interests in

leasehold land

and buildings Other
held for own properties
Freehold  use carriedat leased for own Furniture,
landand  depreciated  use carried Leasehold fixturesand Motor  Construction
buildings cost atcost improvements  equipment vehicles inprogress Total
LT
NERER
fifEH gaa

RELHR  SIERER
KARE  BYeH MREM  AEMR B
tHERT RRERE MR k KERGA nE ERIE e
$000 §000 /000 §000 $/000 /000 §000 $/000
1 i i i i i i i
I S S S S S S S S

Cost: A

At July 200 NZF-FELA-A 26042 73153 4469 81222 385,84 12358 6,174 631469
Currency realignment R A (177 (1499) 264 (13 (3,759) (167) (59) (5.409)
Additons e 4 3 8500 1514 06% - 11641 78
Wite-offdisposal fis/tg - 617) - 104 (15697 (23) - (20851)
Reclassfication EEipL - 14,260 - (276 1,541 - (15525) -
Transferfrom property, plant~~ E11% - BERiR/E

andequipmentfoinvestment ~ BERENE

properties - (14260) - - - - - (14.260)
At30June 2021 7907 71 53460 78383 388611 11958 131 633731
At1 July 2001 R=2--£¢f-H 27,907 na 53,460 78383 388,611 11,958 231 633,731
Curency realignment EisnE (#18) (3,584) (1452) (977) (14,689) (366) (203) (21,689)
Additons HE - 290 11,948 10,449 13,720 - 78 36,485
Wite-offdisposdls fis/tE - - - (15,419) 8311) - - (23,730)
Reclassifcation ENnE - - - - 210 - (270) -
Transferfrom property, plant. B340 * BE RitE

andequipment toinvestment~ EERENE

properties - (5337) - - - - - (5337)
At30 June 2022 i S B o2 27,489 62,590 63,956 72,3% 379,601 11,592 1,836 619,460

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

11 Y% BERRXE®

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

EEHBEEREARAR

Ownership
interests in
leasehold land

and buildings Other
held for own properties
Freehold  usecarriedat leased for own Furniture,
landand  depreciated  use carried Leasehold  fixtures and Motor  Construction
buildings cost atcost improvements  equipment vehicles  inprogress Total
RiFBAK
NERER
fisah gaA
BELHR  SIERER
KAxE  BFPH mEEN  BENR B
THERT  HAEEE  AfNR B VE RE  HBIR i
000 §000 000 000 000 000 §000 000
i 2 S 7 O - RO - T . TN L T
] ] | J | | | |
Depreciation and impairment: 1 E R :
At 1 July 2020 R-Z-FErA-A 8446 50,726 12370 63418 255,293 9,507 - 399,760
Currency realignment EHHE ) (540) (426) 102 (1.444) (257) - (2589
Charge for the year REEER 1353 2498 15065 5776 5174 1342 - 51,08
Fliminated on write-offdisposals B3/ H R M Bt - 817 - (4104 (14970) (13 - (0124
Redlssfication N - 18 - (19) - - = -
Transferfrom property, plant~~ E11% * BERiRE
andequipment foinvestment ~ EERENE
properties - (102 - - - - - (102
L RERCEAACTE. e S8 L L SO a3 W T e
At 1 July 2021 RZB=-FtA-A 9,776 51,783 27,009 65,174 264,053 10,359 - 428,154
Currency realignment RS (78) (1355) (1,141) (548) (7,778) (320 - (11,220
Charge forthe year KEFER 219 202 14471 592 21,940 93 - 4531
Fliminated on write-offosposals B3/ H E RS iR - - - (14,581) (8,006) - - (22,587)
Reclassfcation EipL - - - - - - - -
Transferfrom property, plant B4 - BE RitE
andequipmenttonvestment ~ ERRENE
properties - (3,175) - - - - - (3,175)
M30ne22 RORCCRAAZIA . oas 039 ¥ W e T 65
Net hook value: REFE:
At 30 June 2022 R-B-"#7A=1H 17,512 13315 2,617 16,424 109,392 760 1,836 182,916
At30 June 2021 R=B=-%7A=1A 18,131 19438 26451 13,169 124558 1599 231 25577

TEFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 11 VE- -BERSZE®

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by FREEERABEESEESHEE
class of underlying asset is as follows: EFESNTAT :

2022 2021

—E=-= T4

Notes $'000 $'000
B 5 Frx Tz

Ownership interests in leasehold A E AMFA/EE i
land and buildings held forown N2 KB A #
use, carried at depreciated cost in ~ #E2%  IHITERAK A
Hong Kong, with remaining lease ~ 5II{& * &S -

term of: FIsRHE A -
— between 10 and 50 years — 102504 - 6

Ownership interests in leasehold BB A MFAEMNEE it

land and buildings held for MEFHHERE
own use, carried at depreciated Rz - RPN
cost outside Hong Kong, with FIME - BB LA
remaining lease term of: FAMEENA
— 50 years or more —50F sk A 362 2,540
— between 10 and 50 years —10&504F 12,953 16,892
(i) 13,315 19,438
Other properties leased for own AEAMEENEAM
use, carried at depreciated cost W - IRIT R AN B (i) 23,617 26,451
Motor vehicles, carried at B IRITERA ARSI E
depreciated cost (ii) 640 1,341
24,257 27,792
Ownership interests in leasehold ~ R EREWHEFH
investment property, carried at B REER -
fair value, with remaining ZATEENE -
lease term of: FAHERA
— 50 years or more —505F 3 A £ 6,791 =
— between 10 and 50 years —10Z=504F 143,540 149,000
~ within 10 years — 10X 12,898 12,821
163,229 161,821
200,801 209,051

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

11 VE -BERSKE®
(a) EFRAEEE®)
REESERENERNEXIEL SN

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: (N
I Y
2022 2021
—E=-= - —F
$’000 $'000
Fr T
I . Y
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEEMITEER -
assets by class of underlying asset: EHEBEE S :
Ownership interests in leasehold land ~~ REE i RIEFHH
and buildings HEAERER 2,022 2,498
Other properties leased for own use AERAMBEENEmYE 14,471 15,065
Motor vehicles TE 650 963
17,143 18,526
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEBBENFE (o) 1,966 1,308
Expense relating to short-term leases FACHEENRX 2,833 2,087
Expense relating to leases of low-value HBEEKEEEERENHX
assets 167 395

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
$11,948,000 (2021: $8,883,000). This amount primarily
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under
new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(c) and 21
respectively.

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR

RAFRER EREEENENS
11,948,0007C (= & = — 4 : 8,883,000
L) cREBMEBRARREHEEGZE
ENEHEACRE R -

FAHERReREMEEa E2 8
B 5 #7 B9 515 9 Bl E5 B 5E18(c) A0 BT
5F21 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and

buildings held for own use

The Group holds several industrial buildings as
factories where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the
right-of-use, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease, other
than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the relevant

government authorities.

(ii)  Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use of other
properties as its warehouses and factories through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an

initial period of three to fifteen years.

(iii) Motor vehicles

The Group leases motor vehicles under leases
expiring from one to four years. None of the leases

includes variable lease payments.

(b) Transfer from land and buildings to investment

properties

During the year ended 30 June 2022, due to the change of
use, part of the Group's land and buildings with net book
value of $2,162,000 (2021: $14,158,000) was transferred
to investment properties. Upon the date of transfer, the
fair value was determined by directors with reference to
the professional valuations using cost approach and were
categorised as Level 3 fair value measurement as defined
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The fair value as at the
date of transfer was determined to be $6,791,000 (2021:
$12,821,000). Accordingly, revaluation gain of $4,629,000
was recognised in other comprehensive income

(2021: revaluation loss of $1,337,000 was recognised in

consolidated statement of profit or loss).

1M1 YE- - BERRKE®
(a) ERAREE®
() BEFAMEFEHEELHMEIE

FHE G BB
AEEBEETIEETIETR -
HEERMEEMRZERT .
REBAZSMERSOTME
BEA BEABIHBTSZH
HE2BHHH - AREFEEES
EOASEELERN—BEHRE -
BETHHASKE  BUAEEK
e B ENEREmEERE
BB EARENR - %
SHEAREY WALNTHE
BHAER -

(i) BEAMHEEREMYF
AREDEBBEEHENEGH
e (ERERERTR) ML
RE - HENEEAR-RKRA/=
Et+HF-

(i) JTE
AEEREAP—Z=ZNFMNHEE
HAARE -HEM TEETEA
ET5REE o

(b) AT REBFETREWE

RBEE-—Z-—_—FA=1HILEE
W-BHREHRAZ At "REBEER
M F1E 42,162,000 (ZF = —F :
14,158,0007T) KIEB 0 T RIEFE & 1E
REYE REHEBH AFEERH
EZ2EEEGEET BEMGED
FRKANRET EDEABRBNK
WEEBBRIATFEEFEIFR
ENE=RAFEBEFTE - REREA
HI R A B B 1 T 46,791,0007T (=
T = — 4 :12821,0007T) ° Atk B
b 2 TE o 2R A i 7R EE i K 254,629,000
TL(ZZE=—F  ERGAERERNE
REHE181,337,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

12 REYE

2022 2021
—E-= — T —F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
I . I
Fair value RFEE
At the beginning of the year REA] 161,821 132,467
Currency realignment bE W A (3,704) 12,847
Transfer from property, plant and B - BE &R
equipment to investment properties HAKREWZE (M5E11(0)
(note 11(b)) 6,791 12,821
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment BEMENFEE(BE) =
properties (1,679) 3,686
At the end of the year 4R 163,229 161,821
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 30 June NEFBEKEYWEN ST -_—FE,A=1H

2022 and 30 June 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group. The valuation of investment
properties located in Shenzhen was arrived at using the
investment approach by taking into account the current passing
rents of the properties being held under existing tenancies
and the reversionary potential of the tenancies if they have
been or would be let to tenant. The valuation of investment
properties located in Foshan and Myanmar was arrived at using
the depreciated replacement cost approach with reference to its
depreciated replacement costs.

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties.

All investment properties of the Group are situated on land
outside of Hong Kong.

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR

RZB-_ R A=1THZRAFEE T
REEASEYEBEE LB IERAER
MEMLAARTEAERARETZHE
EEE URFRITHREDENEET
RAREZET HERSEEERRA
BMOFBYEEeATRBEATEP 2B

THEMEZRTHEERBEOZEREN -
SRR I T AN REY XN EHET R
AITBREERALET EFCL2EEN
PREEKA -

RELEHERAUNRRES HEE AL
BEzASEMBYNEESIERAAFER
BAHE DB AMARINEREDE -

REBPREREMEAUR
-

ERENAINN L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

12

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

AR AR

Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s

properties measured at the end of the reporting period on

a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value

hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is

determined with reference to the observability and significance

of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations:

— Level 2 valuations:

— Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

12 REWE &)

AV EERR
TREINEEHAREREERH B
ARENEATEE KEATERERE
BRI MR BN AT EELE] R
RZ=EAFREBRHE - A FRES

BZEENE

4L 52

AL 2

Z BB Bl AT B B A BR

BZUBERENERLEENT

B fHE :
B HEE
F=RAHE

{BIAZE — s A2z (A
HRAEEXRBERE
BHEERMESH 2R
HAEBBE)FEZRAF
EfE

A — s A2z (D
TRHaE—RzA8E
WARE) BTERE
KT A B R 8 ARE
AAEBZAFEE A
BB ABBRELE
BHEEDSBEZH A
E287:3

EREAMTAEEE
ABUBFT & 2 RF(EE

Recurring fair value
measurement

Investment properties:

— Industrial - PRC

— Industrial - Myanmar

— Residential - PRC

Fair value

at 30 June

2022
R-B-Z

RA=tHZ

AVEE

BEMDAVEENE

REWE

—T¥-FH 139,443
—T¥%-Ma 12,898
—FE-—FH 10,888

Fair value measurements
as at 30 June 2022 categorised into

THENR=_BE-_=ZFXA=1+H2

AFEEE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

B—& B F=R
$'000 $’000 $’000
T T T

139,443
- 12,898
- 10,888

®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12 REWYWH @)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEERER @
| | |
Fair value
at 30 June Fair value measurements
2021 as at 30 June 2021 categorised into
R-ZF_—%F
~NA=1+HZ THEIN —_E-_—FA=F+HZ
NFEEE NEEEFE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— E-& E=M
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
¥ ¥ ¥ ¥
I Y Y Y R
Recurring fair value REMALEEFTE
measurement
Investment properties: TEYE
— Industrial - PRC —IT¥—FHE 137,714 = = 137,714
— Industrial - Myanmar —T¥—ff 12,821 - - 12,821
— Residential - PRC —FE-% 11,286 = = 11,286

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

w3 /\ﬁﬂz%i&% Mj%%

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

12

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12 BREWHE @)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EBRE=RAFEETFEZEHR

Unobservable input -

Unobservable input - Reversionary potential monthly
Capitalisation rate rent per square meter
TUEZERAEE - AUBEBAHE -
ER{te®E EREESTLKRAHA
Weighted Weighted
Range average Range Average
gE ML &5 mEE
] | | |
Investment properties R-ZE--—§XHA=+H
as at 30 June 2022 ZRENE
- Industrial - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — L% — R BRI 1.75% to 2.25% 2.21% RMB91.6 RMB93.3
to RMB94.3
1.75%%2.25% AR¥91.6LE AR¥933%
AR®9a37
- Residential - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — £ — R BRI 1.5% to 2.0% 1.90% RMB90.5 RMB92.7
to RMB96.3
1.5%%2.0% AR®905tZE AR¥271
AR#96.37

| |
Unobservable input - Depreciated
replacement cost per square meter
TUBREGAYE -
BYARTHEEME
Weighted
Range Average

HE ¥
| ! | |

~ Industrial - Foshan, PRC — THE—FBE#HLT RMB855 RMB926
to RMB977

AR¥S55TE  ARW926%
ARM977 70

— Industrial - Myanmar - I1%-{a UsD217 UsD280
to USD286

217ETE 280% T
286% T

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12 BEWHE @)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEHEE=RATLEEFEZER (&)

(continued)

Unobservable input -

Unobservable input - Reversionary potential monthly
Capitalisation rate rent per square meter
DA B R ABE - TABEHASE -
BARbH = EHEEESTAHKRKAR
Weighted Weighted
Range average Range Average
(i MiEFH 1 MEFH
[ S S N N N
Investment properties R-B--%XA=+H
as at 30 June 2021 ZREME
- Industrial - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — L% —H BRI 1.75% to 2.25% 217% RMBS88.6 RMB89.6
to RMB91.2
1.75%Z2.25% ARMseLE  ARB86T
AR#91.27T
~ Residential - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — £ £ — BRI 1.5% to 2.0% 1.81% RMBS7.6 RMBS9.7
to RMB93.2
1.5%%2.0% AREg1oE  ARBSIT
AE®9327T

Unobservable input — Depreciated
replacement cost per square meter

TABREASE -
BEARTBREBKAR
Weighted
Range Average
#E INHEF
! | | |
~ Industrial - Myanmar - I%-@a UsD219 USD280
to USD285
219X E 280 TT
28570

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

w3 /\ﬁﬂvq%$&%§ BT#%I

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

12

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Shenzhen is
determined by discounting a projected rental income series
associated with the properties using risk-adjusted capitalisation
rates. The valuation takes into account the current passing rents
and the reversionary potentials and expected occupancy rate
of the respective properties. The capitalisation rates used have
been adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings
and the tenant credit quality. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the reversionary potential rent and
negatively correlated to the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

The fair value of investment properties located in Foshan and
Myanmar is determined by using the depreciated replacement
cost approach which is based on an estimate of the value for
the existing use of the land, plus the current gross replacement
(reproduction) costs of the improvements, less allowances for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence
and optimisation. The application of depreciated replacement
cost approach is mainly due to their lack of active market and
comparable transactions for the use of market approach and the
lack of sufficient financial data for income approach for these
assets. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the

depreciated replacement cost per square meter.

12 REWE &)

FHE=RAVEEFEZER @

MR ARINTORENEZ AFEERTIERR
R EER L KRR — R Ry X
HEAZBEABRERAETE - G EFRIEH
MEZRTHERERBNARFERLA
RKoFRAEA L EERBTER Iith
HMARBEFEEERFHAR A FEE
FAEREREEHESNIELL  BERERH
BEERMe KRR

RFHLUTERAGNRENEN R FHER
DERFTHREBERANEEE  THEENX
RETRBELMWAABENGEEE N
FEHEETIENEREE (BR) KRR -
BRENERBRMAARBEARE X
BEENBRE RLABEERRTHRE
ERAE BEBZRERAMSEARFRZ
ABMERABELERR 5 REAKAE
RRZAEMBHIE A FPEEAEEST
FHARFHREEXANZERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(continued)

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

12 BREWE &)
BEHEE=RATLEEFEZER (&)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 FAN ZEF=RLAFEBEAESZEHE
fair value measurements are as follows: BT :
] | | |
Investment Investment Investment
properties properties properties
- industrial - industrial - residential
- Myanmar -PRC -PRC Total
REME REM*E REME
-I¥%¥ -I¥ —fi%
— e — — @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
5 5 7 F 5
[ S S N N N
At 1 July 2020 RZE-EF+H—H = 121,873 10,594 132,467
Currency realignment EFL?JEJ%I = 11,819 1,028 12,847
Fair value adjustment NEEEAE = 4,022 (336) 3,686
Transferred from property, — H¥1% » BB K& E
plant and equipment to BIREME
investment properties 12,821 - - 12,821
At 30 June 2021 RZEZ—F,H=+1H 12,821 137,714 11,286 161,821
At 1 July 2021 RZE-—F+H—H 12,821 137,714 11,286 161,821
Currency realignment b 5 F & - (3,423) (281) (3,704)
Fair value adjustment NEEEAE 77 (1,639) (117) (1,679)
Transferred from property,  FM¥% « BE R&fE
plant and equipment to BIREME
investment properties - 6,791 - 6,791
At 30 June 2022 R-ZTE-—%€XA=+H 12,898 139,443 10,888 163,229
Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in KEMEZATFEBEABRREGEEERKRZ

the line item “other net income” on the face of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 6 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease
payment terms that are based on the revenue of tenants.

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR

[ E A Y A JF R | 1R

AEERBELEHEHBEREME -HE
M EEBAR—RAMENT  WAIRZA
BEEBET ERN AR EENE
H-ETHERERBEEPWRAETENA
BREN R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
Group in future periods as follows:

12 BREWE &)
BEHEE=HATLEEFTEZER ®)

RmERH NEERED T ZHTAH
HRERERN R RARE BRI ARITRA
EfEMT

2022 2021
—E-= e

$'000 $'000
F5 Ft

I . Y
Within 1 year — R 10,570 9,900
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFEA 2,976 9,259
After 2 year but within 3 years MEBRB=FA 1,733 1,610
After 3 year but within 4 years = FBENFA 1,536 209
After 4 years Mg 18,308 =
35,123 20,978

Property rental income earned during the year was $12,169,000
(2021: $8,921,000). All of the properties held have committed
tenants for the next 1 to 4 years.

RERBERZMERS WA A12,1690007T
—E - —5 :8921,0007T) ° FiEHE 22
YIERAR—ZNEDERFAM -
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EEHBEEREARAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group's interest in a joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

13 R—BEERTA RS

AEBERE B AR Z s (EAEREANER
SHBRERAR) FEHINWOT

Effective

Particulars  percentage of
of issued and equity interest Principal
paid-up capital held Activity

ERITR FriEkiEZ
BEREFHE BERBESL FEXH

Place of

incorporation

Name of joint venture and business

AR L &%

SERARER BRI

Charming Elastic Fabric Company Limited Hong Kong
("Charming”)

FERERTHERERAR ([HE]) i

Ordinary - 49%  Manufacture of
$4,662,396 elastic garment

straps
Epcl e 49% HEKKAZRR

4,662,3967T

The Group has entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Agreement”) with New Horizon International
Investments Limited (“New Horizon"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Best Pacific International Holdings Limited, on 4 November
2015. According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group
shall have the right to dispose of part or all of its interest in
Charming to New Horizon from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022. The
Group has not exercised such right upon expiring of such right.

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, the substantive operating
and financing decisions related to Charming are under the
joint control by the Group and New Horizon when the Group’s
shareholding in Charming is 20% or above. As a result, the Group
account for its interest in Charming as a joint venture both in
2021 and 2022.

TEFFR

RZE—RAF+—ANA AEEHEBR
BRERBR AR 22BN B R & EER
EIREBRAR (DEED FT R B (1R
Ripal) BEBRBGZH A5SEEER
ZEEFtLA—BEZT=F-A
= THHRARMBELEEREE 239 K
EHER - HNEAREMNERE  NEBD
REITEBAER -

RIRAR R W aE - in 2S5 [ R 45 R 7 B 20%3k
NERE EEABCEELERABER
REBASBERBELXBES Bt - B
TR GFRIFIF CAEEREE
ZHERARINAEERT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

w3 /\Z'»ﬂvq%i&% BT#%I

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

13

AR AR

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

Summarised financial information of Charming, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, are

disclosed below:

13 R—BEERFIZERE®
FGE2HBERN EReHBREsfMz
ERRAE)MERBEATBERENZEE
BEHERBENT

2022 2021
—EB-— —EF -
$’000 $'000
Fr Tt
I . I
Gross amounts of Charming’s THFEEEE 245
Current assets e & E 53,352 44,925
Non-current assets EMEBEE 14,399 17,314
Current liabilities nBEE (11,627) (9,369)
Equity g (56,124) (52,870)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: i EE & BES K
Cash and cash equivalents HekReSHEIER 15,267 6,758
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade REBS R BE (T BIEE FER
and other payables and provisions) BR X % At FE £ BR SR A R B ) (2,221) (1,365)
Revenue WA 84,771 64,561
Profit from continuing operations REAFELEEB BB R
after taxation 7,465 6,101
Other comprehensive income Hibh 2 E W (711) 4,728
Total comprehensive income 2 H K= LR 6,754 10,829
Included in the above profit: FaUEFEE K
Depreciation and amortisation e kN 2,001 2,471
Reconciled to the Group’sinterestin  EERNEE G FEBEE R 2 H IR
Charming
Gross amounts of Charming's net assets 45 2 BE R EAT 56,124 52,870
Group's effective interest AEEZE R R 49% 49%
Group's share of Charming’s net assets AKEEMGABEZEEFE 27,501 25,907
Disproportionate share of undistributed I FEAR LI 515 2 R 9 R g )
profits (Note) (P 7E) 680 1,558
Carrying amount in the consolidated Nére M Bk 2 REE
financial statements 28,181 27,465

Note: According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group is entitled to

P &E

60% of the dividend to be declared for the years ended 30 June 2016
and 2017 irrespective for the change in shareholding as mentioned

above.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, dividend of $2,593,000
was received from joint venture, which was declared out of the
distributable profit for the years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2020.

RIERRGE  ASBEAREDRAEE—
E-RER_ZE-—EtFRNA=ZTHLFE
FiT S 5k 3 AR B 2.60% + 1 i L it AR A 2
) o

RBE_ZT_—_FNA=+HLEER"
IR B A & A A% B.2,593,0007T « H TH &,
E_E—XNFRNAZTHE-_Z_ZFFX

A=+ B IEFENA S EANERE MK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

14 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 14 REtERT 2R
I Y
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
I . I
Group's share of net assets NEBOIEEEFE 3,955 4448
Loans to an associate RET—EBERFTNER 21,290 19,308
25,245 23,756
The loans to an associate are unsecured, interest bearing at a REF—HEABERAANERSERR &
rate of 3% to 5% per annum and are repayable within two years FFR3pB5%:TEF B - WHRS B BIR
from the respective drawn down dates. B HHEARERNEE -
Details of the Group's interest in associates, which are accounted REBREE N Al 2w (FRERENE
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial SHBHERAR)GFIBEHINWOT :

statements, are as follows:

Effective
Place of Particulars  percentage of
incorporation of issued and equity interest Principal
Name of associate and business paid-up capital held Activity
AR L K% ERITR FiEREZ
NI BEME BRREFEE BB FEXH
I N I A R
Techspase (Private) Limited Sri Lanka Ordinary — 25% Moulding and
R~ USD2,000,000 laminating
R — business
2,000,000 7T BREER
SBREK
PT Bintang Abadi Persada Indonesia Ordinary — Rp 29.6% Manufacture of
ENfe 1,420,000,000 ladies’ underwear
R — HEEREAR
1,420,000,000
Ee&E

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

15 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a)

(b)

Equity securities designated at FVOCI
(non-recycling)

15 HittSWEE
(a EERULFEESEEEEH

FFAHEMEEYE (T 8E)
R E 5

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
$'000 $'000

T Tt

Unlisted equity securities

JEEmiERE S

2,838 2,838

The Group designated the investment in equity securities
at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investment is held for
strategic purposes.

The unlisted equity securities are shares in a company
incorporated in the PRC and engaged in trading of ladies’
underwear in the PRC. The directors of the Group consider
the fair value of this investment is $2,838,000 (2021:
$2,838,000) as at 30 June 2022.

Derivative financial instrument

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement mentioned
in note 13, the Group is entitled the right to exercise its
option (“the Exit Option”) to require New Horizon to buy
out all or part of the issued shares of Charming held by
the Group at any time during the period of two years
from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022 at a price set out in the
Shareholders’ Agreement. The Exit Option is recognised as
a derivative financial instrument at fair value through profit
or loss as at 30 June 2021. As the Group has not exercised
the Exit Option upon expiry, the Group derecognised such
derivative financial instrument of $1,402,000 to profit or
loss for the year ended 30 June 2022.

HRATRENRREEOMEA -
Bt - "EBEATERREFRER
ERARFEEFELEZEHAAR
2w (A &) -

FETREZFSFAE RN PREM
RN HARKRG  EERBRETR
HAKBS AEEEFRE K=
T__FXRNA=1TH ZEBREHNA
(B (E 52,838,000 (=T = — £ :
2,838,0007T) °

(b) $fTEE®MIT A

BEM 13t 2 RR B A&
ERENR_ZE_ZTEFLtA—HE-Z
T RNA=ZTHAZWMEARNRERITE
HEEg ((ROEER]D) 208
BRE R ERRE RSB AR
BEREEHBATLEETRGE - R
T —FRA=1+H BEHBREERE
REULNATEEFTEBHEEZH AR
ENTESRIT A ARAEEEE
MR RETER L EEE AL
AEFBEREBEE_ZT_—_F~A=+
HIEFE KB BITAE S T A1,402,000
TLER IETER BB o
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16 INVENTORIES

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

16 F&
(a) HEMBERRERAZEERSRE :

Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

2022 2021

—E-= —EF-—

$'000 $'000

T Tt
I I I
Raw materials R 61,112 102,820
Work in progress 85 50,074 60,229
Finished goods BIRK Gh 63,709 92,819
174,895 255,868

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in profit

or loss is as follows:

BOoMfME :

b) BRRAMIAFARBZFES

2022 2021
—g=-= —F——
$’000 $'000
T Tt
. ! 1 ! |
Carrying amount of inventories sold EERFECERAEE 1,198,511 1,188,576
Allowance for obsolete inventories [REFERE 9,153 8,565
Reversal of allowance for obsolete REFERFEEMD
inventories - (6,588)
1,207,664 1,190,553

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17 EZRWERA R EMEWERR

2022 2021
—E-= —=E—

$'000 $'000

Frx Tz

Trade receivables at amortised cost,

B 5 REUR - L EHA

net of loss allowance HBR B R B 65,047 72,079
Trade receivables to be factored at fair A AFEBETEBHEEZHH A
value through other comprehensive Hh 2 mE ke (AT 81%) &9
income (recycling) R EE 5 RIIRR 80,983 60,176
Other receivables H h & Y AR 3K 35,540 30916
181,570 163,171

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

As part of the Group's cash flow management, the Group has the
practice of factoring some of the trade receivables to financial
institutions before the trade receivables are due for repayment
and derecognises factored trade receivables on the basis that
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards to

the relevant counterparties.

As at 30 June 2022, the effective interest rates of the factored
trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) ranged from 1.33% to
4.38% per annum (2021: 1.36% to 3.45% per annum). Details
of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted for their
fair value measurements are disclosed in note 25(c). As at 30
June 2022, the fair value changes on trade receivables at FVOCI
(recycling) are insignificant and accordingly, no fair value
changes are recognised in equity as FVOC| reserve.

BRI E 5 e RR R R E Al R SRS
R—FRREHER R -

ERAEERERETEN —HMH A&
B 18 ) BB 5 e U AR SR B B B E BT S
MOBEZBRBETEETSREE LR
RAEEDHETF2HERMBMEE T
BRXZUFT I HRERER HEIRRK
LEFERR ©

R-E-—FA=1+H UAFEME:
ERHEZFHFTAHMBEEKRE (TE8) K
EEEEFRUERNEREMENF133%
£438% (ZZT = —F : FHENF136%%2
345%) - BAREAFEBEFEMRAD
fiy (B BT & & 2 8 A B #5158 72 M 5525(0)
NEE - -RZT__FA=1+8" ' UQF
BETEEESE T ALMEEKE (TS
HINBESRRERNAFEEZHTK
it TEEEZABELATFEELEHER
BUAAFEEFEAHEHFALMEZAE
WS S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Ageing analysis
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,

is as follows:

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

B 5 W AR AR H b FE IR BR R ()
AR 2 #

MRBERR REZBHEA D 2EFHEW
R (EMBREREE) 2Rk D e 0
T

2022 2021
—E-F EEE T =

$’000 $'000
T Tt

I . I
1-90 days 1-90 H 144,954 123,787
91 - 180 days 91-180H 1,076 8,468
146,030 132,255

Trade receivables are due within 10 days to 90 days from the
date of billing. Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 25(b)(ii).

18 BANKBALANCES AND CASH
(a) Bank balances and cash comprise:
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less. The bank balances carry interest
at market rates which range from 0.001% to 0.30% (2021:
0.001% to 0.98%) per annum.

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR

18

B W AMAEBBET10EE0AA
B -BEAEEEERRNFRE SR
B 5E25(0)(i) A °

RITHEBRERE

(a) MITEBRERESBHE
RITEREACEEASERIFEZ
ReRRITR=ZMBEAKUANEEBZE
HASRIT 175K o SRITAERR T94E 91 F70.001%
2030% (ZZF = —4 : 0.001%Z=0.98% )
Z TG EFEET B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

18 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18 |ITHEBRREAE (®)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEXKFELEEBZYIER

financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRAINAEEGRREEZFZAEER
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B2eE BEREMIIEREE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are REXBELEBERREMKEER
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows IARKBEREFNAEEHESE S
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of MERTEAMEXKERESR=ECA
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. & o

Unsecured Lease
bank loans Liabilities Total
IR
RITER HEAE HE
$'000 $’000 $’000
T T Fr
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(Bt =£20) (BtaE21)
I S I Y
At 1 July 2021 R=ZE=-—-FtA—H 87,980 29,591 117,571
Changes from financing MERERERE
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans 2R B #T15R17 B A
FTiSR08 498,138 - 498,138
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER (470,714) - (470,714)
Interest paid EfFE (1,659) - (1,659)
Capital element of lease ENHEERE 2ERH S
rentals paid - (14,793) (14,793)
Interest element of lease ENHEERS 2F B
rentals paid - (1,966) (1,966)
Total changes from financing MEREREZBAE
cash flows 25,765 (16,759) 9,006
Exchange adjustments EHAE - (386) (386)
Other changes: Hith# s :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) B (FieE6() 1,659 1,966 3,625
Increase in lease liabilities REEITUHMBEEEEN
from entering into new leases HEGEEM
during the year - 11,948 11,948
Totalotherchanges ... AteERmes ] 1659 13914 15573
At 30 June 2022 R-ZB-Z-F5:A=1H 115,404 26,360 141,764
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

18 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18 RITHEBRREE (&
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) mﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁéiﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ (4)

financing activities (continued)

Unsecured Lease
bank loans Liabilities Total
EIK A
RITE K HEBE ok
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
(Note 20) (Note 21)
GE)) (B E21)
I S I Y
At 1 July 2020 R=ZE=-ZFtA—H 97,442 35922 133,364
Changes from financing MERERERE
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans 2R B ¥T18 R 1T B 2 EY
FT1S 5K 18 376,857 = 376,857
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (386,319) = (386,319)
Interest paid EFE (1,068) = (1,068)
Capital element of lease ENEERE CERE S
rentals paid - (15,579) (15,579)
Interest element of lease ENHERE 2FIEEH S
rentals paid - (1,308) (1,308)
Total changes from financing RERCREL LR
cash flows (10,530) (16,887) (27,417)
Exchange adjustments EXAE - 748 748
Other changes: Hip 25 :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) T 25X (M 7E6(a)) 1,068 1,308 2376
Increase in lease liabilities REBFUHHEEEEN
from entering into new leases MEBBEM
during the year - 8500 8,500
Totalotherchanges AwEDeE ... 108 9808 ... 10876
At 30 June 2021 R-ZB-—-FXA=+H 87,980 29,591 117,571

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

18 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18 VITHERRRE ()
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (¢ HEARESARH
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement SAERESRERNTEEEEEERN
for leases comprise the following: HKEBETIEAE :

2022 2021
—E-F =
$’000 $'000
Fx T
I e S
Within operating cash flows REEHSMEA 3,000 2,482
Within financing cash flows REEREREN 16,759 16,887
19,759 19,369
19 TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES 19 ESENGERAREGTEHR
I |
2022 2021
—E-= —=EF—
$’000 $'000
Frx T
I e |
Trade payables Z 5 R 114,221 144,146
Other payables and accrued charges Hib R R ERTE A 85,332 117,574
199,553 261,720
All of the trade payables and accrued charges are expected to be B EE SENERNLEAZERABR —
settled within one year or are repayable on demand. FRT iz BB E -
An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the payment due REEAR  BEHEMNEFTIRMNZREA
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B D ZEEWBROWTE T -

2022 2021
—E- —_ T
$'000 $'000
Frx Tt
I . Y
Current REIHA 104,178 102,234
1-30 days past due #HEA1-308 9,327 28,315
31 - 60 days past due #1831-60H 383 9,571
Over 60 days past due # B R 1860 A 333 4026
114,221 144,146
As the average credit period on purchases of goods is ranged HREEE R EHEZEHA308260H @
from 30 to 60 days, a majority of the balances which as disclosed N BE AN D &R BRI Z AT
above are within 90 days from the invoice date. QHWK °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 UNSECURED BANK LOANS

At 30 June 2022 and 2021, the unsecured bank loans were
repayable as follows:

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

EIEKABITER
R-ZTE——FR-_FT-_—FXA=1+8"
BEMRITERNERBOT -

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000

T T

—FRRIRER

Within one year or on demand

115,404 87,980

At 30 June 2022, the Company provided guarantee for bank
loans of certain subsidiaries. Such banking facilities amounted to
$130,000,000 (2021: $110,000,000). The facilities were utilised to
the extent of $115,404,000 (2021: $87,980,000).

All of the Group’s bank loans are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Group's balance sheet ratios,
as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. This banking facility has been renewed during
the year ended 30 June 2022. At 30 June 2022, none of the
covenants relating to draw down facilities had been breached.

At 30 June 2022, the Group's effective interest rate per annum
was 1.44% (2021: 1.21%).

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR

R-ZE-_—_FAXA=1+8 ' AXRAFET
MERARMIRITERIREER - BEIETT
A& & ¥ 5130,000,00070 (=& = — & ¢
110,000,0007T) - B E 2 KL EHHHEF
115,404,0007T (==& = —4F : 87,980,0007T) °

AEEMBNRITERAT SRS REIE
MERLHERNERAEESETEESR
BEREXNZHE - FARTRECKEREH
BT —FXRA=THIFEREH -
RZZTZ—FA=+H HEEREH
IR E R

/

RZEZ__FRNA=1TH0 AEENETK
FREE144% (ZT=—F 1 1.21%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

21 LEASE LIABILITIES 21 HEARE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TERANEAREBERE S AN E— @R
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and WEEBERGRE LR :

previous reporting:

2022 2021
—s-= —E-—%F
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REHEE REEE REHEE REEE
NRERE ARESS ARERE  AFEEF

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Tr Tt Tt
I I I Y I
Within 1 year —F R 13,051 13,363 13,087 13,333
After 1 year but —FREMFR
within 2 years 7,990 8,662 9,807 10,396
After 2 years but MEREBRFER
within 5 years 5,319 6,615 6,697 7,295
I 13,309 .. 15,277 .. 16504 17691
26,360 28,640 29,591 31,024

Less: total future interest  J& : 48 R 3K F B 5 X

expenses (2,280) (1,433)
Present value of lease HEBaERE
liabilities 26,360 29,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the "Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10
years for the purpose to enable the Company to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Board could grant options to
eligible employees, including directors, executives or officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries and any other persons at the
discretion of the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company
(the “Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

On 30 September 2019, 5,920,000 share options were granted
for $1 consideration to directors and employees of the Company
under the Old Share Option Scheme. Upon completion of the
Rights Issue, the number of total outstanding options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme was adjusted from
5,920,000 to 6,645,836 Shares, 1,930,884 of which had lapsed
subsequently; and the exercise price of the outstanding share
options was adjusted from $1.172 per share to $1.044 per share.
The outstanding 4,714,952 options will vest on 30 September
2022, and then be exercisable until September 2024.

On 24 September 2021, 16,600,000 share options were granted
for $1 consideration to directors, the directors’ associate and
employees of the Company under the Old Share Option Scheme
of which no options had lapsed. These share options will vest
on 24 September 2024, and then be exercisable until September
2026. The exercise price is $0.58, being the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2022, the total number of outstanding share
options was 21,314,952 and all outstanding options will
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of Old Share Option Scheme. No options granted under
the Old Share Option Scheme were exercised as at 30 June 2022
(2021: Nil).

EBWBERBRAR T _FFRH

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

22 UESEEURDRERNK S

ARBIRZT——F+—A=-HBERER
EETE (EERERS)) A +F B
MAREARNAAEEBRENEEE ER
2HERTHEHUAEBNER -EEEA
MiEMARARRENBRAR 2 EMEER
BE BREEF TRABHXBEANMT
MEMAT(BESEBBRE) BFLHAR
BARNRRG (TAMH]) 2 BiRE - EER
BAEERZZE_—F+—A=ZHE®°

R-ZZE—NAFALA=Z+HB ARAIRE
ERREFERNARANESEREERT
5,920,000 B AR ¥ - BRARE R17T - R
REKE  BREEBERESER T MM
RATIE &9 8 % #E 42 £ 5,920,00010 3 2 &
6,645,83610 + ELH1,930,884170 B 18 B AT
e AT AR E M ITEE R B & R172
T EE BB RR1.0447T © 4,714,9527 18 R1TfE
BREEEN_E-__FhLA=THEE
EBEATEE S _MFENA -

R-EBE-—FHNA=-+MWA  AAFRE
EEREFSANEAQAES EZHNHE
A K& B % F16,600,00017 & I 7 - A BEK
BRI EP W E T ERED LR -
ZEBEREEEN_S-_MNEAA-+T
BB ERUAIEZE_FT_ 1A
IEE ARS8 BIARA R RMHRE T B H
R E

o

RZBZ—FXNA=1+H " MATHEER
WE 4B BN 52131495210 0 IRIE E B IR EETE

BWIER - FAERMKRITEERESEZEE X
EAIFTE RNEBEE-_E-_—F A=+
HIEFER  WETAIREEBRETS
BETHHEREETE(CZE_—F /&) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 22 UREREEURGAEBRNRS @)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”). The purpose
of the New Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract,
retain and motivate high-calibre employees to strive towards
long term strategy and goals of the Group and to enable the
Company to grant share options to eligible participants (the
“Eligible Participants”) as incentives and rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options may
be granted under the New Share Option Scheme to any
individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Share
options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in any 12-month period in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital and with a value in
excess of HKS5 million on the date of offer must be approved in
advance by the Company’s independent shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date
of offer, upon payment of $1 per grant. Options may generally
be exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the
date of acceptance to the tenth anniversary of the date of
acceptance or may at the Board's discretion determine the
specific exercise period. The exercise price is determined by the
Board, and will not be less than the highest of the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of offer and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.

Since the date of adoption and up to 30 June 2022, no share

options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
New Share Option Scheme.

®

ARBRZFT=_—F+— BT XBRMAH
BRES S (B ERE) - B RE
ArEIEEEASERERS - BERABS
ZEHRE /AAKENREREMEZM
BH - AEARBEHAEER2EE (S
ERZEEDETERE FRRFHAR
SEFLM BRI 2B KB -

BEFERETZ AT FTRENMA BER
BETERAITETHORNEE LR A
30,1052670% (R A ARFHRBEARF 2B
BT D 4B 2L 10% ©

BB ERETS  ERESHAQRFRE
BESEZBERT REMIE A BEA
) fa] {8 B A = 35 1 2 BB AR 8 e 2 IR 15
HETHBBARARTREEEITRINDZ1% -
A E2EA BN EZRRKIB L
FATEESRECERESI R 2RHEE
BBAANFBEITRAZ0I1%ERREL A H
2 {B{E8355,000,0007% 7T BIZATE LB H A
UNGIE RV QB

ERTZBEREANREOBEHET14B A
BEW - BREMRBAIMITIRE - B
B-RANEMAME_AFEEEHRA
HETHEFLIHRACAER KEFS
REEE CEETEDR T ATTE - 1TEE
DHEZEETE  ETBIRARBAKRN
REANBERZEHE BROREEREQHE
HIpl A& % A 2 Py U B kAR E K
DHERERERE) -

BRMBHREE_T__FXA=1TAH"
RBF B E W EA B REER
To1TE - KRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 22 UREGEHEUROGARERNRS @
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as (a) ATREFERENHRRIMGEE :
follows:

Number of Contractual life
instruments Vesting conditions of options
TE#®A SEIkT BRESKBR

Options granted to directors:

RTESNERE:
— on 30 September 2019 400,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
R-ZFT-AFHLA=TH ML R =F 5%
— on 24 September 2021 600,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
R_TE_—FHhAZ-+HA MR BB =4 54
Options granted to employees:
BT EENERE:
— on 30 September 2019 5,520,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZTE—-—AFHA=TH MR A B =4 54
— on 24 September 2021 16,000,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
R_ZE_—FhA-+HWA ML AR =F 55
Total share options granted 22,520,000
BT BREER

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 22 UESFEEUROAERNRZS o)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise (b) BRENEENMEELYITHEE
prices of share options are as follows: wmr

Weighted
average
exercise price
hnE ¥ 39
THEE

S

7T

Number of
options

BRERE

Outstanding at 1 July 2020 RZZE-ZTFEA—HHRITE 1.172 5,920,000
Adjustments due to rights issue ERFERETER M ED AE

during the year (note 26) (B 5E26) 725,836
Lapsed during the year REFE R KK 1.044 (1,930,884)
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 RZZEZ—FA=+tHK

and 1 July 2021 ZZE=—FEA—HEKRTE 1.044 4,714,952
Granted during the year REEZERET 0.580 16,600,000
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 MRZZEZZFANA=THMERITE 0683 21,314,952
Exercisable at 30 June 2022 RZEZZFA=THAT11E =
The options outstanding at 30 June 2022 had an exercise RZEBEZZFXA=THHERTED
price of $1.044 or $0.58 (2021: $1.044) and a weighted B PS4 B9 17 1 B /31.0447T 3%0.587T (=
average remaining contractual life of 4 years (2021: 3 T —F:10447T)  IEFHERTE
years). KHAPR B4 (2= —F : 35F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

EEHBEEREARAR

Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value
of the share options granted is measured based on a
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual life
of the share option is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing.

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

22 LUERSEEUROGAREBRNIRS @)

(c)

BRENAFEEMAERR
LR TR T RS RIS H A FEE -
E2REMBRENAFEETE
mAFEEFTERAM N BT
MR EERUELMAN BRENS
HWHR @ MIEZRA 8 AE - 1A
TTENBEHE WA = —&F 8 575
REERE -

Options Options
granted on granted on
24 September 30 September
2021 2019
R=-®B=— R-B-h&F
hA=+MDmAH hB=+H
BRFHNBRE BTFHBERE

Fair value of share options and BRENAFTEERBR
assumptions

Fair value at measurement date REtE AW AFER

Share price IR A B &

Exercise price I6EE

Expected volatility (expressed as
weighted average volatility used in
the modelling under Black-Scholes
Option Pricing model)

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing
model)

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate (based on Hong
Kong Government 10-year Bond)

BHRE

HEZQER)

TRERIE (A H 7= —
F B AT B E (BAE AL AT A Y
HEFH IR IESIR)

BRERR (AR —

&F B AT A T (BAR AL AT A Y
HEFHHRIIR)

R A R (AFBERAT105F

$0.13 $0.19
0.137T 0.197T
$0.58 $1.15
0.587T 1.157T
$0.58 $1.172
0.587T 1.1727C
45.43% 34.46%
5 years 5 years
5 54
5.76% 5.76%
1.06% 1.62%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition.
This condition has not been taken into account in the
grant date fair value measurement of the services received.
There were no market conditions associated with the share
option grants.

TEFFR

TR0 8 1 2 M SR U (AR 488 A
BT 88 TR A H) - LIRED
9 18 2 0 R SO 08 40 £ T 2
B R B o MRS R R DA R
£-IBMEABRRNAZTARYE
AT BIERLE -

BETEREBRSGN BRMER
RENFE L AN A FEEFELE
ZRBBIGE - X TRBRERERRM
IS R AF

®
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iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

23 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

23 RIKERIEE

2022 2021
—F=-= T

$’000 $'000
Fr T

I . I
At the beginning of the year REA] 4,329 3,110
Provision recognised in profit or loss RERAERNEE 367 1,219
At the end of the year RER 4,696 4,329

A provision has been made by the Company based on the
best estimate of the long service payments that are required
to be made to employees in respect of their service to date,
less any amounts that would be expected to be met out of the
Company's contributions to its defined contribution retirement
scheme and mandatory provident fund.

(a) Provision for long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
Thailand Labour Protection Act, the Group is required
to make long service payments to its employees in
Hong Kong and Thailand upon the termination of
their employment or retirement when the employees
fulfill certain conditions and the termination meets the
required circumstances. However, where an employee is
simultaneously entitled to a long service payment and to
a retirement scheme payment (e.g. from the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)) in Hong
Kong, the amount of the long service payment will be
reduced by the benefits arising from the retirement
scheme including investment return/(loss) accumulated in
the scheme.

ARRCEREREE LS REANGKE
BHMRBRBENREMRT  BRBEBHSKE
AR B SE HFGR RET B S 5R Bl 1 A FE
SRRP ISR -

(a) REBRBRE
REEBEBGOINERS TREE
EASEZEARFRESHBAE
RES - BB B e B T IR T BB
BRBER MAKEARANEXM
RERBE AN EEERERE
FARMRSG & MRKRG I (Fln
mblE B ([RESEE)) -
Al RHRE & BB A RBRAKFTEAE
ZETEMN(BREEMAFZRED
W, (E18)) R, -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

23 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(b) Defined contribution schemes

23 RAKRBREAE &
(b) REMKETE

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all employees
in Hong Kong who have registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group in respect of the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF Scheme.
No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of pension schemes operated by the
PRC local governments. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part of the
payroll of these employees to the pension schemes to fund
the benefits. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of the
Chinese local government.

The Group registers its employees in Thailand with
Workmen's Compensation Fund and Social Security
Fund as required by laws in Thailand. The Group is
required to make annual contributions to the Workmen's
Compensation Fund and monthly contributions to the
Social Security Fund, and the only obligation of the
Group with respect to these funds is to make the required
contributions.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of profit
or loss of $25,165,000 (2021: $26,274,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current year.

EBWBERBRAR T _FFRH

AEECEMAEREREZ2NBES
il ZERECSRERFIEAES
AEGEGIRRHIEATBESFEERRB
ift - BRESFAE CEEFHRH—
HBUERAREFES BAKH
ZEEARFKE REBESFTER
A B xR EB A R m & A A
PRET L R R - AR BN BE S 5 &
hzE—BEERBRESEBEL A
FERK - AKERARRFRELED R
Yo gk R BT AR VEORR D B A 5K

ARABHEMNBRRZAERERER
FEEWRAREEZRREFTEZ
RE-MBABREARIKERERE ZIHH
Frfz R E B DR RE BN -
B2 EEFNN BT B E R AE
HleiEe BAKEZESORARKA -

AEERBERBIZENER . BEF
HESETI AMEES REGRER
TETEL -AEEEASFHIAM
BESHFUREAHLEREES
R AEEEEAZTESHE—F
BRBRERRK -

AFEAEEENZETE 2 EHHE
£825,165,0007C (=& = — 4 : 26,274,000
T EREE BRI °
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iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

24 DEFERRED TAXATION

24 EREFIE
MR E B2 BEERIBESG TR ¢

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

2022 2021
—Eg=-= — T —4F
$'000 $'000
F Tz
I e |
Net deferred tax asset recognised in the R 4RE B ISR RIER Z
consolidated statement of financial BT IEE E A
position 339 571

Net deferred tax liability recognised in =~ R A B RN RER 2
the consolidated statement of financial IR IEF3IE & (& F 58
position (36,410) (36,618)

(36,071) (36,047)

The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

ERRAZEZRERE (EE) BEAR
HRAFERBAFEZSHOT :

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

prior years:

Revaluation of Unrealised loss

properties on inventories Total
rEZ
MEER REREHR e
$'000 $’000 $'000
T T T
] ] | |
At 1 July 2020 RZZE=_TF+H—H 32,485 (986) 31,499
Charged to profit or loss mEExR 921 415 1336
Currency realignment BEE 54, o 3212 - 3212
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZZBZ-—FRA=THRK
—E-—FtHA—H 36,618 (571) 36,047
(Credited)/Charged to profitorloss (3t A) /BB (438) 232 (206)
Currency realignment BEE 55, S (927) - (927)
Charged to other comprehensive 18 E 2 F W
income 1,157 - 1,157

At 30 June 2022 RZE-_Z§XA=+H 36,410 (339) 36,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of $217,545,000 (2021: $230,486,000) available for offset
against future profits which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the year, tax losses of $Nil (2021: $Nil) expired and were
no longer available to offset against future profits. Included in
unrecognised tax losses of the Group are losses of $12,002,000
(2021: $18,480,000), $31,952,000 (2021: $28,446,000), $2,679,000
(2021: SNil) attributable to subsidiaries in the PRC, Thailand and
Cambodia respectively, that will gradually expire up to 2026. The
unrecognised tax losses relating to subsidiaries in Hong Kong
were $170,910,000 (2021: $183,560,000) and do not expire under
current tax legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was $43,119,000 (2021: $36,268,000). No liabilities
have been recognised in respect of these differences because
the Group is in a position to control the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

EBWBERBRAR T _FFRH

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

24 EEBIE (9

RBEHR AEBERDANBEEE
217,545,0007C ( =% = —4F : 230,486,0007T) °
a] 4 A 85 R 0% Bl o /B R S BE TR R
D K = A b N D R 5 =R
RELEFHIEEE - FARBERTT(ZZ
——F:ZTx)EEmETA B REKH
RIER - REBERERHIEEESIE
FE RBEEREEMNBRAR 2EED A
12,002,0007C (=& = — 4 : 18,480,0007T)
31,952,0007T (=& = — £ : 28,446,0007T) K&
2679000 (ZE=Z—F T ) - R =
EoRNFZRESER REBRTHBEE
Bl - ELER A E R F A B KRR E
$8170,910,0007T ( = = —4F : 183,560,0007T )
I A% fE i B A o

RBEHR BRBRAFRDIKENE A
BV RBRELERERBECERZHAHE
#543,119,0007T (=& = —4F : 36,268,0007T) °
HRASEAENIEHRE TS Z8E 2R
Rk ZEZRMARITENA RERER -
At T EZE=RERAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25 $@MTA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) €mIEER

2022 2021
—E-= = —
$’000 $'000
Fx T
I Y Y
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial instrument MESHBIA - 1,402
Trade receivables and other receivables & 5 Ji& U BR X K H 4th & Uk BR 5% 161,954 143,330
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRE 136,487 92,217
298,441 236,949
Financial liabilities =R
Trade payables and accrued charges B o REMNER R ETE A 199,553 262,416
Lease liabilities HE&E 26,360 29,591
Unsecured bank loans EERRITER 115,404 87,980
341,317 379,987
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEREEBZBENEK
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include AEB 2 FZemITAEBETESR
derivative financial instrument, other financial assets, TEH HithemiE Ak At
trade receivables at amortised cost, trade receivables at ENEZRRKER UAFEEF=E
FVOCI (recycling), other receivables, lease liabilities, trade BEZH AHME2E S (7T 8)8)
payables, other payables, bank balances and cash. Details BWE S EUARN - HaEWERR -
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective E8E BE5EMNER  EMENER
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments RoRTTEBLEES - ZSEESRIA
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), ZHBRSMEANBEE o T
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate AW 2 Bk e 5T 5 R (SN E R
these risks are set out below. The management manages EFEER) - EERR MRS ESE
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate B o 5 8 40 {a] R 1K 5% 3 R B 2 B SR
measures are implemented on a timely and effective RTIX - BEEBEIENERZZER

manner. BREAERFALKBEGRBRE 2E
HE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25 @I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEEIE B ZEHEBE(®)
policies (continued)
(i) Market risk () 5 E R
There has been no significant change to the Group's AEBEE 2 ™5 R K HEE
exposure to market risk or the manner in which it FEtERBR 2z H W EEKXEF) -

manages and measures the risk.

(1) Currency risk (1) SN B
Several subsidiaries of the Company have K@ﬂ,‘z%?ﬁﬁﬁé"ﬂ%%
foreign currency sales and purchases, which METEE BHRAKEHZA
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. AT INEE R B o ANEE Y E
Approximately 13% (2021: 13%) of the Group's BA)13% (ZF = —4F : 13%)
sales are denominated in currencies other than TAEREEZEBEERY
the functional currency of the group entity BE B S A &|\21"jf§é}t_ﬁ$ﬁ
making the sale, while almost 55% (2021: 52%) i & B A AN 4955% (=& = —
of purchase costs are not denominated in the F5%) WIHNEBESEEE
group entity's functional currency. The Group B E®EEMN A
does not have a foreign currency hedging b 4 SN K S S B R
policy. However, management monitors the EEESERINERK I
foreign exchange exposure and will consider BRAEEERZEEEFEK
hedging significant foreign currency exposure HNEE [P o

should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign RIREHR - NEE AN
currency denominated monetary assets and BBENZEBEEREYS
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting BEZE@ENT :

period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE 8
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EB-C-f —ET--F CZBIZE —T-_—%
$'000 $'000 $'000 §'000
Tr T T T
I B N N S R
Euro (“EUR") Bt ([Be)) 2 1498 - =
Renminbi (‘RMB") ARB(ARE]) 23,485 19,619 17,525 27,527
UsD e 36,543 51413 17,209 14,080
HKS BT 6,903 4264 - 911

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

(1)

Currency risk (continued)

The above assets and liabilities include trade
receivables at amortised cost, trade receivables
at FVOCI (recycling), other receivables, trade
payables, other payables, bank balances and
cash denominated in EUR, RMB, USD and HKS.
In addition, the Group is exposed to currency
risk arising from inter-company receivables
and payables denominated in Thai Baht (“THB")
which is not the functional currency of the
borrower entity to which they related. The
net inter-company (receivables)/payables
amounted to ($24,016,000) (2021: $38,826,000)
as at 30 June 2022.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the HKS and USD would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the USD against currencies. 5%
(2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in the foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes external receivables
and payables and also current accounts with
the group entities where the denomination of
the current accounts is in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant group
entities.

25 €@ I A%
(b) BIEREREEZBEEXK ®)

()

5 R ()
(1) SMERE R (8)
FiEERAEBERENEUT -

AREE  ETRBITFED
NEHER A ENE SRR
BER UAFEEFERHR
BE T AHEM 2K (A
§MJMT%EW%M Hib
EWER EIHEMER
H e A BR FUA R SR 1T 4 £
KIRE o o - AN & B A&
XUARE (WIEERAEEE
B2MEER) ABEUZA
7] FH i Uk BR 30 &% B S BR 3R R
ELEINERR R_T ==
FXNA=ZTRH 2ABEZ (&
W%%/ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%
(24,016,00070) (ZF = —
38,826,0007T) ©

BRRE DT

TR RERET A E R R
BEHFIE  NEERIR
5 B 7R A BEE =< 2k 2 T Y
Esp NN NE NG R
F (AR B & F) BE A K BN B
B optims - HREZS
MEXTHHEERT2R
ETHEMEENEBELR
BHMIBNERTE 5% (=
f——i'woﬁW%ﬁi
ZEIE A B ERINE R R
Bz8RELLE - ﬁ%ﬁ@
[E i 5| [ = 4 18 78 1F & &
2 MRRE S ITERRE
LASNEE BB AL 2 E¥ETER 2
g W A% (ZF = —
F o) 2EREFHNRIRE
@X%m%ﬁ%”ommr
53 AT B 38 0 B 1E W BR 5k % e
HER UEREEER 2
RERP (RZAERKRFETILAE
EEERNEEBUIINZE
WREBEN) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25 @I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) B BEEE EH EEBUE (5)
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued) () T E R (&)
(1) Currency risk (continued) (1) SMER B ()
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRE D (B)

2022 2021
jnt- Sl —E-—F
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/  (decrease)in Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) post-tax (decrease) in post-tax
in foreign profit and in foreign profit and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates profits rates profits
BB & ERR BR B0 1 4 71l 2
Ex RERER B & RE R
H/(TH)  Bm/(BP) L£#A/(TE) £n/082)
% $'000 % $'000
T i
. J | |
EUR BT 5 - 5 63
(5) - @) (63)
RMB ARE 5 (550) 5 (916)
(5) 550 ) 916
THB 373 5 7,392 5 3329
(5) (7,392) () (3329

BEHBBRAERAR —ZTE-_FFIR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCieS (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)

(2)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises primarily from unsecured bank loans.
Unsecured bank loans issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group monitors the level of its variable rate
borrowings and manages the contractual terms
of the interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. For this purpose, the Group defines
“net borrowings” as being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (if any) (excluding cash held for
short-term working capital purposes). The
Group's interest rate profile as monitored by

management is set out in below.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net borrowings (as
defined above) at the end of the reporting
period.

25 €@ I A%
(b) MIEBEEEEERE (&)

% [ B (48)
@) FEmE

MEEREEETRTAND
FEELRKRERERNN
BMEEEHME LN
R AEEMNNEARER
REEBRMBITER - FH
MEEEARBRITERELAS
BASREREMEEAR -
AEESEREFHNRE
FKFREBFEEMEE
RABWADGRR SILE
B AR B B FOF ] R
ERFTEEBMABEMER
E(WA)(TeRsERE
EETREMBANRS) -
EEEMERMNASERNX
BN T X °

M ERBER

TREFMANEBRRE R

MERFR(EER LW
R -

Note

W

2021
—E-—F
Effective
Amount interest rate Amount
kx| BER A% G|
$’000 % $'000
5 T

Variable rate BEREEN:
borrowings:

Unsecured Bank  EEERTER
loans 20

115,404 1.21% 87,980
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)

(2)

ERHERERAT

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2022 it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased/increased the Group's
profit after taxation and retained profits by
approximately $1,154,000 (2021: decreased/
increased the Group's profit after taxation
and increased/decreased retained profit by
approximately $880,000). Other components
of consolidated equity would not be affected
in response to a general increase/decrease in
interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after taxation and retained profits and other
components of consolidated equity that would
arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of
the reporting period, the impact on the Group's
profit after taxation and retained profits and
other components of consolidated equity is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest
rates.

TEFFR

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 €@ T A

(b) MBEMEEBFERER @)

() 5 ()
@) FIEmE (&)
BRRE DT

RZEBEZZFA=1+8H"
TREEMESEHFTLE
MBERT  HEtF RERE
EFRBR1001E E B2 E B
REBHBRFEEF KRS
i AR A/ 1 AN #91,154,0007T
(ZZ=—F BRAEEN
B B 1808 FIR 58 00 B AR
B I3 hn @ 4> £9880,000
JO) o FIREBEE EH TS
"SR EIRAESNEMD
K EB D ©

Eit SRR AT B RER A
REPNBERARBLEILE
AREFFEAEERNRS
KRR S AR E R
RFEEMNEXERNESET
B REBEMRB RN (R
REEN) K7 & e E A
AR D & IR M ANES 22 Ep -
IAKRERBREHRAFA
HF BN RIEOTE T ARE
AR SR E N X RO
& - 8 AN BBk B 1% A
(RREEHN) kiR A R
HMERBONEE TR
BN R E S
WARFRICRFEETME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. As at 30 June 2022 and
2021, the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In respect of trade receivables, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
Therefore, the Directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is minimised and ECL

allowance is considered insignificant.

The bank balances and cash are concentrated on
certain counterparties and the credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit ratings.

25 €@ I A%
(b) MIEBEEEEERE (&)

(i)

=B
EERRERERIHFHTER
TEHNRE ERASEEZEEY
BEEINER RZZTEZ_FK
ZEZ—FAA=1+H BEHF
FRERTEEMSAERRR
MBEEz&mEERR T AL
EMBRAKFMEEECERS
BEECREEMES °

EREZRUENR A5EER
BEORENEEBEEEER
EEHZMEMBERER  AE
PRERER BRAE 15 e 1 [ 8 A 2 (B 755 -
At ARBEERR/RAEELZ
EERBREEE RHPEHAEX
BERASTA -

RITEBRLBSHDEDIRETY
Fh o MiRBEezEERRE
R-WHERHSF T RER M
SERZIRIT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(ii)

ERHERERAT

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the market demand in the intimate apparel
industry and economic conditions in the USA and
Europe. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had a certain concentration risk as approximately
80% (2021: 77%) of trade receivables was due from
the top five major customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
indicates different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance is further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
Specific loss allowance of $1,091,000 (2021:
$1,142,000) is recognised as at 30 June 2022 for a
customer with financial difficulties. The credit risk
for trade receivables of the remaining customers
is limited after considering actual loss experience
over the past years, economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

TEFFR

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 €@ T A
(b) MIEMEEEEERE (&)

(i) 15 BE/E B (&)
B ZEWER
REEBMAXZEERBREEZES
ARITHE LM HRKAREZER
BNz BB e RS
BiR - AR HI80% (Z T = —F ¢
77%) 2 B S EWIRFK TR E AKX
BEF MAKEEBEETRBRER
1B e

7N £ B DA B R (E 17 4 2R A TR A
EREXESHNSETEEFE
WEEFNEERE AN AEE
WELERBAERERTE
EPEAGETRMNBRIE -
AitEEREEAEENTRE
FHAEHETE-—FTED - R
ZEZ_FAA=1+H RBEH
BRENEFERTEEEEE
1,091,0007C ( =& = —4F : 1,142,000
L) c BEREBEAFENEREX
KB R BRI B A A
AR~ & AT R AR L AN AR £ B AT R
REZEWEREFH B FEBRR
BRI - B 5 AR FH &
EFPMEERBRAR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

AR AR

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCieS (continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. At 30 June 2022, the Group had

undrawn bank borrowing facilities of $14,596,000

(2021: $22,020,000).

25 €@ I A%
(b) MIEBEEEEERE (&)

(i)

BB T

REERDESAR AEEE
EREFBEEERSEABMNA
EEEEBEYRERSRENDZ
FEZASMNREEEABKY -

TRFAFMIEAEBIETES
MEABIHRTENBRL - TX
TREASEEER 2T AH
H - ZepmBB2RBRRESRE
ER2V -R-ZBE-_—_FXA=+
H - A&EEZRRIRITEER
€ £14,596,0007C (Z & = — 4 :
22,020,0007T) °

Liquidity tables B ER K
I I D D D D
After 1year  After2years Total Carrying
Within ~ butwithin ~ but within After undiscounted  amountat
1year 2year 5 years 5years  cashflows 30 June
R
—ENE MEKNL A¥EEE A~A=1A
-ENR BRENA  EBREMR BENE RERE  2EEM
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T n n T n
. __ J J J | | |
2022 ol Jafat
Non-derivative fnancial fabilties #7428 @A £
Trade payables and accrued charges & SER KRB ER 181,381 12,692 - 2611 196,684 196,684
Lease liabiltes HERR 13,363 8,62 6,615 - 28,640 26,360
Unsecured bank loans BERBAER 115,404 - - - 115404 115,404
310,148 21,354 6,615 2,611 340,728 338,448
2021 ZB2-f
Non-derivative fnancialfabilties #7428 @EE
Trade payables and accrued charges B SER KRB ER U405 607 - 6457 254559 254559
Lease labilities HERR 13333 1039% 7.9 - 3104 29591
Unsecured bank loans BERBROER 87980 - - - 87,980 87,980
348718 11,093 7,295 6,457 373,563 372130
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iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25 @RI AEm
(c) Fairvalue () XF¥EE
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value () HBRFEEFEZZHEE

Fair value hierarchy RFIEEER
The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments RBEHREEETUEREESEZ
measured at the end of the reporting period on AEBSMTIEZATFEERS
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level B BHREEE R AFER
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair FEIREZ=BAAFEBERS
value measurement. The level into which a fair H-NFTEEFAEZERASEL
value measurement is classified is determined with S EMER AT A @S A SR 28]
reference to the observability and significance of the BRMELNESUHEELT :

inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations:

—F—REHE:

- Level 2 valuations:

7%:u&1afﬁ :

- Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date
EAE-—RBARECIHEREEXEBERTERMEETRM ST 2 RAE
HRE)FEZATEE

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available
NE—RBARE(BIANEE-—RzBRBaARE) BEMEREAMD
AERRABBAECATEE TAESRARBABEEZESHBTSH
152 | ABUR

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

—E=HEE EREAMTAIBRBABBTEZ R TFEERE
Information about Level 2 fair value measurements BEHE RN FEEA;TEZEN

Trade receivables

at FVOCI (recycling)

Valuation
technique and
Fair value as at 30 June significant inputs
RAB=+HEB fhEF T R
NEEE BER@WAE

2022 2021

—E-C —E—
$'000 $'000
T T
. J | ] ] |

NAFEERS 80,983 60,176 Risk-adjusted
BEEZ®FA discount rates of
H 2wk ranged from 1.33% to
(T8 NES 4.38% (2021:1.36%
JE Y BR 5K to 3.45%) per annum

quoted by the banks
RITFTIRE BL AR
{EH AR IR X
FH1.33%24.38%
—E-
1.36%Z3.45%)

EEHBEEREARAR

TEFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25 €@ I A%

(c) Fair value (continued) (c) AFEME®E

(i)

Financial assets measured at fair value (continued) ()
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

BRFEEGTEZ THEE ()
BRE=RLFEEFEZEH

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Weighted average
EDNTIRNEIE E3
fEERM wWABE InfE 13
I I I
Unlisted equity securities Market-comparable Discount for lack of 30% (2021: 30%)
approach marketability

LR E mH -8R REMGRBUEZTE 30%

(ZT=—%F :30%)

Derivative financial instrument Monte Carlo model Discount for lack of N/A
marketability (2021: 29.77%)

Weighted average cost of N/A

capital ("WACC") (2021:17.13%)

Expected volatility N/A

(2021: 35.54%)

TESHMIA SHERE BRZman@tcimE THEA
(Monte Carlo)f& =, (ZZ=—1%F :2977%)

NEFHEREA i@ A
(TMEFHEAKA]) (ZFZ—F:17.13%)

REIKE X TER

(ZZF = —1F : 3554%)

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is
determined using: (i) the net assets value adjusted for
lack of marketability discount; (ii) the price/earnings
and enterprise value/Earnings Before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization(“"EBITDA") ratios of
comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of
marketability discount. The fair value is negatively

correlated to the discount for lack of marketability.

FLMRESMERENRFEER
RATEREE : VEEFE I
SLERZ 5 RBIEZ IR A
B RMNBULTARNTAR
AR ERBELRFFE - HIAE -
WERBEHA BN X W LR
ZhmERBEZITEELRAE -
REBEERZMSRABEZF
BRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value (continued)

(i)

RBH AR ARA A

Financial assets measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The fair value of the derivative financial instrument
is determined in the following two-step process: (1)
the enterprise value of Charming is firstly determined
using the discounted cash flows model adjusted
for lack of marketability discount and weighted
average cost of capital; then, (2) the fair value of
the Exit Option is estimated using the Monte Carlo
simulation based on the enterprise value determined
in (1) and adjusted for expected volatility, which
in turn is estimated based on daily stock prices of
comparable companies within the industry. The
fair value measurement of the derivative financial
instrument as a whole is negatively correlated with
the WACC, while the fair value of the derivative
financial instrument is positively correlated with the
discount for lack of marketability and the expected
volatility inputs.

It is estimated that with all other variables held
constant, a decrease/increase in:

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

25 €@ T A
() A¥EEEG®%)

() HRFEEGTEZ 2HEE (H)
EHE=RAFEEFBZEH
(8
FTHESRI A Y AT EEFIUA
TRMESBETE: OB EFEHH
RESREERAMRREZTBRBE
V2 473 R IR P 19 8 AN R A E
HREEMECAB Y AREE:
REQIBBOFET 2 AFEE
HASERERA AR K IEE
HEBEMGT R R BRI AT
BE MEBHREDRBEERT
BHEBAR 2B BEREME 47
ESMITAZ AT EHESBS
R NAE P9 B AR AR R B 0
TESBMIAZ ATFEEERS
TS RBM N ERERRIES
AEERKIEL ©

A R R BR T B
R

Discount for lack of marketability B2 MG AL 2 17:E
Weighted Average Cost of Capital IS B AR A
Expected volatility BHKREHE

2022 2021

—E-CF e S
Effect on profit Effect on profit
Increase/  after taxation Increase/ after taxation
(decrease) in and total (decrease) in and total
unobservable comprehensive unobservable  comprehensive
inputs income inputs income
TAER HRHEREH AUEE  HRHEEEN
BAELR/ R2EME BAELA/ Rk2E4E
()  AZEnyg (TB) agnpe
% $'000 % $'000
i Fr
5 (186) 5 (348)
(5) 186 () 355
NATEH NATER 3 (404)
NATER  NATER B) 357
NATER  NATER 10 (305)
NATER  NATER (10) 344

TEFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value (continued)
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

25 @I A
() DFEEE®E
() HRFEEGTEZZHEE (E)
EHE=RAFEBEHEZEH

(continued) (&)
The movements during the period in the balance of A ZEE=HATFEEF=E
these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: ZAERREE T
I .
Unlisted Derivative
equity financial
securities instrument
kLT
ERHEF TEemIA
$’000 $’000
Fx P
. / |
At 1 July 2020 RZZEZZTFLHA—H 2,838 1,403
Changes in fair value recognised in - F AR B R 2
profit or loss during the year NEEEE = 1)
At 30 June 2021 RZE=Z—F<H=1H 2,838 1,402
At 1 July 2021 RZZE=—_—F+tHA—H 2,838 1,402
Derecognised during the year F AN EHER - (1,402)
At 30 June 2022 R=ZTE-_—F,A=1+H 2,838 -

(ii)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 30 June
2022 and 30 June 2021.

() WHERFEEIEKEZ ZHE
ERBEZNFIEHE
RZEZ—_FARA=FTHEAEK=ZE
——FXA=+RH AEEIEK
R BIERATNE 2B IAZ
FHEEEAFEECHALES
RE%FE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

26 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26 RAR#E
Authorised and issued share capital EEREB EITRA
I .
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
13 81 B Kt e B Gk
$'000 $'000
Fr T
I I I I I
Ordinary shares of $0.50 FREE0S0TZEER
Authorised: JATE
At 1 July ntA—8 600,000,000 300,000 300,000,000 150,000
Increase in authorised share capital 32 A17A TE Ak & - - 300,000,000 150,000
At 30 June RANA=+H 600,000,000 300,000 600,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: EZETRHE
At 1 July w+tA—H 301,052,675 147,940 215,037,625 107,519
Shares issued on 19 February 2021  BEHEBER T = —4%F
pursuant to rights issue ZAt+hBETERAR - - 86015050 40,421
At 30 June RANAB=+H 301,052,675 147,940 301,052,675 147,940

On 12 January 2021, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from $150,000,000 divided into
300,000,000 shares to $300,000,000 divided into 600,000,000
shares by the creation of additional 300,000,000 shares of par
value of $0.50 each.

On 19 February 2021, the Company completed a rights issue
of 86,015,050 rights shares at the subscription price of $0.50
per rights share on the basic of two rights shares for every five
shares of the Company. The net proceeds from rights issue
were $40,421,000 after deducting directly attributable costs of
$2,587,000.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

ERMEBEBERAR T _FFR

RZEZ—F—AB+=-H BRIELXR
300,000,000/% & % E 1H0.507C 2 B 1 -
AN A R Z 7R TE B AN $1150,000,0007T (9 5B
300,000,0004% % 7 ) ¥ A0 Z300,000,0007T (53
/%600,000,000B& f%17) °

RZEZ—FZHT B A2alEkH
B ESRIRSEHEERARA AR KRG EE
MRS 2 B UREETRER
% 190.507T 2% 1786,015,0500% #t A% B% (5 A& 40
% B FE1h Ak A82,587,0007T % KRB AR~
FT 1S 5038 % 82 440,421,000 °

LR A AR SR 2R
NHAEEER—ERARATAG ERE -
FAELBRRALTZHBEEMSHE
CIEES R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.
o)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBHAESN

A 5 R AR BT =

AR AR

27 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments outstanding at 30 June 2022 not provided RZEBE-_—FXNA=Z1+H KREFTBHRE

NEBENRBEITEARERENT

for in the financial statements were as follows:

27 BAREIE

2022 2021

—g=-= —E-—4F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt
I I I

Contracted for &4 4,257 1,797

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES 28 BEALRG &t

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere BaZEMEREREMTOFABRBE LRGSR

in these financial statements, the Group has entered into the LEERIN -

following material related party transactions:

(a) Transactions with related companies

REBETEANTEABEALR S

(a) BREQRAZRS

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
$’000 $'000

Frx Tt

I Y I

Sales of goods to a related party (note (i) MREFZE A LHEE M (FIEEW) 120,916 97,114

Interest income from loans to Xﬁhf T — g QA8

an associate (note (ii)) BRI A B WA (FE (i) 862 335

Subcontracting fee to an associate XN THERATANSBE

(note (iii)) (BfF i) ) 46,857 20,342

Notes: Bt 5 -

(i)  During the year, the Group processed supplied materials and () REFE A&5EHE le] T ft & i B 3 1
delivered the finished products to a related company, Van de BK @R THER e do velds
Velde N.V. ("VdV") for revenue of approximately $120,916,000 N.V. (['vdV ) LA Bk BR U2 A £9120,916,0007T
(2021: $97,114,000). (ZZF=—% : 97,114,0007T) °
Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a non-executive director of the AA A FEE 1T E =Herman Van de Velde
Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which held an interest HEFBVIVZEZERD MR=_T ==
of 25.66% (2021: 25.66%) in the Company as at 30 June 2022. FA=+AH ' vdval ﬁﬁ AR 7] 25.66%

(=T = —4% : 2566%) fEzs
As at 30 June 2022, the balance of trade receivables from VdV RZEBE_—FA=+H ' ERKvdvE
amounted to $4,894,000 (2021: $4,064,000) which are aged less R SR B 45 82 %4,894,00075 (=== E
than 30 days. 4,064,0007T) - BRER R H308 ©
The above related party transactions constitute continuing LAl REA X S5 T RIE14A
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing ERATLFHERERS - EWHRANE
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing MAEREZHRBERESSRERM -
Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report.

(i)  During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group made loans (i) RBE_TZ__FA=1THIFE
of $21,290,000 (2021: $19,308,000) to an associate. The loans A AEER-—EEEQAREER
to an associate are unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 3% 21,290,0007T (=& = — £ : 19,308,000
to 5% per annum and are repayable within two years from the L) cRETF —HBERRNERDE
respective drawn down dates. EH - REFR3%E50%:T HFE - AR

ARNE B BIREA BB mENEE -

(i) The subcontracting fee to an associate is made on similar terms (i) XN FEERRND DB EAEEER

as the Group enters into with other suppliers. 4 FE 7 P RT 2 B IR RER L o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES 28 BEATRE Hthe)

(continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) EEEHE A B 2
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key FRNEENEMTESEERKE 2%
management during the year is as follows: BHan T :

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
$’000 $'000
Frx T
I e I
Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 24,040 19,296
Discretionary bonus 1B TEAL 9,199 -
Share-based payments LARR 1D A EERE B S 1+ 732 163
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R K 1& Fl 51 8 4 5% 198 144
34,169 19,603
The remuneration of directors and key management is EENTEEBABZHFMERE
determined by the Group’s compensation committee JEHEMNEZEeRRBEARBENTSISB
having regard to the performance of individuals and NEETE o

market trends.

29 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29 EXEREERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the REB ZEAEEE RS BEEKHER
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while MELRETE BRASEEETNEER
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation BEKE REAREMESZALOR AN
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy SEEERKEAFHER -

remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable REBZEAREBREBE AN R EFRHE
to equity shareholders of the Company, comprising issued share HER(BEEETRAEA BERRE R
capital, reserves and retained profits. F) o

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on RNAREESEEZRANEARAEE - 1EAET
a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider ER IR EFEZEEAKARZHEEN
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of ZIEMEER REBEES2ES AEES
capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group BRIRMNERE BITHKRG  BEREKG R
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of BIEBESE N FEREESANZEE -

dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of debt.

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 30 TEMBAT
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 June AKRABR - E-_—_FARAA=ZTHZEEN
2022 are as follows: BABIFERAT

Proportion of issued

ordinary share
capital registered
Place of capital held directly/
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ indirectly by the
Name of company registration registered capital Company Principal activities
%
KAAER/BE
KEZBRA
AL/ BRIRA/  BERX/ER
kL s ifgx BRZAD TERK
%

Foshan Nanhai Top Form Underwear Co, Ltd.# The PRC Capital contribution - $20,800,000 100 Manufacture of ladies' underwear and

property investment
BUTHEEBEARERAD hE B AR - 208000007 100 EERRARRRENE
Grand Gain Industrial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - $100,000 60 Moulding and laminating business
BREZERAT B £33 - 1000007 60 BREERER K
Juliana Consulting Services (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd # The PRC Capital contribution - $8,000,000 100 Provision of consultancy services in relation to

[adles intimate apparel and accessories

RAZHEARSE (RI)BRADS hEl B - 80000007 100 REFBLEAKRE RS BERRHE
Long Nan Grand Gain Underwear Co, Ltd # The PRC Capital contribution - US$1,800,000 60 Moulding and laminating business
EHEREARARA A hE BAEE- 180000057 60 BRREREREH
Long Nan County Top Form Underwear Co, Ltd # The PRC Capital contribution - $57,000,000 100 Manufacture of ladies' underwear
EREEENAKARAR: hE BAER - 570000007 100 EETEAR
Meritlux Garment (Shenzhen) Co, Lt The PRC Capital contribution - $23,000,000 100 Manufacture and trading of ladies underwear
B ERE (RI)ERAD hE BRAEA - 230000007 100 TRAREERE S
Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co, Limited The PRC Capital contribution - RMB4 993,000 70 Property investment and provision of

consultancy services in relation to ladies intimate

apparel and accessories

RIEEHAXERA N hE RAER- ARB49930007C 70 RENFIRRRAR
Tt gk MRk A o2 B AR

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



EEHBEEREARAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Name of company

28R

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration

e/
b

4= A

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

30 TEMB LT 4

Issued share capital/
registered capital

BRIRK/
HRER

Proportion of issued
ordinary share
capital registered
capital held directly/
indirectly by the
Company

%
KAAAER/BE
KE2BRA
EERLK/HR
BRZED

%

Principal activities

IERH

Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co, Limited

SETRERERARLT

Top Form (BV.1) Limited*

Top Form Brassiere (Maesot) Co, Ltd

Topfull Development Limited

REXRARAA

Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited

HERRKHERARAR

Louisa Lee Limited

Goal Plus Investment Limited

HERERRAA

Top Form Myanmar Company Limited

TEFFR

Hong Kong

(30

British Virgin Islands
RERANE

Thailand
R

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
{30
Hong Kong
BR

Hong Kong
&%

Myanmar

fif

Ordinary - $100
Deferred - $4,000,000
AR - 1001
TEIERR 1 - 40000007

Ordinary - US$50,000
LR - 50000E T

Ordinary - Baht56,000,000
LB - 56000000% 5%

Ordinary - $2
ERk-m

Ordinary - $1,000

Deferred - $200
LiBk- 10007
BRI - 007

Ordinary - $1,820000
L3 - 18200007

Ordinary -US$7,000,000
LA - 700000057

300,000 ordinary shares of
15$1.00 each
300000 B kA &
10T EBR

100

51
51

60
60

Manufacture and trading of ladies' underwear
LERKEERES

Investment holding

REZK

Manufacture of ladies underwear

EETKAR

Property holding in the PRC
RALRPE DX

Trading of ladies' underwear
TERKES
Trading of ladies' underwear
LERKES

Investment holding

REER

Property investment and
manufacture of ladies' underwear

RENFREELRAK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30 FEMBAT &)

Proportion of issued

ordinary share
capital registered
Place of capital held directly/
incorporation/ Issued share capital/ indirectly by the
Name of company registration registered capital Company Principal activities
%
KAAAER/BE
KEZBRA
AL/ BRARE/  BERLK/f
AIER s ifax BRZED IERH
%

Top Form Seamless Manufacturing Company Limited Thailand 1,801,919 ordinary shares of 60 Manufacture of seamless products
Baht100 each
HH 1801919R B REE 60 REERER
100RSRRE R
Top Form (Cambodia) Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (Cambodia Ordinary - US$1,000,000 100 Manufacture of ladies underwear
REE £ - 1,000000% 7 100 EELRAK
PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya Indonesia Ordinary - Rp$10,000,000,000 100 Investment holding
)iz E3BR - 1000000000012 /B 100 REBR

& Directly held by the Company * RATIEERE

# These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprises t ZEWBARIEPREMAIIEBEERE -
in the PRC.

A This subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture in the N ZRBAREFEFMARINEGELRT -

PRC.

Note: Except for those subsidiaries with the place of operation mentioned in MiE: REZEREEXEBANRRLEEUE 2B
principal activities, the place of operation is the same as the place of RNAEGN BB A R 2 48 & i B B A
incorporation/registration. RS AR R o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the EERE LRAEXEENBRQRHR

opinion of the Directors, principally affected the Group's assets EEEESXEEEIERE -EEZRA

or results. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the FEHEMHBARICHFAERSSANB

opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length. RITE °

@ Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Limited /&I REHT 7K
BBRAT] ('SZTF) is a joint venture company established in the
PRC and was originally held for a period of twelve years from 28
February 1987. The Group entered into extension agreements
with the joint venture partner on 18 September 1998, 12
November 2008, 27 June 2011, 6 February 2015 and 28 February
2017 to extend the joint venture period for future years to 28
February 2009, 28 February 2012, 28 February 2015, 28 February
2017 and 28 February 2022 respectively. Pursuant to the joint
venture agreement and the revised joint venture agreement
under which the joint venture was established, the Group
contributed 70% of the registered capital of SZTF. However,
under another agreement entered into between the Group and
the joint venture partner, the Group is entitled to 100% of this
joint venture company’s profit after deducting a fixed annual
amount attributable to assets contributed by the joint venture
partner. The Group is entitled to receive its attributable share of
the net assets upon liquidation of the joint venture, and so this

joint venture is being accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 30 June 2022, for Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited and
Unigue Form Manufacturing Company Limited, the deferred
shares carry no right to dividend or to receive notice of or
to attend or vote at any general meeting of the respective
companies. On winding-up, the holders of the deferred shares
are entitled to one half of the remaining assets of the respective
companies after the first $100 trillion has been distributed
equally amongst the holders of the ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting as at
30 June 2022 or at any time during the year.

EBWBERBRAR T _FFRH

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

30 TEMB QT W)

Y EBHRAXERAR (DRYIEZBH)
B—REFBEKIZEERR  REEF
HEE—hANEE_A-t/\BAEF+=
FoAEEDRIR—AANFALATNAR -
—EENFF+—A+ =B - —F——F X
AZ++tH ZZ2—RF-_A~BEK=ZF
—+tF A+ N NBESERHET LTS
E BEEFHINERE_ZTTNF
“AZ+N\H -ZZE—=F=-A=+N\B"
—E-—RAF-_AZ+NB -ZE—tF=
AZ+N NBRZZEZZF=-_A=Z+N\R-
BEXIEERRZEEMEREERS
B ASERRNEBH 2ZMER
HE70% ° A - BIBFAEEESERHE]
U hhE ASBEUZAEREER
ARNBREERHERRBRAEEMTFREG
EE&ER < 2FEN AEEEGRELS
BRAERFBWEBEEECEEFHE W
EBERAFARBREE ZMB AT -

RZZEZ_FXA=+H EBEHTHESR
EBARAAEEERAXRREBARA
7] 2 3 R 40 4 B 5 M BB B Bk AR
BRAAREMRRAGZAEHHFERE
FRNELERRZEMN - BBRRE  RETR
DHRBABEKRERERQ AR E1008ET
FHDIRTEBRDFAARABTZF
HEE -

RZZBZ_FRNA=+HIRFREME
A EMEARMECAEREES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31 AT EEMNBERRE
POSITION

(a) Financial position of the Company (a) &2 FHETFEARR
I D I
2022 2021
—E-= =
Notes $’000 $'000
B 5 Fr T
I I I I
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN 871,495 871,495
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b U AR 7K 157 157
Bank balances RITAEER 53 955
210 1,112
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables and accrued charges & 5 FE N BRF N FE =1 & FB 1,850 2,014
Net currentliabilities rEBAERR 640) | (902).
Total assets less current liabilities #& & Z § i 81 & & 869,855 870,593
Non-current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary XL NG E 484,963 484,475
384,892 386,118
Capital and reserves IR AR & 5 31(b)
Share capital [ 26 147,940 147,940
Reserves i 236,952 238,178
384,892 386,118
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EFeRE_F AT AABHE
directors on 16 September 2022. R RETE -
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
EHREE EE
Chief Executive Officer Manager Director
BEENITE b
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (continued)

(b) Equity movement of the Company
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(= EHAEN  HUEBTTIHIR)

31 A FEE W BB AR R T @

(b) AT RS
REBGEERSHEXT D FESF
BRERZHEINGEERETHEK -
B AN A A E Bl fE e 48 BCE 9 P S )
EFERABCEBSFBHINNAT ¢

Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Retained
Share capital premium reserve surplus profits Total
-gNeE
BE  RiuE HE  REER  RERW 58
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
& & i i & &
| | _J | | |
At1 July 2020 RZEZTELA-H 107519 149 233 124802 112314 346,367
Issuance of rights shares ?‘Tﬂ iR (Rirskoe)
(note 26) 40421 = = = = 40421
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FABFERZANGER
income for the year - - - - (670) (670)
At30June 2021 and Thuly 2021 R=F=—%A=TH
k-E-—%+A-H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 111,644 386,118
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBRR 2 ANGAR
income for the year - - - - (1,226) (1,226)
At 30 June 2022 “E-"%XA=t1H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 110,418 384,892

(c) Distributability of reserves
At 30 June 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was $235,220,000 (2021: $236,446,000).

EBHBRARAR —T - —FFR

(o) DIkfFEE
R-_ZTE-_—_FXA=+H #a#H
KT ARAIBEERRE 2 EEBEA
235,220,0007C (= F = — 4 : 236,446,000
TT) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B mEHHAEN  GUETHIR)

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

30 JUNE 2022
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA

has issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 30 June 2022 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

32

CEMGESRRBE-S_-__F
A=tTRLFEEM 2B HT
ZARBRETREBR ZEE

HEPHRERBEHLBHE AL B85S
AREERBEINEBEE_T_—_F A=+
HIEFERRERNE TEF R E
WER (BBYEREENB17HERRE
B EEMBERERARKERE - 25%
BIEATSIEAIEEAEBEHR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

KT 5B #
ZERBZ

ST HBEXR

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

ERM R EERNEIRNERT [ RERS A —T-=—Ff—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

RS EREIMMNER WX - MELRE 2R EATERE

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BAEGREREIRNER[BEEHD  BITRHAMKA]

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

BEVBREEAFERE(CE-N\FE_Z_ZFFAH)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

SAIFTERNWAl Z—ZTET-_—_F—HA—H

1 January 2022
—E__%—HA—H
1 January 2022
—ZT-—_%—A—H

1 January 2023

ER G ERNEIRNER RENRBIERE DA —E-_=%—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
FEGHENE IR EBRMBERELEANEB A ERIRNET S BENRKE] —E_=%—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
BRE G ERESEHERT [T ENES] —E-=F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 1 January 2023
transaction

ERGHENFERMNERE—QSFELANEERABARBNELEHIE] —E_=%—H—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

@

AEEEEFHERNELERNEXER
HEmTE FEAASL  EEmA  HiX
ATAAEHGEEMERRELEATE -
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES
AEREY MR

REWE

it B Existing use 3 1T Fi%& Term of lease A & H &
I I |

Location

Levels 6 to 8 of Block 523,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

Twenty units on Level 1 of
Bagualing Single Apartment Block 29
(Type B),

Bagua 2nd Road,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

Portion A on Level 6

(twelve units on the west) of
Pengji Single Apartment Block 44,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES

AEENEHRE

Location

b B

Existing use 3T Fi & Term of lease 1 & i &

Level 2-4 of Block 424,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Bagua 3rd Road,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

No. 22, Yuejin Road,
Yanbu Town,

Nanhai District,
Foshan,

Guangdong Province,
the PRC

No.614, Myintta Lin Myaing,
Aung Chan Thar Quarter,
Myintta Lin Myaing Village,
Myawaddy,

Kayin State,

Myanmar

A

wYIT

& H &

NFH =38

NEETHE
MRE4241RE —EEFE Y E

F

I

MR

BB PR B BR 225

Industrial 3£ Medium A 2
Industrial T 2 Medium 7 £A
Industrial T2 Short %2 Hf
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu (retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys
Mr. Herman Van de Velde

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (Chairman)
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy (Chairman)

Mr. Herman Van de Velde

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth

Mr. Herman Van de Velde

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Pun Chi Wa

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

7/F, Port 33,

33 Tseuk Luk Street,
San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Herman Van de Velde%t 4
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Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

~NElER

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES EERR

Mr. Wong Chung Chong EINRLE

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin =R

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FERIT

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited BB ELBELRITBERAA
Hang Seng Bank Limited BERITHER QA
AUDITOR % B Hm

KPMG EER G EBA

Public Interest Entity Auditor KA TEERBIEO) T
registered in accordance with the e A RFEE B ZEE

Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFEROFFICE R ERLRBFEFDE

Tricor Secretaries Limited EEWNEBBERAA
17/F, Far East Finance Centre BB

16 Harcourt Road 2 RIE65

Hong Kong BRI AP IITE
STOCK CODE i vikad i

333 333

WEBSITE 48 4k
www.topform.group www.topform.group
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